U

Universidade de Lisboa

Faculdade de Motricidade Humana



# PHYSICAL FITNESS: IDENTIFIERS OF SPORT PARTICIPATION AND BONE HEALTH IN YOUTH

### DUARTE MIGUEL HENRIQUES NETO

Orientador: Doutor Luís Fernando Cordeiro Bettencourt Sardinha

Tese elaborada com vista à obtenção do Grau de Doutor em Motricidade Humana na especialidade de Atividade Física e Saúde

2021



Universidade de Lisboa

Faculdade de Motricidade Humana



# PHYSICAL FITNESS: Identifiers of Sport Participation AND Bone Health in Youth

### DUARTE MIGUEL HENRIQUES NETO

Orientador: Doutor Luís Fernando Cordeiro Bettencourt Sardinha

Tese elaborada com vista à obtenção do Grau de Doutor em Motricidade Humana na especialidade de Atividade Física e Saúde

Júri:

Presidente

Doutor Francisco José Bessone Ferreira Alves

Vogais

Doutor Jorge Augusto Pinto Silva Mota Doutor Luís Fernando Cordeiro Bettencourt Sardinha Doutora Maria de Fátima Marcelina Baptista Doutora Elisa Amélia Alves Fernandes Marques

2021

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS/ AGRADECIMENTOS**

Concluir um programa de doutoramento resulta da realização de um longo desenvolvimento académico e pessoal. A realização do meu projeto de doutoramento dependeu, fundamentalmente, de todas as pessoas que me acompanharam durante esta longa jornada. Foram avaliados cerca de 2800 participantes, com idades entre os 10 e os 18 anos, distribuídos por um total de cerca 15.000 quilómetros de estradas nacionais num período de 15 meses. Todos estes momentos de trabalho apenas foram realizados graças à amizade, ao espírito de entreajuda, da elevada competência presente no Laboratório de Exercício e Saúde, de uma orientação distinta, de amigos excecionais, de uma família única e do sentido de compromisso de todos os participantes deste projeto. Não seria esquecimento, mas seria uma ingratidão ao terminar esta etapa e não demonstrar a minha amizade e gratidão às pessoas que contribuíram para a minha felicidade.

Ao meu orientador, Professor Doutor Luís Bettencourt Sardinha. Em primeiro lugar, por me ter dado a oportunidade de trabalhar com uma referência científica de nível mundial, o que me permitiu evoluir profissional e humanamente. Em segundo lugar, pela exigência desafiadora com que me orientou. Em terceiro, por me disponibilizar recursos materiais e humanos de excelência que permitiram realizar este projeto. Graças à sua orientação, sinto que o impossível se tornou pouco provável e o pouco provável ser tornou conclusivo.

A concretização deste trabalho só foi possível com a presença constante das pessoas que me receberam no Laboratório de Exercício e Saúde e me apoiaram, principalmente nos momentos menos bons. Ao João Pedro Magalhães, por me ter

Ι

transmitido todo o seu conhecimento científico e, sobretudo, pela sua amizade. João, és um exemplo que humildemente tento seguir. Ao Miguel Peralta, que partilhou comigo dúvidas, ideias, inseguranças e sucessos. Por todo o tempo que já partilhámos e por todos aqueles momentos que ainda estão por vir – Obrigado. Eu sei, não sou fácil. Ao Pedro Júdice, por todo o conhecimento, amizade, paciência, experiências vividas e aquelas que virão. À Diana Santos, pela amizade, por me ter motivado e ensinado grande parte das minhas competências científicas. À Megan, pela amizade, pela paciência e pelo apoio constante na parte final deste longo percurso. À Cláudia Minderico, por me ter apoiado e ajudado a desenvolver o projeto de doutoramento numa das suas fases mais difíceis. À Professora Fátima Baptista, pelo conhecimento científico transmitido e sobretudo pelo sentimento de serenidade e carinho nos momentos mais intensos. Ao Marco Alves, por acreditares em mim desde o primeiro dia e apoiares sempre este projeto até ao fim. Ao Adilson Marques, por todo o conhecimento, amizade e por confiares em mim. És e serás sempre uma referência na minha vida.

Um especial agradecimento ao "ONAF CREW" (Gil Rosa, João Silva, Sara Alkim e Diogo Albuquerque), por me terem aguentado muitos quilómetros de viagem, por terem sido os meus olhos durante as avaliações e, fundamentalmente, pela vossa amizade e carinho.

Aos clubes desportivos, CLIP – SWIMMING TEAM, CLIP – Basquetebol, Vila Futebol Clube, Unidade de Apoio ao Alto Rendimento – Escola Secundária Pedro Nunes e o Colégio Casa Pia de Lisboa – CED Pina Manique, por disponibilizarem os seus atletas e o tempo de treino para realizar todas as avaliações necessárias para o sucesso do estudo.

Π

Aos treinadores, Ivan Reis, Lígia Costa, Rui Costa, Pedro Andrade, Maria Josefina Cruz, Marta Fialho, Maria João Bento e Hugo Macias, por terem colaborado de forma voluntária no projeto. Aos meus amigos, David Rouxinol, Isaac Alonso, Andrés Marcos, Gabriel Faleiro, André Barbosa, José Miguel Barros, Hugo Figueiredo Ferraz, Vera Zymbal, Angel Matute Llorrente, Faber Martins, Inês Correia, Diana Luís, Christophe e Vasco Gonçalves, um agradecimento por me darem a oportunidade de, durante o meu doutoramento, privar com todos vocês, principalmente naqueles momentos em que a dúvida luta contra a nossa competência.

À minha família, Diogo, Reinaldo, Sandra, Sr. Sousa, D. Almerinda, Marta, pelo suporte incondicional que cada um, à sua maneira, me foi transmitindo ao longo desta caminhada. Aos meus avós, avô Henriques e avó Lina, que me criaram e transmitiram valores fundamentais, como o amor, família e a verdade. Ao meu irmão, um exemplo de amor e de família, quero agradecer-te e pedir-te desculpa pelos momentos em que estive ausente. Aos meus pais, qualquer ato de agradecimento será sempre pouco por tudo o que fazem por mim, desculpem pelo tempo de ausência e espero estar sempre à altura do vosso amor.

À Cláudia, esposa, namorada, amiga, companheira e conselheira. A tua presença e a tua disponibilidade durante este tempo são imensuráveis. A paciência, a amizade e, sobretudo o teu amor, são a força que me permite levantar todos os dias, encarar a vida com um sorriso e, fundamentalmente, ser melhor pessoa hoje do que ontem. Sem ti, este sonho não seria possível.

A todos VÓS, do fundo do coração, MUITO OBRIGADO

III





This Ph.D. dissertation was supported by the Comité Olímpico de Portugal and the University of Lisbon (Grant: "Bolsa de Doutoramento do Comité Olímpico de Portugal").

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements/ AgradecimentosI
AbbreviationsXXIII
AbstractXVIII
ResumoXX
CHAPTER 1
Introduction to the dissertation
1.1 - Dissertation structure
1.2 - List of articles and conference abstracts as the first author
1.2.1 - Peer-Reviewed articles as first author published or submitted that are related
to the dissertation:
1.2.2 Abstracts that are related to the dissertation:
CHAPTER 2 29
Literature review
2.1 - Physical fitness components and influencing factors
2.1.1 – Cardiorespiratory fitness
2.1.2 – Muscular fitness
2.1.3 – Speed of movement
2.1.4 – Agility
2.1.5 – Flexibility
2.1.6 – Biologic and physiologic factors influencing physical fitness
2.1.6.1 – Sex, maturity and physical fitness

3.1 - Investigation design and sampling
Methodology115
CHAPTER 3 115
2.11 - References
2.10 - The aim of this investigation
2.9 - Methodologies to assess bone health in youth
2.8 - Physical fitness and bone health in youth76
2.7 - Physical activity and bone health in youth71
2.6 - Bone health in youth
sport development model
2.5 - Recruitment, Retention and Transition: three fundamental stages for a
2.4 - A framework to improving sports participation in youth
and health
2.3 - Sports participation in youth: an integrated strategy to improve physical activity
2.2.2 – Physical Fitness and Health
2.2.1 – Physical Fitness and Sport Performance 50
youth
2.1.7.2 - 1 hysical activity, exercise and physical fitness
2.1.7.2 – Physical activity, exercise and physical fitness 46
2.1.7.1 – Sleep, nutrition and physical fitness
2.1.7 – Environmental factors influencing physical fitness
2.1.6.2 – Genetics and physical fitness

3.1.1 - The Sample Power 117
3.2 - Body composition measurements
3.2.1 - Anthropometry 120
Weight and height
Waist circumference 120
Calf circumference
Skinfolds
Body Fatness
3.3 - Maturity
3.4 - Physical fitness tests
3.5 Objective measures of physical activity
3.5.1 - Actigraph accelerometer measurements 126
3.6 - Bone Health
3.6.1 - Quantitative ultrasound 127
Measuring SoS at the radius
Measuring SoS at the tibia
Ultrasound Statistical Measures 129
3.7 - Dietary Assessment
3.8 - External Training Load Assessment
3.9 - Competitive Level Assessment
3.10 - Type of Physical Exercise

3.10 - Statistical Analysis	30
3.11 - References	32
CHAPTER 4 13	37
Test-retest reliability of physical fitness tests among young athletes: Th FITescola®	1e 39
Abstract	39
Introduction13	39
Methods	10
Results14	12
Discussion14	12
Practical application14	14
References	17
CHAPTER 514	19
Predicting sports potential in youth through physical fitness tests15	51
Abstract15	51
Introduction15	53
Methods	54
Results	57
CHAPTER 6 17	13
Physical Fitness and Bone Health in Young Athletes and Nor	n-
athletes17	73
Abstract17	15

Introduction	75
Methods	76
Results	77
Discussion1	77
Conclusion	81
References	82
CHAPTER 71	.83
Mediating role of physical fitness on the associations between physic activity and bone health in youth1	cal .83
Abstract1	85
Introduction1	85
Methods	86
Results	87
Discussion1	88
Conclusion	91
References	91
CHAPTER 8 1	.93
General discussion1	.93
8.1 - Overview	95
8.2 - Main research findings	99
8.3 - Practical implications and future directions	:03
8.4 - Limitations	.04

8.5 - Strengths	
8.6 - Conclusions	
8.7 - References	

## **Tables**

#### CHAPTER 3

Table 3.1 The sampling and design characteristics of each investigation
---

#### CHAPTER 4

Table 4.1 – Physical characteristics and level sports competition of youth	n athlete
participants	143
Table 4.2 – Reliability of physical fitness test in youth athletes by sex	144

#### **CHAPTER 5**

<b>Table 5.1</b> – Anthropometric characteristics, level of sports competition and type of
sports of youth participants157
Table 5.2 – Physical fitness tests used to differentiate athlete and non-athlete boys by
age group159
Table 5.2 – Physical fitness tests used to differentiate athlete and non-athlete boys by
age group (continued)160
<b>Table 5.3</b> – Physical fitness tests used to differentiate athlete and non-athlete girls by
age group (Continued)162

#### CHAPTER 6

Table 6.1 – Descriptive characteristics of youth participants	78
<b>Table 6.2</b> – Associations for physical fitness with ultrasound variables, in males'	
non-athletes and athletes1	79
Table 6.3 – Associations for physical fitness with ultrasound variables, in females'	
non-athletes and athletes1	80

#### CHAPTER 7

<b>Table 7.1</b> - Sample characteristics by sex and age group	.15	88
--	-----	----

#### CHAPTER 2

Figure 2.1 – Pathways involved in muscle hypertrophy and mitochondrial biogenesis
in response
Figure 2.2 - Associations between Physical fitness and health
Figure 2.3 - Transitioning students to ongoing sports participation
Figure 2.4 - Stages of the long term athlete development and integrate active life61
Figure 2.5 - Stages of the long term athlete- LTAD - periodisation
Figure 2.6 - Dynamic pyramid model of sport development
Figure 2.7 - The dynamic model of young athlete characteristics
Figure 2.8 - Schematic representation of the longitudinal and radial growth across
life in males and females
Figure 2.9 - Peak height velocity (PHV) and peak bone mineral content velocity
(PBMCV) in boys and girls70
Figure 2.10 - Bone remodelling cycle
Figure 2.11 - Structural changes of bone tissue throughout the lifespan with regular
PA74
Figure 2.12 - The ultrasound equipment used in this study

#### **CHAPTER 3**

Figure 3.1 -	Ultrasound equipment after	r daily verification	
--------------	----------------------------	----------------------	--

#### **CHAPTER 4**

Figure 4.1 - Bland-Altman plot of all the FITescola® physical fitness tests for boys
Figure 4.2 - Bland-Altman plot of all the FITescola® physical fitness tests for girls

#### CHAPTER 6

Figure 6.1 – Overall associations of R-SOS and T-SOS with physical fitness tests.	
1	.81

#### CHAPTER 7

#### **CHAPTER 8**

Figure 8.1 -	Healthy Sports Participation	206
<b>Figure 8.2</b> -	Main results of this dissertation	.208

### **ABBREVIATIONS**

ACE	Angiotensin-converting enzyme	
ACTN3	Alpha-actinin skeletal muscle isoform 3	
AMPD1	Adenosine monophosphate deaminase 1	
AMPK	5 adenosine monophophate-actived protein kinase	
ANOVA	Analysis of variance	
APHV	Age of peak height velocity	
AUC	Area under the curve	
BMC	Bone mineral content	
BMD	Bone mineral density	
BMI	Body mass index	
CI	Coefficient interval	
CRF	Cardiorespiratory fitness	
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid	
DXA	Dual-energy radiograph absorptiometry	
H2	Heritability	
HG	Handgrip strength	
HJ	Horizontal jump test	
ICC	Interclass correlation coefficient	
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor-I	
IOC	International Olympic Committee	
IPDJ	Portuguese National Institute of Sport and Youth	
LIPA	Light intensity of physical activity	
LTAD	Long Term Athlete Development	
MF	Muscular fitness	

MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging	
mTOR	Mechanistic target of rapamycin	
MVPA	Moderate-vigorous of physical activity	
Ν	Newton	
PA	Physical activity	
PACER	Progressive aerobic cardiovascular endurance Run	
PBM	Peak bone mass	
PF	Physical fitness	
PHV	Peak height velocity	
pQCT	Peripheral quantitative computed tomography	
QCT	Quantitative computed tomography	
QUS	Quantitative bone ultrasonometry	
ROC	Receiver operating characteristic curve	
R-SoS	Distal third radius speed of sound	
SD	Standard deviation	
SHTR	4x10m shuttle run test	
SoS	Speed of sound	
SP	Sports participation	
ST	Sedentary time	
T-SoS	Midshaft tibia speed of sound	
VJ	Vertical jump test	
VO2 max.	Maximal oxygen consumption	
VPA	Vigorous physical activity	
WC	Waist circumference	
WHO	World Health Organization	

#### ABSTRACT

Physical fitness (PF) assessment is a key tool in monitoring sports performance and health indicators in young people, mainly because PF is related to indicators of both sporting potential and performance, used in signalization, recruitment and surveillance, and bone health. Therefore, this tool may be considered of valuable use to both sport and health professionals. However, there is not a single standardised protocol able to assess the several attributes of PF among young athletes from different sport backgrounds and non-athletes. In this context, this dissertation presents four investigations developed in two major research areas in the evaluation of PF: sports performance and bone health. Regarding sports performance, the reliability of the PF tests, in young athletes from different competitive levels and sports backgrounds were tested. The battery of the FITescola® program proved to be applicable in young athletes of both sexes, constituting a reliable instrument of simple application in the field of sports performance. The discriminatory power of each FITescola® test for signalling young people with sport potential, in consolidated sport organization models, according to gender and age was also analysed. The results showed that PF tests are a valid instrument for signalling young people with sport potential, and that the discriminatory power of the tests varied according to gender and age. In the area of bone health, one investigation was conducted to analyze the relationship between different PF tests and speed of sound (SoS) values in the radius and tibia of young athletes and non-athletes. Different degrees of association were observed between the several PF tests and the radial and tibial SoS values. The degrees of association varied according to gender and athlete status of the participants. The results of this investigation indicate that, for the purpose of monitoring bone health, different PF tests should be applied depending on whether or not young people were athletes. Another analyzed, for the first time, the relationship between vigorous physical activity and SoS in the radius and tibia and whether this relationship was mediated by different PF tests and fatness. The results suggested that some of the effects of vigorous physical activity on radial and tibial SoS were mediated by cardiorespiratory fitness in girls, while the upper and lower muscle strength, speed of displacement and fat mass (%) were found to be mediators in boys. The mediating effect of a PF tests and fat mass (%) on the association of vigorous physical activity with bone health outcomes differed between boys and girls. In summary, this dissertation provides observational scientific evidence on the importance and applicability of PF assessment in the context of competitive sport and, simultaneously, for monitoring bone health among young athletes and non-athletes. These findings may be relevant for present and future interventions in competitive sport as well as in public health.

Keywords: physical fitness, youth, athletes, sports potential, bone health.

#### **RESUMO**

A avaliação da aptidão física é um instrumento fundamental para a monitorização do rendimento desportiva e da saúde, principalmente devido ao facto da aptidão física estar associada a indicadores de potencial desportiva, utilizados no processo de sinalização e recrutamento de jovens, bem como a indicadores de saúde óssea. Desta forma, este instrumento pode ser considerado como uma mais-valia para profissionais da área do desporto e saúde. Todavia, não existe um único protocolo estandardizado capaz de avaliar os vários atributos da aptidão física entre jovens atletas de diferentes modalidades e não atletas. No âmbito do rendimento desportivo, foi testada a reprodutibilidade e a fiabilidade dos testes de aptidão física em jovens atletas de diferentes níveis competitivos. A bateria do programa FITescola® demonstrou ser aplicável em jovens atletas de ambos os sexos, constituindo um instrumento fiável de aplicação simples no âmbito do rendimento desportivo. Adicionalmente, foi analizado o poder discriminativo de cada teste do FITescola® para sinalizar jovens com potencial desportivo, em função do sexo e da idade. Os resultados demonstraram que os testes de aptidão física são um instrumento válido para a sinalização de jovens com potencial desportivo e que o poder discriminatório dos testes variou de acordo com o sexo e a idade. Na área da saúde óssea, foi conduzido uma investigação para analisar a relação entre os diferentes testes de aptidão física e os valores da velocidade do som no rádio e na tíbia, em jovens atletas e não atletas. Os graus de associação variaram em função do sexo e da condição de atleta dos participantes. Os resultados desta investigação indicam que, para efeitos de monitorização da saúde óssea, diferentes testes de aptidão física devem ser aplicados, em função da condição de atleta. Outra investigação analisou, pela primeira vez, a relação entre a atividade física vigorosa e a velocidade do som no rádio e na tíbia, e se esta relação era mediada por diferentes testes de aptidão física e pela massa gorda (%). Os resultados sugerem que nas raparigas, uma parte dos efeitos da atividade física vigorosa na velocidade do som no rádio e na tíbia ere mediada pela aptidão cardiorrespiratória, enquanto, nos rapazes, a força muscular superior e inferior, a velocidade de deslocamento e a massa gorda (%) foram identificados como mediadores desta relação. A presente dissertação fornece evidência científica observacional sobre a importância e aplicabilidade da avaliação da aptidão física tanto no contexto competitivo, como na monitorização da saúde óssea em jovens atletas e não atletas. Estes resultados podem ser relevantes para intervenções presentes e futuras no âmbito do desporto de competição e da saúde pública.

Palavras-chave: aptidão física, jovens, atletas, potencial desportivo, saúde óssea.

# **CHAPTER 1**

Introduction to the dissertation

### **1.1 - DISSERTATION STRUCTURE**

The investigation of physical fitness (PF) in adolescents has played an essential role in public policies to promote sports participation and healthy lifestyle. Sports participation during youth has shown to be an essential strategy to increase physical activity (PA). Motivated by the importance of sports participation (SP) for promoting healthy lifestyles and the increasing incidence of bone fractures in adolescents, especially in athletes, this dissertation entitled "*Physical Fitness: Identifiers of Sport Participation and Bone Health in Youth*" was developed. The main purpose was to investigate the role of PF on the signalising process of potential athletes in the school context and the specific relationship between several PF tests, body composition, PA measures, and bone health outcomes on the radius and tibia. Adolescence is a unique period of life, during this phase 90 per cent of future peak bone mass is acquired, and PA plays a vital role in its potentiation. To achieve the main purpose, the present dissertation incorporates a collection of four research articles submitted or in press in peer-reviewed journals with an established ISI Impact Factor. To clarify the framework of these investigations, this dissertation is organised as follows:

**Chapter 2** includes a literature review, highlighting the current scientific evidence regarding the biologic (e.g. sex, maturation, genetics) and environmental factors (e.g. PA participation) influencing PF and the role of PF on sport performance and health. In addition, we reviewed the role of PA on bone health during childhood and adolescence, looking in detail to the promotion of youth sports participation as a strategy to fight against physical inactivity and to improve bone health.

A specific and detailed review of the methodology used in this dissertation is shown in **Chapter 3**. In this chapter, we will provide detailed information regarding the methods used to build the research project and the methods used trough the investigations of this dissertation.

**Chapters 4 to 7** correspond to the four investigations that were conducted to answer the research goals described in chapter 2.

**Chapter 8** corresponds to a general discussion which provides a summary and the main findings obtained within the four investigations of this dissertation, highlighting the most relevant aspects of the overall research, as well as reflections for further investigations.

The bibliographic references are presented at the end of each section using the American Psychological Association style.

In the end, the annexes section includes supplementary material that is mentioned across the dissertation and may be viewed as essential within its broader scope.

# **1.2 - LIST OF ARTICLES AND CONFERENCE ABSTRACTS AS THE FIRST AUTHOR**

The investigation carried out as part of the present doctoral research program resulted in the following publications and communications (oral/poster) as the first author:

1.2.1 - Peer-Reviewed articles as first author published or submitted that are related to the dissertation:

Henriques-Neto, D., Minderico, C., Peralta, M., Marques, A., & Sardinha, L.
B. (2020). Test–retest reliability of physical fitness tests among young athletes: The
FITescola®battery. *Clinical Physiology and Functional Imaging*, 40(3), 173-182. doi:
10.1111/cpf.12624

**Henriques-Neto D**, Hetherington-Rauth M, Magalhães JP, Júdice PB, Sardinha LB. (*Submited*). Predicting sports potential in youth through physical fitness tests.

**Henriques-Neto, D.,** Magalhães, J. P., Hetherington-Rauth, M., Santos, D. A., Baptista, F., & Sardinha, L. B. (2020). Physical Fitness and Bone Health in Young Athletes and Nonathletes. *Sports Health: A Multidisciplinary Approach, 12*(5), 441-448. doi: 10.1177/1941738120931755

**Henriques-Neto, D.,** Magalhães, J. P., Júdice, P., Hetherington-Rauth, M., Peralta, M., Marques, A., & Sardinha, L. B. (2020). Mediating role of physical fitness and fat mass on the associations between physical activity and bone health in youth. Journal of Sports Sciences, 1-8. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2020.1801326

#### 1.2.2. - Abstracts that are related to the dissertation:

Henriques-Neto, D., Magalhães, J. P., Santos, D. A., Rosa, G., Batista, F., & Sardinha, L. B. (2019). Muscular Fitness and Bone Health In Athletes And Nonathletes. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 51*(Supplement), 682. doi: 10.1249/01.mss.0000562542.6132

# **CHAPTER 2**

Literature review

## 2.1 - Physical fitness components and

#### **INFLUENCING FACTORS**

Physical Fitness (PF) is a multidimensional construct defined as a "set of attributes that are either health or skill-related. The degree to which people have these attributes can be measured with specific tests" (Caspersen, Powell, & Christenson, 1985).

The individual PF level is determined by biologic factors or "nature" (e.g., genetic characteristics, sex, maturity) and environmental factors or "nurture" (e.g., level of habitual physical activity [PA]) (C. Bouchard, Blair, & Haskell, 2012; Yan, Papadimitriou, Lidor, & Eynon, 2016). The most common attributes of PF studied in the scientific literature are: cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF), explosive strength, endurance strength, speed of movement, agility, coordination and balance. Additionally, some authors, include measures of body composition, such as the body mass index (BMI) and waist circumference (WC) as PF attributes (Ortega, Ruiz, & Castillo, 2013).

#### 2.1.1 – Cardiorespiratory fitness

The maximal aerobic power or CRF is one of the most studied and welldocumented attributes of PF in exercise physiology. It is characterized by the capacity of both the cardiovascular and respiratory systems to deliver metabolic energy during extended duration exercises at high intensity (Taylor, Buskirk, & Henschel, 1955). The CRF is usually quantified by the maximal oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2max</sub>) and can be estimated by direct and indirect methodologies (Wilder et al., 2006). The gold standard measurement for CRF is using direct gasexchange analysis in the laboratory environment. However, in the ecologic context and for epidemiologic studies, the most common tests used to assess CRF in young people are the 1 mile run test and the 20-m shuttle run test, and the Yo-Yo intermittent test for young athletes (Bangsbo, Iaia, & Krustrup, 2008; Zemková & Hamar, 2018). The protocols of these tests are sensitive, reliable and low-cost, and their measures are well-studied indicators of health in youth (F. B. Ortega, J. R. Ruiz, M. J. Castillo, & M. Sjostrom, 2008).

#### 2.1.2 – Muscular fitness

Muscular fitness (MF) is the capacity of a muscle or a group of muscle to produce tension against a resistance or submaximal workloads. The size and number of the muscle and the coordination of the muscle fibers are the main factors that influence MF. The maximal strength that a group of muscle fibers can produce is usually quantified in N or Kg (Radák, 2018a; Wilder et al., 2006). The kinetic ability of the body to move, lift loads or do daily activities has been used to characterize an individual's integrated status of muscular strength and muscular endurance. The most studied attributes of MF related to sports performance and health are: explosive strength and endurance strength (Garcia-Hermoso, Ramirez-Campillo, & Izquierdo, 2019; Suchomel, Nimphius, & Stone, 2016). Endurance strength is the ability of a group of muscles to perform repeated contractions over a specific period of time that is sufficient to cause fatigue. On the other hand, explosive strength is defined by an all-out muscular effort in a relatively short time
period (Bazyler, Abbott, Bellon, Taber, & Stone, 2015). Besides this two attributes of MF, strength can also be isometric and dynamic. Dynamic strength is related to the movement of the body against an external load, while isometric strength is the muscle tension produced against a motionless external load (Suchomel, Nimphius, Bellon, & Stone, 2018). There are several test protocols by which different attributes of MF can be assessed. Tests such as, the push-up test, the vertical jump test and the standing broad jump or horizontal jump (HJ) have been widely used for assessing explosive strength and endurance strength among young people (Beunen, Peeters, & Malina, 2010; Petrigna et al., 2019; Jonatan R. Ruiz et al., 2006).

#### 2.1.3 – Speed of movement

The speed of movement is the ability to move quickly across the ground. It is dependent on one's acceleration, i.e., how quickly the speed is increased from a stationary position, maximal speed of movement, i.e., the fastest speed an individual can reach, and speed maintenance, i.e., the ability to minimize deceleration. Speed of movement is related to muscle strength, but also to body weight. In addition to the recruitment of muscle fibers, it is also essential to have efficient mechanics of movement in order to optimize the muscles for the most economical movement technique (Seitz, Reyes, Tran, de Villarreal, & Haff, 2014; Suchomel et al., 2016). This attribute of PF is notably associated with performance in sports characterised by movements of high-intensity and short duration (e.g. football, volleyball, basketball) (Beato, Bianchi, Coratella, Merlini, & Drust, 2018; Zemková & Hamar, 2018). Considering the specificity of each sport, there are several field tests to assess the speed of movement. However, the most common and generic speed of movement tests are the 20m run and the 40m run (Young et al., 2008; Zemková & Hamar, 2018). These tests are usually performed in the school and youth sports contexts. were developed for specific sports (Radák, 2018b).

#### 2.1.4 – Agility

Agility is the ability to quickly accelerate, decelerate and change course while controlling the direction and position of the body. This attribute of PF is strongly related to strength, coordination and balance, but also to the skill level, and can be improved by developing the appropriate level of strength and conditioning for the individual's age. It is considered an important PF attribute in most ball games and in combat sports (Radák, 2018b). There are several tests to assess agility and many of them were developed for specific sports (Zemková & Hamar, 2018).

#### 2.1.5 – Flexibility

Flexibility is determined by the range of motion around a joint, and the assessments of this attribute may be used to evaluate general health and sports performance (Fukuda, 2018). In the sport context, flexibility is highly individualized and should be interpreted within a specific context, i.e. gymnastic or football (Fukuda, 2018). The sit and reach test is the most widely used test to assess flexibility in the ecologic context and on large populations of young people (J. R. Ruiz et al., 2009). Improving flexibility based on careful and progressive training programs is crucial for young people performance and health. Flexibility should be reflected on acceptable levels of function of specific body part (e.g. knee, ankle),

and extreme laxity or stiffness in the specific biologic structures (e.g. muscle tissue, joints) may be reflect a potential injury (Fukuda, 2018).

#### 2.1.6 – Biologic and physiologic factors influencing physical fitness

Sex is one of the most important determinants of PF and maturity is a major factor influencing the development of PF throughout adolescence. Genetic characteristics have different impact weights in the several components of PF, for example, around 80% on height, between 15% and 90% on muscle strength, 50% on peak oxygen uptake, and 46% to 84% on anaerobic power (Tucker & Collins, 2012). Furthermore, the genetic predisposition is known to be a contributing factor to both health and sport performance, that should be taken into account. (Joyner, 2019; Roth, 2007; Schutte, Nederend, Hudziak, de Geus, & Bartels, 2015; Suppiah, Low, & Chia, 2015).

#### 2.1.6.1 – Sex, maturity and physical fitness

The PF performance varies with sex and according to chronological aging and biologic maturation (Neil Armstrong, van Mechelen, Armstrong, & McManus, 2017). Anatomic and physiologic differences between male and female elite athletes are so significant, that they rarely compete against each other (Tucker & Collins, 2012). Sports where strength, acceleration and speed have an essential role on sport performance and thus the final result, are generally dominated by males athletes (N. Armstrong & McManus, 2011; Neil Armstrong, van Mechelen, Armstrong, & McManus, 2017). Generally, men have larger and longer bones and higher ratio of muscle mass to fat mass. These characteristics provide an advantage, compared to women, promoting a higher leverage, as well as a wider frame to support muscle tissue (Heyward, Johannes-Ellis, & Romer, 1986; Mascherini, 2017). Additionally, the main reason why strength levels are greatly different between male and female athletes is essentially because of the difference in the dimension of the cross-sectional area of the muscle, which is highly related with strength production (M. Jones et al., 2016; A. E. J. Miller, MacDougall, Tarnopolsky, & Sale, 1993). The aforementioned may explain why the records on swimming and running are lower in female competitions than male competitions (Thibault et al., 2010).

The VO<sub>2max</sub> is related with size, body composition and the blood biochemical composition. The male body is larger and has more capacity to transport the oxygen to the muscle cells. Besides the body size, other reason why female athletes reach lower maximum oxygen consumption than male athletes, is probably because women present around 12% lower concentrations of hemoglobin than men (W. G. Murphy, 2014). Notwithstanding, on long duration sports, the glycogen is an essential bioenergetics source. The endurance depends of the body capacity to convert calories into metabolic energy (Heydenreich, Kayser, Schutz, & Melzer, 2017). In this regard, men seem to be less efficient in converting glycogen into energy than women, because of that the differences between men's and women's performance in long duration sports are smaller, than those seen in sports where strength and muscle mass have a more prominent role (Neil Armstrong & Barker, 2012; Devries, 2016). On the same line, male and female young athletes have anatomic and physiologic differences between them (N. Armstrong & McManus, 2011; McManus & Armstrong, 2010). However, contrary to adulthood, during youth two essential and different biologic processes occur, growth and development. During the prepubertal period very few and small differences, between boys and girls, are observed in the rates of growth and development, as well as, in strength, speed, power, endurance and motor coordination. Physiologic differences between boys and girls are more evident during maturation, which occurs in different chronologic ages between boys and girls (Lloyd & Oliver, 2012).

Biologic and physiologic differentiation starts in the embryonic development. The SRY and SOX9 genes are the main genes involved on determining sex. SRY activates the sex-determining region Y protein, which is involved in male sexual development (Gilbert, 2000; Tucker & Collins, 2012). In boys, testosterone secretion starts near to 3 months in the foetus life, while in girls this process is absent in this period of life. The non-secretion of testosterone in girls foetus life, allows the development of female reproductive organs, and accounts for subtle differences in cardiac function and body composition at birth (Wells, 2007). Growth, muscle mass development, bone mineralization, and metabolic adaptations during youth depends essentially of the complex interaction between growth hormone, insulin-like growth factor with anabolic hormones such as testosterone (boys) and estrogen (girls) (McManus & Armstrong, 2010).

The growth and development processes are not linear and do not happen simultaneously within young people. In fact, young people of the same age have different maturity status which influences the functioning of several biologic

systems (e.g., endocrine system and nervous system). Boys usually begin pubertal growth after girls and have slower growth rates, however the magnitude of the growth spurt is greater in boys (Lloyd & Oliver, 2012). The maturity status is often assessed by the peak height velocity (PHV) which can occur between 13 and 15 years old in boys, and between 11 and 14 years old in girls (Robert M. Malina, 2011).

This is an important issue as maturity highly impacts PF. Muscle strength development is reliant on a combination of muscular, neural and structural factors (Bergeron et al., 2015). After PHV, muscular strength increases much faster in boys than in girls, when up until then it has been increasing fairly linearly in both sexes (R. M. B. Malina, Claude; Bar-Or, Oded, 2004). Additionally, at late puberty, boys can have up to 50% more muscular strength than girls. Similarly, maturation also has a positive impact on CRF. The peak  $VO_{2max}$  during maturation increases around 70% in boys and 25% in girls aged 12-17 years old (Neil Armstrong & Welsman, 2001). Even considering young people of the same sex, maturity plays and important role in sport performance. While in most sports, boys and girls with greater maturity levels tend to be more successful, in gymnastics and driving sports those with later maturation have advantage (Neil Armstrong, van Mechelen, Armstrong, & McManus, 2017). This is a results of the specificity of each sport. Understanding the growth and development processes, such as maturity, is essential to develop adequate tools to monitor PF in youth, and specially in young athletes (Neil Armstrong, van Mechelen, Armstrong, & McManus, 2017). Sport success during youth is highly related with physical and physiologic variables, which

develop according to sex, chronologic and biologic age (McManus & Armstrong, 2010).

The physiologic bases of young sport science are well documented, and it is acknowledged that all components of PF are improved with the appropriate training (McManus & Armstrong, 2010). In this period of life several biologic changes occur, and these changes occur in different chronologic ages between sexes, but also within sexes. Therefore, tools to asses PF should reflect sex and age differences.

#### 2.1.6.2 – Genetics and physical fitness

The genetic heritage has an essential role on the individual PF performance, as well as on the range of trainability of each PF component such as, body composition, CRF, strength, speed, flexibility, agility, and metabolic (Ahmetov & Fedotovskaya, 2012; Neil Armstrong, van Mechelen, Armstrong, & McManus, 2017; Neil Armstrong, van Mechelen, Schutte, Bartels, & de Geus, 2017; C. Bouchard, Hoffman, Eric P., 2011; Joyner & Lundby, 2018). As aforementioned, sex and maturity play an essential role on PF, but also do the family heritable characteristics.

The variation within the PF components during youth, depend on the differentiated contribution that both the genetic and environment factors have on each PF component (Ahmetov, Egorova, Gabdrakhmanova, & Fedotovskaya, 2016; Neil Armstrong, van Mechelen, Schutte, et al., 2017; Yan et al., 2016). Genetic assessment and analysis in the sports began in the early 2000s after the interpretation of deoxyribonucleic acid structure. Several studies found the first

associations between genetic markers and PF attributes such as angiotensinconverting enzyme and adenosine monophosphate deaminase 1 gene variations with CRF, alpha-actinin skeletal muscle isoform 3 (ACTN3) with speed, injury risk and post-exercise recovery, and insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-1) with quadriceps muscle strength gains (Goh et al., 2009; Kostek et al., 2005; Pickering & Kiely, 2017).

Variability on gains or losses in PF performance, when stimulated to comparable training programmes, depend, in part, of the individual genetic characteristics (Joyner & Lundby, 2018). Heritability ( $H^2$ ) is estimated from the division of the genotype variation by the phenotype variation ( $H^2$ = genotype variation / phenotype variation) (Puthucheary et al., 2011). Overall, between 0% and 93% of the variability of PF components are due to genetic factors, where the relative contributions of genetic and non-genetic factors to the total PF phenotype are estimated. Results closer to 1 (100%) reflect a bigger genetic contribution, whereas results closer to 0 (0%) reflect a greater environment contribution. Family and twin studies (e.g. monozygotic [±100 % genetically identical]; dizygotic [±50% identical of genetic characteristics]) provide knowledge on the genetic and environment contributions to the PF phenotype (Neil Armstrong, van Mechelen, Schutte, et al., 2017).

Cross-sectional investigations have demonstrated that genetic influences several components of PF, however the magnitude of the effect varies widely (Neil Armstrong, van Mechelen, Schutte, et al., 2017). Even within each PF component a broad variability in the percentage explained by genetic factors is reported. A recent meta-analysis of investigations in young adults found H<sup>2</sup> estimates of 72%

for VO<sub>2max</sub>. However, studies performed among adolescents do not allow to estimate the extent to which genes contribute to the variance in this PF component. A study among 10 year-olds reports that in girls 85% of the VO<sub>2</sub> max is heritable, while another one, with participants of the same age, observed an explained variance of 95% in both sexes (Neil Armstrong, van Mechelen, Schutte, et al., 2017; Maes et al., 1996). Among older adolescents, 15 and 17 year-olds, another two studies show estimates of 35-60% (Lortie et al., 1982; Schutte, Nederend, Hudziak, Bartels, & de Geus, 2016). Regarding muscular fitness, the lower limbs strength, assessed by the vertical jump, and upper limbs strength, assessed by the HG, were estimated to be 71% and between 44% and 58% attributable to genetic, respectively (Chatterjee & Das, 1995; R. M. Malina & Mueller, 1981). A meta-analysis summarizing evidence on this component estimated that genetic factors explained most of the variance in the vertical jump (62%), HG strength (63%) and flexibility (50%) (Schutte et al., 2016).

Very few longitudinal studies investigated the contribution of genetic factors to adolescents' PF. A longitudinal family study showed that changes over time in the trunk flexibility, push-ups, sit-ups and HG strength were 48%, 52%, 41% and 32% heritable, respectively. Similarly, a twin investigation has demonstrated that genetic factors explain between 47% and 92% of the variance in power and between 44% and 83% of the variance in isometric strength (Beunen et al., 2010).

An experimental reference investigation in this field, the HERITAGE Family Study, aimed to study the role of the genotype in the cardiovascular and metabolic responses to aerobic exercise training. This investigation indicated that

20 weeks of aerobic exercise training promote changes on CRF, hemodynamic characteristics, and other indicators of health, and the differences responses to the training may be explained genetic characteristics (An et al., 2003; C. Bouchard et al., 1999; C. Bouchard et al., 1995; Hong, Rice, & Gagnon, 2000).

The variability of the impact from H<sup>2</sup> into PF phenotypes in young people may be due to several methodologic factors such as, type of population investigated (e.g. children, adolescents), maturation status, and characteristics of exercise (e.g. type, volume, and intensity) (Neil Armstrong, van Mechelen, Schutte, et al., 2017; Joyner & Lundby, 2018). Additionally, the lack of standardization of genetic tests, the lack of knowledge of the specificity of which genes are being tested, the small effect of genes on associations with non-communicable diseases and the recognized influence of environmental factors in sport and health status reinforce the need to look and interpret these results with caution. Despite the impacts of genetic on PF, from applicative clinical and technical perspective, large investigations to explaining in detail the complex associations between genetic, environment with physiologic phenotypes are necessary (Joyner, 2019; Zehsaz et al., 2019). However, so far the methodology and the process to assess the genetic information is still very invasive and it is not the most advisable to use pertaining this knowledge in the sport and the general public (Pickering & Kiely, 2017).

#### 2.1.7 – Environmental factors influencing physical fitness

Even though H<sup>2</sup> explains some of the PF phenotype (Ahmetov et al., 2016), other factors, external to the individual, also have some influence (André F. Seabra, Mendonça, Göring, Thomis, & Maia, 2008). Thus, young people should not be exposed only to genetic testing to predict PF performance (Joyner & Paneth, 2019; Webborn et al., 2015). All PF attributes are susceptible to trainability. The concept of trainability describes the range or magnitude of the physiologic response to a physical stimulus (e.g. sports training) (Joyner & Lundby, 2018). Environmental factors, such as sleep habits, nutrition education, and PA participation or a single physical exercise also impact PF.

#### 2.1.7.1 – Sleep, nutrition and physical fitness

Sleep is an essential biologic state that boost and repairs all human systems in response to hormonal and circadian regulation changes promoted by several stress stimulus (Sheldon, 2014). After suffering different "stress" throughout the day, sleeping time is when several repair or restore processes occur within the body (e.g. body tissues, brain), which allow to answer efficiently to the new demands in short and long term (e.g. training) (Bergeron et al., 2015; Bruce, Lunt, & McDonagh, 2017).

During sleep, the lymphocyte activity is improved (e.g. IL-1 and IL-2) in order to promote an efficient inflammatory response, also the endogenous anabolic steroids function is improved (e.g. prolactin, testosterone, cortisol, hormone luteinizing) (Sheldon, 2014). Some investigations have showed that, in young people, during sleep some somatic repair processes occur, such as muscle tissue regeneration, peak levels of growth hormone, increased catabolic steroid concentration (during the first hours of sleep), and the rate of bone growth (Sheldon, 2014). The immune and endocrine systems are excellent indicators of the human biologic systems function in response to stress, especially in response to PA participation or training (Cadegiani & Kater, 2019).

Across adolescence, social demands, such as school-start times, screentime at night and academic demands promote conflict with the biological sleeping process, which can result in an insufficient period of recovery or regeneration of the different biological systems (Bergeron et al., 2015; Knufinke et al., 2018). For an optimal period of sleep, during adolescence, it is recommended 8 to 11 hours (e.g. 6-13 years old between 9-11 hours and 14-17 years old between 8-10 hours) between falling asleep and waking-up (Crowley, Tarokh, & Carskadon, 2014; Hirshkowitz et al., 2015).

General health, injuries and lower sport performance are associated with sleep patterns, thus being important a "regenerative sleep" (Bergeron et al., 2015). Although the literature regarding sleep and PF among adolescents is scarce, an investigation among Portuguese girls demonstrated that poor sleep quality was associated with lower CRF, while no associations were found with BMI (Mota & Vale, 2009). Another investigation, among Spanish school-aged children, have found that sleep-related anxiety problems predicted being overweight or obese in both sexes, and that sleep quality problems predicted being overweight or obese in girls (García-Hermoso, Aguilar, Vergara, Velásquez, & Marina, 2015). Furthermore, the authors suggest that sleep restriction over time could diminish the positive impact of resistance training on metabolic health (Fobian, Elliott, & Louie, 2018; Knowles, Drinkwater, Urwin, Lamon, & Aisbett, 2018). Another investigation, among Chinese university students aged 16-30 years old, have found that a better sleep quality was associated with greater muscle strength, and that shorter bouts of sleep duration could be a risk for decreased muscle strength (Chen, Cui, Chen, & Wu, 2017).

Besides sleep, nutrition is also an important factor influencing PF in adolescents. Nutritional strategies, before-, during- and post-exercise are crucial to maximize the adaptations promoted by the physical effort. For optimal PF, nutrient intake should be adequate based on the individual characteristics (e.g. age, sex) of each practitioner and the characteristics of the exercise (e.g. volume, intensity, continuous, interval, lower impact, high impact) (Bergeron et al., 2015; Desbrow et al., 2014).

Recognising the large number of factors which influence the necessary energy requirements in young athletes, it is not suitable to draw a single diet plan that fits all. Notwithstanding, it is important to know the main principles of nutrition that apply to those practicing in regular competitive sports (Desbrow et al., 2014). The periodization of protein, carbohydrate, fat, calcium, vitamin D and iron intake according to the guidelines, allows a faster recovery, improves performance and prevents injuries in youth athletes (Desbrow et al., 2014; Meng et al., 2018).

Overall, nutritional education for young athletes and all personal involved in their sport development process (e.g. parents, coaches, medical staff, federations, clubs) should highlight eating behaviours as important strategies to improve longterm health and sport performance (Bergeron et al., 2015; Slater et al., 2019).

#### 2.1.7.2 – Physical activity, exercise and physical fitness

When engaging in PA and physical exercise almost all biologic systems are activated to support muscle contraction and energy production (C. Bouchard et al., 2012). Adolescents should engage in at least 60 minutes of mostly aerobic PA with additional muscle-strengthening exercises per day (Committee, 2018). Engaging in adequate levels of PA increases muscular strength and the cardiorespiratory capacity, which are determinants of success in many sports and health (Ross et al., 2016; Suchomel et al., 2016).

Biologic and physiologic adaptations to PA are expressed on the PF phenotype. The cardiovascular and respiratory systems immediately respond to PA by increasing the availability of oxygen for energy production in the muscle (Gastin, 2001). Also, depending specifically on the type of exercise, muscles when regularly stimulated improve their ability to function optimally (McPherron, Guo, Bond, & Gavrilova, 2014). These biologic and physiologic adaptations stimulated by regular PA or isolated bouts of exercises promotes the development of PF in youth. Young athletes specifically benefit from aerobic and resistance training, during their sports participation, for long-term development of sport-specific athletic performance (Gäbler, Prieske, Hortobágyi, & Granacher, 2018). Understanding the effects of training programmes at a molecular level, may be an essential factor to continue to develop future training strategies aiming to improve sports performance and health.

Aerobic and strength exercises are the major signalling pathways for the promotion of muscular tissue remodelling, through DNA methylation, protein translation and mitochondrial biogenesis (Pilegaard, Saltin, & Neufer, 2003; Robinson et al., 2017; Simoes & Vogiatzis, 2018). The mRNA or DNA transcription occurs through phosphorylation of several substrates in the nucleus and cytoplasm, where biologic process such as hypertrophy, inflammation and gene expression are included (B. F. Miller, Konopka, & Hamilton, 2016). Energetic unbalance at the cellular level, promoted by exercise (Thomson, 2018), activates the AMP-actived protein kinase (AMPK). The AMPK, then, regulates the energetic status and initiates the process of phosphorylating and activating PGC-1 $\alpha$  (Richter & Ruderman, 2009). This signalling process, initiated by PA, promotes changes on mitochondrial oxidative enzymes capacity and consequently the CRF (Robinson et al., 2017; Thomson, 2018) (Figure 2.1). An example of this is the HERITAGE family study, where after 20 weeks of endurance exercise, sedentary adults presented a 15-25% positive change in CRF (C. Bouchard et al., 2011).

Hypertrophy and muscle regeneration are adaptive responses of the muscle tissue to exercise, through increased protein metabolism and fusion of satellite cells to the existent myofiber. Resistance training activates FAK which leads to the inhibition of TSC, thus allowing activation of mTOR; simultaneously IGF-1 activation is promoted and mTOR is activated. This initiates the signalling pathway that leads to protein translation and hypertrophy (Simoes & Vogiatzis, 2018) (Figure 2.1).

According to the concept of training specificity (Behm, 1995; Hakkinen, Mero, & Kauhanen, 1989), resistance training improves muscular strength while aerobic training improves CRF. Among adults, concurrent resistance and aerobic training can interfere with each other, and this interference can lead to inferior gains on muscular or CRF in comparison to isolated training (Docherty & Sporer, 2000;

Wilson et al., 2012). This interference occurs when resistance and aerobic exercise stimuli both target different peripheral adaptations, such as hypertrophy and muscle capillarisation (Docherty & Sporer, 2000). On the other hand, a recent systematic review performed among children and adolescents concluded that concurrent training has a better effect on PF that isolated training, whether resistance or aerobic training (Gäbler et al., 2018). For example, concurrent training was more effective than endurance training in improving athletic performance in children and particularly adolescents. This may be because, children and adolescents have different anthropometric, physiological, and biomechanical characteristics than adults that can affect their response to training, specifically regarding the adaptation capacity (Gäbler et al., 2018).

Sports participation has profound and unequivocal positive effects on health, through several stimuli which increase muscle mass, improve CRF and other PF attributes in youth at short- and long-term (Smith et al., 2019). Regular participation in PA promotes the adaptation of several systems to the activation of the muscular contraction and energy production by increasing their capacity or efficiency (McPherron et al., 2014). Because of its relationship with several biologic systems, PF is recognised as one of the most important biomarkers of sports performance and health (F. B. Ortega, J. R. Ruiz, et al., 2008). This increasing capacity and more efficient response of the biological systems, arising from regular PA participation, improves one's PF levels. On the light of this facts, it is possible to understand that PF is, in part, determined by the heritage and genetic characteristics and, in part, by the environment factors, such as sport participation, training or physical activity levels.



49

# 2.2 - Physical fitness as a smart tool for assessing sport performance and health in youth

Assessing PF may play an important role on identifying the grade of trainability (slow or fast), either with the objective of monitoring and improving health, or when aiming to monitor and improve sports performance (Neil Armstrong, van Mechelen, Schutte, et al., 2017; C. Bouchard, Hoffman, Eric P., 2011; Joyner & Lundby, 2018). Measuring the components of PF allows to monitor the functional status of most, if not all, human biologic systems, and to identify the individual capacity to perform physical exercises at a specific range of physiologic and psychologic capacities (Neil Armstrong, van Mechelen, Armstrong, & Barker, 2017; F. B. Ortega, J. R. Ruiz, et al., 2008).

#### 2.2.1 – Physical Fitness and Sport Performance

Performance-related fitness regarding one's athletic skills or a set of athletic skills is a good indicator of an individual's athletic performance in an athletic competition (C. Bouchard et al., 2012; Campbell, Jesus, & Prapavessis, 2013). As seen before, the young athlete performance is the product of the interaction between genetic and environmental factors (C. Bouchard, Hoffman, Eric P., 2011; Tucker & Collins, 2012). Part (66%) of the athlete status is genetic, composed of hereditable characteristics (De Moor et al., 2012). Genetics characteristics have a significant contribution to the predisposition to practice with success in certain sports and to the overall components of sport performance for each athlete, such as body composition, neuromuscular function, power, strength, endurance, flexibility and other phenotypic characteristics (Ahmetov & Fedotovskaya, 2012).

It is clear that PF components such as cardiovascular capacity, strength, agility and flexibility are excellent and useful biomarkers (Palacios et al., 2015). Assessing PF attributes can determine the current fitness level of athletes, as well as non-athletes, identify individual differences, evaluate the training process, and the sporting potential of youth, thus guiding athletes to the proper event or sport (Calleja-González et al., 2016; Fukuda, 2018; T. Kramer, Huijgen, Elferink-Gemser, & Visscher, 2017; Mujika, Santisteban, Impellizzeri, & Castagna, 2009; Sharhey, 1986). However, it is essential to know and understand how each PF attribute differentially impacts sports performance, and why one attribute may be more relevant to assess over others depending on the sport. For example, in basketball, football and handball, lower limbs strength, agility and speed and cardiovascular capacity are crucial to differentiate the competition level of performance (Haycraft, Kovalchik, Pyne, & Robertson, 2017; Hoare, 2000; Lidor et al., 2005; Mujika et al., 2009). In gymnastics, performance is more determined by handgrip strength (HG) and lower limbs strength (Boullosa et al., 2019), whereas in rugby the essential PF attributes to achieve success are the total muscular power and strength (Chiwaridzo et al., 2019). Having this knowledge can help in identifying children and adolescents with the potential for higher success in various sports.

Assessing the different components of PF in children and adolescents can be performed in the laboratory setting. Although these methodologies are effective, most of these PF tests require qualified technicians, specific equipment, have a high logistic cost, may not be feasible in large groups and misrepresent the natural environment context (Artero et al., 2010; Bergeron et al., 2015; J. R. Ruiz et al.,

2010). An alternative to these laboratory PF test are PF tests batteries, which unlike the laboratory PF test, require minimal equipment and are able to be performed in an ecologic context (J. R. Ruiz et al., 2010).

One of the biggest reasons why the PF tests have not been implemented in many countries in the past is the overabundance and lack of uniformity in the tests used to assess physical performance between athletes from several sports. Thus, there is a need for a large generic PF test battery that can assess different sports and sexes (Neil Armstrong & McManus, 2010; McManus & Armstrong, 2010; Johan Pion et al., 2014).

#### 2.2.2 – Physical Fitness and Health

Health-related fitness is generally related to the health status and is associated positively or negatively by one's habitual physical activity habits (Campbell et al., 2013), it is also considered a good indicator of health (C. Bouchard et al., 2012). Among young people, the several attributes of PF are associated to obesity, cardiovascular health, bone health, metabolic health and mental health (Braam et al., 2016; F. B. Ortega, J. R. Ruiz, et al., 2008). Figure 2.2 presents a summary of the associations between PF attributes and health in youth.

The most studied PF attribute in the heath literature is CRF (C. Bouchard et al., 2012; F. B. Ortega, J. R. Ruiz, et al., 2008). This attribute of PF is known to be related to cardiovascular health, cholesterol and blood lipids, obesity and mental health (Janssen & LeBlanc, 2010; J. R. Ruiz et al., 2009). Children and adolescents with higher levels of cardiorespiratory fitness are known to have healthier cardiovascular and metabolic profiles (F. B. Ortega, J. R. Ruiz, et al., 2008).

Furthermore, CRF is inversely related with total adiposity and, having high levels CRF can counteract the harmful consequences attributed to having a higher inflammatory profile (F. B. Ortega, J. R. Ruiz, et al., 2008; J. R. Ruiz et al., 2009). Also, CRF is related to brain structure and functions, such as neuroelectric indices of attention, working memory, response speed and cognitive processing speed (Hillman, Castelli, & Buck, 2005; Marques, Santos, Hillman, & Sardinha, 2018).



Evidence indicates that improving MF has beneficial effects on several health outcomes in youth, such as body composition, blood lipid profiles and insulin sensitivity, bone mineral density and bone geometry (Baptista, Mil-Homens, Carita, Janz, & Sardinha, 2016; Daly, Saxon, Turner, Robling, & Bass, 2004; Garcia-Hermoso et al., 2019) and mental health (Smith et al., 2014). Also, MF is inversely associated with cardiovascular disease risk (Grøntved et al., 2015) Muscle hypertrophy increases lean mass and contributes to improving the resting metabolic rate (McPherron et al., 2014). Positive association between total and site-specific bone mineral status and MF have been found among adolescents (Baptista et al., 2016). Thus, the bone mineral content of the whole body seems to be directly associated with MF and mediated by the association between fitness and lean mass (Vicente-Rodríguez et al., 2008). Prospective investigations, revealed that the enhancement of bone mass was associated with improvements in the speed of movement and explosive strength (Vicente-Rodriguez et al., 2004). Furthermore, adolescents with higher MF have a decreased risk of fracture when practicing PA (Clark et al., 2011). The relationship between PF and bone health will be presented with more detail posteriorly.

In youth, PF attributes are important indicators of performance and health. Therefore, PF test batteries may be a valuable tool to use in order to simultaneously assess the training progress and sports performance, as well as monitoring health (Neil Armstrong & McManus, 2010; Gracia-Marco, Vicente-Rodríguez, et al., 2011). Additionally, assessing and interpreting the main factors influencing the PF status, contribute to the promotion of healthy sport participation in youth (Bergeron et al., 2015).

# 2.3 - Sports participation in youth: an integrated strategy to improve physical activity and health

Insufficient PA has been identified as one of the leading risk factors for all deaths, representing to 1.9 million deaths per year (Ding et al., 2016). Therefore, the World Health Organization (WHO) has made it one of their global initiatives to increase the populations' PA levels and reduce by 10% the prevalence of insufficient PA by 2025, in order to promote health outcomes (Guthold, Stevens, Riley, & Bull, 2018; WHO, 2015). Promoting the life-long practice of PA is a significant challenge since 27.7% of adults, and 80.3% of adolescents worldwide are either sedentary or physically inactive (Guthold et al., 2018). In particular, Portuguese adolescents spend higher amounts of time sedentary and have low compliance with the recommended PA levels (Mota, Coelho-e-Silva, Raimundo, & Sardinha, 2016). Given the negative health consequences associated with inactivity, such as obesity, cardiovascular diseases, metabolic syndrome, lower bone strength, all adolescents should engage in at least 60 minutes/day in moderate to vigorous PA intensity, and, on the other hand decrease the time spend in sedentary behaviour (Committee, 2018). Three days a week they should engage in vigorous-intensity activities, including those that strengthen muscle and bone (Onerup et al., 2019). A significant emphasis has been devoted to the investigation of several strategies to increase the PA levels and improve lifestyle habits among young populations in order to meet the recommended PA requirements for overall health.

Children and adolescents can be active in different contexts, such as domestic, occupational, active commuting and leisure-time physical activity (Eime et al., 2015). Since 2010 the WHO and the International Olympic Committee have been working together to encourage SP during childhood and adolescence in order to promote positive health outcomes (WHO, 2010). Increasing SP during childhood and adolescence is an investment that works to promote PA (Stewart G. Trost, Blair, & Khan, 2014). It has been found that children and adolescents who participate in organized sports have a healthier lifestyle than non-participants, and this effect is not only exclusive in youth, but can also have positive repercussions later in life (Grima & Thalassinos, 2017; Schmidt, Tittlbach, Bös, & Woll, 2017; Rohan M. Telford et al., 2016).

Cross-sectional, longitudinal studies, and systematic reviews have indicated that young sports participants tend to have higher PA levels, better mental health, and lower risk of chronic physical conditions during youth and adulthood when compared with non-participants or recreational physically active participants (Lee, Pope, & Gao, 2016; M. H. Murphy, Rowe, & Woods, 2016; Palomäki et al., 2018; Schmidt et al., 2017; Silva et al., 2013; Rohan M. Telford et al., 2016). Trends over recent years have shown increased youth SP in different sports categories as well as increased PA levels during childhood and early adolescence (AIS, 2017; Caine, Walch, & Sabato, 2016; K. Green, Thurston, Vaage, & Roberts, 2013; Townsend N, 2015). On the other hand, this phenomenon has not been observed at later ages (17 to 24 years), where people have lower PA levels and there is less youth sports participating (AIS, 2017; Townsend N, 2015; WHO, 2011). These findings inspired policymakers from different countries to develop a consistent model to organise, promote and improve SP during the youth, with an integrated, multisectoral, sustainable approach between the several national systems (i.e. national sports federations, public health system, and educational government entities) (AIS, 2017; Canada, 2018; The English Sport Council, 2016).

In Europe, 29 countries had a policy document to health promotion and only seven countries to sports promotion officially promoted sports (Daugbjerg et al., 2009). Additionally, the last data analysis from 2015 in several European countries, the health-enhancing physical activity is not organised by the same governmental entities across Europe. In Italy and Portugal, the health-enhancing physical activity is linked to the health sector. On the other hand, only in Slovenia and Switzerland are linked to the sports sector. However, only the Netherlands and Switzerland have policies combined with sport and education (Bull et al., 2015).

School is the place where children and adolescents spend most of their time during the day, and, thus, it is an appropriate environment to influence a healthy lifestyle on the young population (O'Brien, 2019). In particular, physical education classes provide the opportunity for structured PA, that is organised in a safe environment by professionals specialised in PA (i.e. physical educations teachers). These classes support the acquisition of fundamental motor skills, which form the foundation for all later PA and competitive sports (Gallahue DL, 1998).

A framework considering health, physical education, and sports has shown to have beneficial effects on the development of physical fitness/technical skills and the provision of PA during childhood and adolescence (Gould, 2010; Lovell, Fransen, Bocking, & Coutts, 2019; A. F. Seabra, Mendonca, Thomis, Malina, & Maia, 2007).

This ecosystem promoted by physical education classes can be understood in terms of young's development in 5 areas: physical, lifestyle, affective; social, cognitive (R. Bailey, 2006). Physical education-sport programmes or after-school activities (e.g. School Sport and Club Links [2002 at 2008]; Physical Education and Sport Strategy for Young People [2008-2011]; School Games [2011-2014] the Australian Curriculum: Health and Physical Education [2017]) have been implemented in many countries worldwide. These programs have produced excellent results, such as increasing the health of youth, fighting social exclusion, providing same opportunities for the development of valued individual attributes and offering an opportunity for youth to integrate into a sports team or a club (see example Figure 2.3) (AIS, 2017; R. Bailey, 2006; Wallhead & O'Sullivan, 2005).



Figure 2.3 - Transitioning students to ongoing sports participation

Adapted from Australian Government - Australian Sports Commission 2017

### 2.4 - A FRAMEWORK TO IMPROVING SPORTS PARTICIPATION IN YOUTH

Interaction between entities from different areas, maximise the impact of public and private investment in the public health system, education and high sports performance, the long term athlete development (LTAD) (I. Balyi, & Hamilton, A., 2003). Thus, have been demonstrated a useful model for teachers, professional of sports and most sports federations, to promote and develop healthy young athletes (Ford et al., 2011; Granacher & Borde, 2017; Lloyd et al., 2016).

LTAD has been developed in Canada, based on the research of Canadian Sports Centers LTAD expert group, and has been applied in various countries (i.e. Australia (adapted), Qatar and the UK) (Academy, 2019; Bailey RP, 2010; UKA, 2010). Portuguese National Institute of Sports and Youth, Portuguese Olympic Committee, and Portuguese Football Federation have been follow the LTAD philosophy and guidelines (COP, 2019; FPF, 2018; IPDJ, 2009). This model is not exclusive for young athlete, the LTAD provide across all stages of development opportunities for all children and adolescents to grow integrated into self-assured, healthy and active adults (i.e. 1- Active Start; 2 - Fundamental; 3 - Learning to Train; 4 - Training to Train; 5 - Learning to Compete; 6 - Training to Compete; 7 - Learning to Win; 8 - Winning for a Living; 9 - Active for Life) (Figure 2.3).





LTAD model has been developed basis in scientific knowledge, and successfully training methods, with propose to adapting the process training across the process of growth and development during childhood and adolescence ages (Ford et al., 2011). This model is structured and organised progressively to achieve youth athleticism and to engage in lifelong, physical activity, as well as healthy-enhancing (see example Figure 2.5) (I. Balyi, Way, R., and Higgs, C., 2013).





### 2.5 - RECRUITMENT, RETENTION AND TRANSITION: THREE FUNDAMENTAL STAGES FOR A SPORT DEVELOPMENT MODEL

With the importance of sports recognised in all areas of the society, governments, international federations and national federations have put forth two goals: 1) to increase the number of participants actively engaged in sports activities and 2) to improve performances in sport (B. C. Green, 2005). These goals have formed the basis for sport policies and have set the framework for sports development. According to the dynamic pyramid model of sport development, there are three crucial stages (1- Mass-participation; 2- Competitive Sport; 3 – High-performance), where athlete recruitment, retention, and transition are based according to individual performances (B. C. Green, 2005; K. Green et al., 2013).



Figure 2.6 - Dynamic pyramid model of sport development

Adapted from Grenn, B.C. (2005) – Building Sport Programs to Optimize Athlete Recruitment, Retention and Transition: Toward a Normative Theory of Sport Development. 19, 233-253. The biggest challenges to researchers and entities who are promoting SP are potential performance and continued participation across later life.

Recruitment refers to the recognition of potential performers who are not yet engaging in the sport. Retention refers to the maintenance of young athletes in the sport system for as long as possible (e.g. monitoring training process according individual characteristics) (B. C. Green, 2005). To achieve these goals, it is necessary to understand all factors (biologic and environmental) which influence youth athletes (Figure 2.7).



Figure 2.7 - The dynamic model of young athlete characteristics.

Adapted from Elferink-Gemser & Visscher (2005) and Dee Mor et al. (2012)

Young athlete recruitment and the development process are multidimensional and challenging to assess (Bergeron et al., 2015; Elferink-Gemser M.T., 2012). Growth and development are marked by individual differences during childhood and the adolescent period, and in these specific periods of life, the sport system should encourage further participation in various sports categories and provide more training opportunities to meet these differences (B. C. Green, 2005; Wicker, Breuer, & Pawlowski, 2009). The promotion of activities in the school (e.g. standardised protocol of PF tests) could aid in the early recruitment of youth athletes by allowing teachers the ability to identify specific sports characteristics.

Promoting recruitment programs during youth in a school context, encourage sport participation, reinforce the number of young athletes and increase the national sports performance level (B. C. Green, 2005; K. Green et al., 2013).

Childhood and adolescence are dynamic periods characterised by the growth and development of different organic systems (e.g. bone tissue, muscle tissue), which rarely progress at the same time or in a linear fashion. It is a misconception that the sport's success of young athletes can be predicted based on the same characteristics that distinguish top adult athletes, as these characteristics in adults may not be observed during adolescence (J. Baker, Schorer, & Wattie, 2017; Johnston, Wattie, Schorer, & Baker, 2017; B. Jones et al., 2018; Li, De Bosscher, Pion, Weissensteiner, & Vertonghen, 2018).

During the initial stages of growth, some individual characteristics may be successfully recognised simply based on hereditary factors. Despite the 34% of athletic ability being based on environmental factors, 66% are genetic, such as those that determine strength, power, endurance, muscle fibre size and composition, flexibility and neuromuscular coordination as well as other phenotypes (De Moor et al., 2012).

Effective tools for assessing sports performance and health in the sports and educational systems are needed to increase the success of recruitment and development programs, the national sport level and healthy SP (Bergeron et al.,

2015; Canada, 2018; Johnston et al., 2017). Although sports provide a positive environment that may enhance physical growth and development, they are also very competitive in nature, even amongst different levels of youth sports competition (Caine et al., 2016; Mountjoy et al., 2008).

It is recommended that researchers, sports professionals, and sports authorities (e.g. national olympic committees, national sports federations, and clubs) determine the potential of talent identification and development systems, to promote health, by also evaluating the positive health of the athlete rather than solely focusing on performance outcomes (Rongen, McKenna, Cobley, & Till, 2018).

Tools for assessing sports potential and performance should also be designed to identify the characteristics of the youth and training process at these ages, to ensure a balance between sports performance and health (Mountjoy et al., 2008).

In particular, factors such as overloaded competition, excessive travels, inadequate nutrition, and unadjusted high intensity and volume of training increase the vulnerability of youth to stress fractures are some of the principal contributors to bone injuries and diseases in the young population (Caine et al., 2016; Faulkner, Davison, Bailey, Mirwald, & Baxter-Jones, 2006; Mountjoy et al., 2008).

#### 2.6 - BONE HEALTH IN YOUTH

Although osteoporosis symptoms usually do not manifest until later in life, the disease is thought to have its roots at the beginning of childhood.

Osteoporosis and bone fractures are considered a significant public health matter worldwide (Aziziyeh et al., 2019; Svedbom et al., 2013). Osteopenia and osteoporosis are usually defined as having a bone density -1.5 and -2.5 SD, respectively, below that of a young healthy adult (Compston, McClung, & Leslie, 2019). Since children and adolescents are growing and bones are still not fully developed the International Society for Clinical Densitometry defined the expression "lower bone mass for age" in children and adolescents when the bone mineral density (BMD) Z-score is -2.0 or lower (Gordon, Leonard, & Zemel, 2014). Children who present -1 or lower SoS Z-score on radius are considered a risk group (Chong, 2015). Also, the youth who present more than one vertebral fracture or lower BMD for age and clinical history of fractures (considering: two or more large bone fractures before the age of ten years, or three or more fractures before nineteen years old) are considered a risk group (Bachrach & Gordon, 2016).

Bone is a hard tissue which provides structure and support for the body and is continually being broken down and regenerated throughout life in the process of modelling and/or remodelling (Clarke, 2008). This process is the biologic mechanism responsible for determining the longitudinal and cross-sectional size and shape of the bone (Frost, 2003). During adolescence, bone mainly undergoes the process of modelling, whereas, in adults, remodelling predominates. Not all bones are being modelled/remodelled at the same time nor in a parallel way. For instance, while the longitudinal growth of bone takes place until early adulthood, radial growth occurs throughout life. Longitudinal growth of bone is characterised by the formation of new bone tissue at the growth plates in the metaphyseal and epiphyseal areas of long bones (Figure 2.8), and the radial growth or subperiosteal appositional growth is the process responsible for increasing the periosteal and endocortical diameters (Figure 2.8) (Clarke, 2008; Duan, Beck, Wang, & Seeman, 2003).



Figure 2.8 - Schematic representation of the longitudinal and radial growth across life in males and females.

Adapted from Duan et al. (2003)

Bone tissue development starts in intrauterine life and continues relatively slowly through childhood until adolescence when the peak of development occurs. At the onset of puberty, children reach what is called peak height velocity (PHV),
which corresponds to the period when the rate of longitudinal growth and bone mineral accretion is at its highest (Gordon et al., 2014).

During the time of PHV bone mineral accrual is at its highest such that by the end of adolescence approx. 80-90% of peak bone mass is achieved. Peak bone mass (PBM), which is the maximum amount of bone mass one is to have in life is achieved by approximately age 30. (Figure 2.9) (D. A. Bailey, McKay, Mirwald, Crocker, & Faulkner, 1999). During four years surrounding the PBM of 39% of total body, the mineral is acquired and four years after the PBM 95% of adult bone has achieved. Notwithstanding, in this specific period of life, the BMD is lower between children's and adolescents, when compared with adults, particularly in boys.

Changes in bone density and bone strength are continuous until the thirty years old (Weaver et al., 2016). Hence, childhood, and specifically adolescence is an opportune time for bone disease prevention as this is a time characterised by a fast-growing skeleton (Buchs, Slosman, Theintz, Bonjour, & Rizzoli, 1991), when the majority of the adult bone mineral is being laid down (Rizzoli, Bianchi, Garabédian, McKay, & Moreno, 2010). Maximising bone mineral mass during this time will have a significant impact on bone values later in adulthood and older ages (Plaza-Carmona et al., 2016).

Bone mass and strength are characteristics of bone tissue and are determined fundamentally by two factors: the non-modificable factors (e.g. sex, age, and maturity) and the modifiable factors (e.g. tobacco use, contraceptives, nutrition and PA) (Weaver et al., 2016). Although between 60-80% of bone characteristics are genetically determined, environmental factors during youth can have a profound

69

influence on adult bone mass and strength (McDevitt, McGowan, & Ahmed, 2014). Among the modifiable factors, PA is known to play a role in augmenting and maximising bone mass and strength in youth, and, thus, can be an effective strategy to improve the current and future bone health of this population (Weaver et al., 2016).



Figure 2.9 - Peak height velocity (PHV) and peak bone mineral content velocity (PBMCV) in boys and girls.

Adapted from Bailey et al. (1999).

On the other hand, when there is an unbalance between PA levels, recovery periods and nutrition, not only are sports performance and athletic health compromised, but bone stress injuries and early osteoporosis can occur as a result. These phenomena can lead to downtime and wasted training and competition time for up to 20 weeks. (Goolsby & Boniquit, 2016; Jenkins, Keating, & Simpson, 2010). Thus, adequate type and intensity of PA, and frequent monitoring of training loads and bone health status are essential to preventing injuries and long-term bone diseases (Goolsby & Boniquit, 2016; Lloyd et al., 2016).

## 2.7 - PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND BONE HEALTH IN YOUTH

Gravitational loading and muscle loading are the main mechanical loads applied to the skeleton, which activate the mechanotransduction process in the bone (Kohrt, Barry, & Schwartz, 2009). These mechanisms were described previously in Frost's mechanostat theory. This theory states that mechanical loads of different magnitudes and/or directions stimulate biochemical signals to make recipient bone cells (i.e. osteocytes, osteoclasts and osteoblasts) adapt to new challenges (Frost, 1996). Additionally, the mechanotransduction is a process by which mechanical forces are converted and integrated into a cellular response directed towards bone repair and regeneration, which result in increasing the bone strength by changes in the bone's architecture, mass, and density (Frost, 2003; Huang & Ogawa, 2010). Modelling and remodelling are an integrated biologic cell process of the osteocytes, osteoclasts, and osteoblast, all of which act together to modify the bone in response to these physiologic or mechanical forces (Frost, 2003). The osteocytes serve as sensory cells and the osteoclasts and osteoblasts as the effector cells. This process starts when the mechanical load creates a fluid shear stress within the bone canicular network, activating the osteocytes, which in turn signals the molecules that regulate osteoclast-mediated bone resorption and osteoblast-mediated bone formation (Figure 2.10).



**Figure 2.10 - Bone remodelling cycle.** Adapted from Wittkowske, C. et al. (2016).

The biologic balance between bone cells results in an adequate bone remodelling process (Huang & Ogawa, 2010). The bone tissue needs a balance between a "time in" and "time off" from mechanical loading to complete all the osteogenesis process within a specified safety range. Consequently, the practice of PA should be organised into the exercise load sessions separated by recovery periods to promote an overall positive effect on bone health in a PA type-specific loading pattern (Huang & Ogawa, 2010). Several studies have demonstrated the PA effects on bone health outcomes with several types of PA, intensity and volume (D. A. Bailey et al., 1999; Dias Quiterio, Carnero, Baptista, & Sardinha, 2011; Gomez-Bruton, Matute-Llorente, Gonzalez-Aguero, Casajus, & Vicente-Rodriguez, 2017; Gracia-Marco, Moreno, et al., 2011; Piasecki et al., 2018; Vuori & Heinonen, 2000).

Engagement in regular PA is a recommended strategy for promoting bone health during adolescence and over adulthood (Gunter, Almstedt, & Janz, 2012; Rizzoli et al., 2010). It has been suggested that, in order to guarantee optimal bone health, adolescents should practice at least 20 minutes/day of vigorous PA (VPA) or 45 minutes/day of moderate-vigorous PA (MVPA). It is well-recognised that bone health is more dependent of intensity (i.e. light, moderate and vigorous) and the type of exercise (i.e. high-impact loading, variable impact loading and nonimpact) than the volume (Figure 2.11) (Gracia-Marco, Moreno, et al., 2011). Additionally, participation in sports that stimulate compressive, shear, bending, tensile and torsion forces, adequate body composition, and having a balanced diet (i.e. containing adequate calcium and vitamin D) can elicit mechanostat-related processes during growth (Abrams, 2011; Dias Quiterio et al., 2011; Faustino-da-Silva et al., 2018; Gracia-Marco, Moreno, et al., 2011; McDevitt et al., 2014; Varley, Hughes, Greeves, Fraser, & Sale, 2017). On the other hand, some studies in special populations with higher PA levels (e.g. athletes and military), the levels of bone formation and turnover were not elevated or predictive of subsequent changes in bone characteristics, suggesting that the bone response to mechanical loading depends fundamentally upon the bone site and the management of loads

(Goldring, 2015; Izard, Fraser, Negus, Sale, & Greeves, 2016; Lozano-Berges et al., 2018; Varley, Greeves, & Sale, 2018).



Figure 2.11 - Structural changes of bone tissue throughout the lifespan with regular PA. Adapted from Gunter, K. et al. (2012).

For instance, when the bone is under a constant mechanical load without rest and recovery, it becomes desensitised to the loading stimulus. Thus, managing load and allowing for breaks in between loads is important.

In recent years, the incidence of bone fractures in youth has been increasing (Kirkwood, Hughes, & Pollock, 2018). Tibial shaft and distal radius fractures are the most common fractures during this period, particularly between 10 and 20 years old (Larsen et al., 2015). Adolescence is one of the periods of life when the skeleton is porous, presenting several fragile points at the physes and metaphyses. Factors

such as inactivity, adiposity and a deficit of vitamin D are the main reasons behind radial fractures (Ryan et al., 2010). However, tibial fractures are a result of specific anatomy (brittle in narrower), excessive localised loads (e.g. torsional, shear stress and compression), poor management of training loads, and eating disorders or poor nutrition (Izard et al., 2016; Mounasamy, Patel, Horstman, Kuester, & Sambandam, 2018; Tommasini, Nasser, Schaffler, & Jepsen, 2005).

Young athletes are exposed to several high-intensity training/competition hours during the week, with low recovery time, over many years, which potentiates a higher risk of fractures (Hedström, Svensson, Bergström, & Michno, 2010; Larsen et al., 2015).

It remains unclear whether exposure to sport participation during adolescence confers advantages on tibial and radial strength. There is a lack of knowledge regarding the independent associations between different types of PA (i.e. recreational and competitive) with peripheral bone health outcomes, and the interaction of these associations with other relevant factors such as body composition and the several components of PF (Committee, 2018; Cray et al., 2015).

#### 2.8 - PHYSICAL FITNESS AND BONE HEALTH IN YOUTH

PF level is strongly associated with PA level, body composition and several health outcomes. Thus, monitoring youth PF levels has been gaining recent attention in epidemiological studies (J. R. Ruiz et al., 2010). An individuals' PF level is linked to their PA level and physiologic responses to exercise (i.e. acute and chronic). Assessing each attribute of PF, through specific tests, provides an integrated spectrum of several biologic systems, including the musculoskeletal system. In this regard, PF has been suggested as an excellent biomarker of bone health in young populations and used worldwide by sports and health researchers (Baptista et al., 2016; Dias Quiterio et al., 2011; Gracia-Marco, Vicente-Rodríguez, et al., 2011; Ortega et al., 2013; Ramos-Sepúlveda, Ramírez-Vélez, Correa-Bautista, Izquierdo, & García-Hermoso, 2016).

The influence of several components of PF (i.e. CRF, MF and body composition) on bone health in youth has been reported (Baptista et al., 2016; Fonseca, de Franca, & Van Praagh, 2008; Garcia-Hermoso et al., 2019; Gracia-Marco, Vicente-Rodríguez, et al., 2011; Smith et al., 2014; Torres-Costoso et al., 2015), and most studies suggest a positive association between PF and bone health. However, some studies showed controversial associations between specific PF components and bone health outcomes.

CRF, one of the PF components, is strongly associated with several indicators of health in youth, such as obesity or metabolic syndrome (F. B. Ortega, J. R. Ruiz, et al., 2008). CRF is inversely associated with adiposity, which in turn is related to bone health (Vicente-Rodríguez et al., 2008). Thus, it is reasonable that CRF is positively associated with bone health; however, some studies have

presented mixed results regarding this relationship (Clark, Tobias, Murray, & Boreham, 2011; Cray et al., 2015; Fonseca et al., 2008). For instance, Gracia-Marco et al. (2011) found that, while inactive adolescent and active boys with worse CRF had lower whole-body bone mineral content (BMC), active girls with worse CRF had higher whole-body BMC. Another investigation with Brazilian adolescents showed that, for boys, CRF was not associated with total body BMD, whereas for girls, it was inversely associated (Fonseca et al., 2008). These results suggest that other factors, such as body composition (e.g. lean mass, body mass) or sample characteristics (e.g. active, inactive, athletes, non-athletes), could be confounding the relationship between CRF and bone health (Cray et al., 2015).

On the other hand, MF has been consistently associated with bone health (Smith et al., 2014; Vicente-Rodríguez et al., 2008). Several studies showed that children and adolescents with a better HG, speed, agility, horizontal jump (HJ) and vertical jump (VJ), also had better bone health (Baptista et al., 2016; Clark et al., 2011; Gracia-Marco, Vicente-Rodríguez, et al., 2011; Vicente-Rodriguez et al., 2004).

High levels of MF are a consequence of increased muscle mass, which in turn allows for the generation of greater loading forces on the bone. These forces on the bone promote the osteogenic process and, thus, supporting the positive associations between MF and bone health, as well as, its preventive role against bone injuries and diseases (Smith et al., 2014).

The majority of the studies associating PF with bone outcomes uses wholebody or body parts (e.g. upper limbs, lower limbs) measures to assess bone health. However, bone fractures are frequently in specific body regions; for instance, the tibial shaft and the distal radius are the two regions that present the highest incidence of fractures (Larsen et al., 2015; Mounasamy et al., 2018; Ryan et al., 2010). Therefore, it is important to understand if the associations seen when using whole-body and body parts (e.g. trunk, upper and lower limbs) are also significant when assessing specific regions of the bone, in this case for the tibial shaft and the distal radius.

From a public health perspective, a better understanding of these associations is key to comprehend the role of PF as a bone health indicator and its potential role for monitoring and promoting bone health in youth. Furthermore, associations between PF and bone health outcomes may be mediated by the effect of training load, PA levels and body composition (i.e. muscle mass, fat mass) (Cray et al., 2015; Gracia-Marco, Vicente-Rodríguez, et al., 2011). Due to the differences between young athletes and non-athletes, at those levels, it is interesting to investigate if the association between PF and peripheral bone outcomes are also different in these two groups.

# 2.9 - METHODOLOGIES TO ASSESS BONE HEALTH IN YOUTH.

Bone health in youth can be assessed using dual-energy radiograph absorptiometry (DXA), quantitative computed tomography (QCT), peripheral QCT (pOCT), high-resolution peripheral OC (HR-pOCT), quantitative bone ultrasonometry (QUS), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or plain films (radiogrammetry). Three-dimensional densitometry methodologies (QCT, pQCT and HR-pQCT and MRI) are the gold standards because they are able to measure volumetric BMD as well as aspets of bone architecture. However, assessments using these techniques in pediatric populations are difficult to interpret due to lack of standardised scanning protocols and normative data. Therefore, DXA is the method preferred for clinical assessments of bone density in youth, because it is reproducible, is not time-consuming, has lower radiation exposure, and there are robust pediatric reference data available (Bachrach & Gordon, 2016). Notwithstanding, DXA concerns are the higher radiation and the potential misinterpretation of DXA pediatric data which generate restrictions on physical activity or unnecessary use of drugs, while the QCT method has high costs associated (Maggioli & Stagi, 2017). Despite its advantages over the other imaging techniques, DXA's measure of BMD is influenced by changes in bone sizes during the growth. Due to its two-dimentional nature, DXA tends to underestimate the BMD in small individuals and overestimate it in large individuals. (Binkley, Berry, & Specker, 2008).

The principle behind QUS, is that the speed at which ultrasound waves pass through or along the bone, is proportional to both the density and the structural properties of bone. Ultrasound is emitted by the generating transducers, are transmitted along the bone and then are received at the detectors. Proprietary techniques subtract the time during which the signal travels through soft tissue, and the results reflect the strength of bone (Figure 2.12).



Figure 2.12 - The ultrasound equipment used in this study.

QUS is highly correlated with several bone characteristics assessed by DXA (Sievanen, Cheng, Ollikainen, & Uusi-Rasi, 2001) and reflect a range of bone status factors, such as elasticity, structure, microstructure, and cortical thickness, which are essential aspects to overall bone strength (Baroncelli, 2008). SoS values are positively associated with cortical thickness and inversely associated with fracture risk factors (Clark, Ness, Bishop, & Tobias, 2006).

QUS is considering an excellent method to assess the bone health status in youth, due to it is portability, use of no radiation, and it is ability to take into consideration factors such as the variation of the physical distribution of trabecular or cortical bone at the region of interest (i.e. distal 1/3 radius [R-SoS] and mid-shaft tibia [T-SoS]), sex, age, maturity, and body composition, when measuring bone values (Maggioli & Stagi, 2017).

# 2.10 - THE AIM OF THIS INVESTIGATION

The overall aim of this thesis was to understand the relationships between PA, PF and values of QUS in young athletes and non-athletes. Moreover, assess how testing of PF in youth may be a strategy for the promotion of young sport participation as well as a way to assess bone health in youth.

The present dissertation presents four research works under the framework of PF, young SP and bone health.

**Investigation 1** (in chapter 4) was conducted to analyse the reliability of FITescola® tests in young athletes from a different sports background and competition levels. This program of fitness tests was previously validated for the general population, where athletes were not differentiated from non-athletes. The reliability of FITescola® in young athletes is important to standardise PF tests in different populations with several types and intensities of PA to assess sports performance.

**Investigation 2** (in chapter 5) assessed the specificity and sensibility of each PF test, as well as their cut-off based on sex and age for being able to identify potential young athletes in a school context according to the sex, chronologic age and individual performance.

**Investigation 3** (in chapter 6) was conducted to understand the associations of several tests from FITescola® with R-SoS and T-SoS in young athletes and non-athletes. Consequently, the aim of this investigation was to fill a gap in knowledge regarding the relationship between PF and bone health.

PA plays an essential role in bone health during the period of adolescence; however, other indirect effects such as sex, maturity, body composition, nutrition or PF level can affect this relationship. Therefore the aim of **investigation 4** (in chapter 7) was to investigate the indirect effect of VPA, mediated by PF and/or fat mass (%), on R-SoS and T-SoS in adolescents.

### 2.11 - REFERENCES

- Abrams, S. A. (2011). Calcium and vitamin D requirements for optimal bone mass during adolescence. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*, 14(6), 605-609. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e32834b2b01
- Academy, A. (2019). Developing Champions Aspire Academy student-athletes. Retrieved 25/07/2019, 2019, from https://www.aspire.qa/Sports.aspx
- Ahmetov, I. I., Egorova, E. S., Gabdrakhmanova, L. J., & Fedotovskaya, O. N. (2016). Genes and Athletic Performance: An Update. *61*, 41-54. doi: 10.1159/000445240
- Ahmetov, I. I., & Fedotovskaya, O. N. (2012). Sports genomics: Current state of knowledge and future directions. *Cellular and Molecular Exercise Physiology*, 1(1). doi: 10.7457/cmep.v1i1.e1
- AIS, A. S. C.-. (2017). Addressing the decline in sport participation in secondary schools: Australian Sports Commission.
- An, P., Pérusse, L., Rankinen, T., Borecki, I. B., Gagnon, J., Leon, A. S., ... Rao, D. C. (2003).
   Familial Aggregation of Exercise Heart Rate and Blood Pressure in Response to 20
   Weeks of Endurance Training: The HERITAGE Family Study. *International Journal* of Sports Medicine, 24(1), 57-62. doi: 10.1055/s-2003-37200
- Armstrong, N., & Barker, A. R. (2012). New insights in paediatric exercise metabolism. Journal of Sport and Health Science, 1(1), 18-26. doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2011.12.001
- Armstrong, N., & McManus, A. M. (2010). Physiology of Elite Young Male Athletes. 56, 1-22. doi: 10.1159/000320618
- Armstrong, N., & McManus, A. M. (2011). Physiology of elite young male athletes. *Med Sport Sci*, 56, 1-22. doi: 10.1159/000320618

- Armstrong, N., van Mechelen, W., Armstrong, N., & Barker, A. R. (2017). Physiological monitoring of elite young athletes. In N. A. a. W. v. Mechelen (Ed.), Oxford Textbook of Children's Sport and Exercise Medicine (Vol. 1): Oxford University Press.
- Armstrong, N., van Mechelen, W., Armstrong, N., & McManus, A. M. (2017). Development of the young athlete Oxford Textbook of Children's Sport and Exercise Medicine (3 ed., Vol. 1): Oxford University Press.
- Armstrong, N., van Mechelen, W., Schutte, N. M., Bartels, M., & de Geus, E. J. C. (2017). Genetics of physical activity and physical fitness Oxford Textbook of Children's Sport and Exercise Medicine (3 ed., Vol. 1): Oxford University Press.
- Armstrong, N., & Welsman, J. (2001). Peak oxygen uptake in relation to growth and maturation in 11- to 17–year-old humans. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 85(6), 546-551. doi: 10.1007/s004210100485
- Artero, E. G., España-Romero, V., Castro-Piñero, J., Ortega, F. B., Suni, J., Castillo-Garzon,
  M. J., & Ruiz, J. R. (2010). Reliability of Field-Based Fitness Tests in Youth. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 32(03), 159-169. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1268488
- Aziziyeh, R., Amin, M., Habib, M., Garcia Perlaza, J., Szafranski, K., McTavish, R. K., . . .
  Cameron, C. (2019). The burden of osteoporosis in four Latin American countries:
  Brazil, Mexico, Colombia, and Argentina. J Med Econ, 1. doi: 10.1080/13696998.2019.1590843
- Bachrach, L. K., & Gordon, C. M. (2016). Bone Densitometry in Children and Adolescents. *Pediatrics*, 138(4), e20162398-e20162398. doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-2398
- Bailey, D. A., McKay, H. A., Mirwald, R. L., Crocker, P. R. E., & Faulkner, R. A. (1999). A Six-Year Longitudinal Study of the Relationship of Physical Activity to Bone Mineral Accrual in Growing Children: The University of Saskatchewan Bone Mineral Accrual

Study. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 14(10), 1672-1679. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.1999.14.10.1672

- Bailey, R. (2006). Physical Education and Sport in Schools: A Review of Benefits and Outcomes. Journal of School Health, 76(8), 397-401. doi: 10.1111/j.1746-1561.2006.00132.x
- Bailey RP, C. D., Ford PA, MacNamara Á, Pearce G, Toms M. (2010). Participant development in sport: an academic literature review *Commissioned report for Sports Coach UK*. Leeds: Sports Coach Uk.
- Baker, J., Schorer, J., & Wattie, N. (2017). Compromising Talent: Issues in Identifying and Selecting Talent in Sport. *Quest*, 70(1), 48-63. doi: 10.1080/00336297.2017.1333438
- Balyi, I., & Hamilton, A. (2003). Long-Term Athlete Development: Trainability in children and adolescents. Windows of opportunity. Optimal trainability. Paper presented at the Scottish Strength and Conditioning Seminar, Largs.
- Balyi, I., Way, R., and Higgs, C. (2013). *Long-Term Athlete Development*. Champaign, IL.: Human Kinetics.
- Bangsbo, J., Iaia, F. M., & Krustrup, P. (2008). The Yo-Yo Intermittent Recovery Test. *Sports Med*, *38*(1), 37-51. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200838010-00004
- Baptista, F., Mil-Homens, P., Carita, A. I., Janz, K., & Sardinha, L. B. (2016). Peak Vertical Jump Power as a Marker of Bone Health in Children. *Int J Sports Med*, 37(8), 653-658. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-105290
- Baroncelli, G. I. (2008). Quantitative Ultrasound Methods to Assess Bone Mineral Status in Children: Technical Characteristics, Performance, and Clinical Application. *Pediatric Research*, 63, 220. doi: 10.1203/PDR.0b013e318163a286

- Bazyler, C. D., Abbott, H. A., Bellon, C. R., Taber, C. B., & Stone, M. H. (2015). Strength Training for Endurance Athletes. *Strength and Conditioning Journal*, 37(2), 1-12. doi: 10.1519/ssc.000000000000131
- Beato, M., Bianchi, M., Coratella, G., Merlini, M., & Drust, B. (2018). Effects of Plyometric and Directional Training on Speed and Jump Performance in Elite Youth Soccer Players. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 32(2), 289-296. doi: 10.1519/jsc.00000000002371
- Behm, D. G. (1995). Neuromuscular Implications and Applications of Resistance Training. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 9(4), 264-274.
- Bergeron, M. F., Mountjoy, M., Armstrong, N., Chia, M., Côté, J., Emery, C. A., . . . Engebretsen, L. (2015). International Olympic Committee consensus statement on youth athletic development. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 49(13), 843-851. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-094962
- Beunen, G. P., Peeters, M. W., & Malina, R. M. (2010). Twin Studies in Sport Performance. 101-109. doi: 10.1002/9781444327335.ch9
- Binkley, T. L., Berry, R., & Specker, B. L. (2008). Methods for measurement of pediatric bone. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*, 9(2), 95-106. doi: 10.1007/s11154-008-9073-5
- Bouchard, C., An, P., Rice, T., Skinner, J. S., Wilmore, J. H., Gagnon, J., ... Rao, D. C. (1999).
  Familial aggregation ofV'o 2 max response to exercise training: results from the HERITAGE Family Study. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 87(3), 1003-1008. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1999.87.3.1003
- Bouchard, C., Blair, S. N., & Haskell, W. (2012). *Physical Activity and Health 2nd Edition*:Human Kinetics.
- Bouchard, C., Hoffman, Eric P. (2011). *Genetic and Molecular Aspects of Sport Performance, XVIII*.

- Bouchard, C., Leon, A. S., Rao, D. C., Skinner, J. S., Wilmore, J. H., & Gagnon, J. (1995). The HERITAGE family study. Aims, design, and measurement protocol. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 27(5), 721-729.
- Bouchard, C., Sarzynski, M. A., Rice, T. K., Kraus, W. E., Church, T. S., Sung, Y. J., . . . Rankinen, T. (2011). Genomic predictors of the maximal O2 uptake response to standardized exercise training programs. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *110*(5), 1160-1170. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00973.2010
- Boullosa, D., Sterkowicz-Przybycień, K., Sterkowicz, S., Biskup, L., Żarów, R., Kryst, Ł., &
  Ozimek, M. (2019). Somatotype, body composition, and physical fitness in artistic gymnasts depending on age and preferred event. *Plos One, 14*(2), e0211533. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0211533
- Braam, K. I., van der Torre, P., Takken, T., Veening, M. A., van Dulmen-den Broeder, E., & Kaspers, G. J. L. (2016). Physical exercise training interventions for children and young adults during and after treatment for childhood cancer. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD008796.pub3
- Bruce, E. S., Lunt, L., & McDonagh, J. E. (2017). Sleep in adolescents and young adults. *Clinical Medicine*, 17(5), 424-428. doi: 10.7861/clinmedicine.17-5-424
- Buchs, B., Slosman, D., Theintz, G., Bonjour, J.-P., & Rizzoli, R. (1991). Critical Years and Stages of Puberty for Spinal and Femoral Bone Mass Accumulation during Adolescence\*. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 73(3), 555-563. doi: 10.1210/jcem-73-3-555
- Bull, F., Milton, K., Kahlmeier, S., Arlotti, A., Juričan, A. B., Belander, O., . . . Vlasveld, A. (2015). Turning the tide: national policy approaches to increasing physical activity in seven European countries. *British Journal of Sports Medicine, 49*(11), 749-756. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2013-093200

- Cadegiani, F. A., & Kater, C. E. (2019). Novel insights of overtraining syndrome discovered from the EROS study. *BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine*, 5(1), e000542. doi: 10.1136/bmjsem-2019-000542
- Caine, D., Walch, T., & Sabato, T. (2016). The elite young athlete: strategies to ensure physical and emotional health. *Open Access Journal of Sports Medicine, Volume 7*, 99-113. doi: 10.2147/oajsm.s96821
- Calleja-González, J., Mielgo-Ayuso, J., Lekue, J. A., Leibar, X., Erauzkin, J., Jukic, I., . . . Terrados, N. (2016). The Spanish "Century XXI" academy for developing elite level basketballers: design, monitoring and training methodologies. *The Physician and Sportsmedicine*, 44(2), 148-157. doi: 10.1080/00913847.2016.1168270
- Campbell, N., Jesus, S., & Prapavessis, H. (2013). Physical Fitness. 1486-1489. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-9\_1167
- Canada, P. H. A. o. (2018). A Common Vision for Increasing Physical Activity and Reducing Sedentary Living in Canada. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-

aspc/documents/services/publications/healthy-living/lets-get-moving/pub-eng.pdf.

- Caspersen, C. J., Powell, K. E., & Christenson, G. M. (1985). Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public health reports (Washington, D.C. : 1974), 100*(2), 126-131.
- Chatterjee, S., & Das, N. (1995). Physical and motor fitness in twins. *Jpn J Physiol*, 45(3), 519-534. doi: 10.2170/jjphysiol.45.519
- Chen, Y., Cui, Y., Chen, S., & Wu, Z. (2017). Relationship between sleep and muscle strength among Chinese university students: a cross-sectional study. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact, 17(4), 327-333.

- Chiwaridzo, M., Munambah, N., Oorschot, S., Magume, D., Dambi, J. M., Ferguson, G., & Smits-Engelsman, B. C. M. (2019). Coaches' perceptions on qualities defining good adolescent rugby players and are important for player recruitment in talent identification programs: the SCRuM project. *BMC Research Notes*, 12(1). doi: 10.1186/s13104-019-4170-y
- Clark, E. M., Ness, A. R., Bishop, N. J., & Tobias, J. H. (2006). Association between bone mass and fractures in children: a prospective cohort study. *J Bone Miner Res*, 21(9), 1489-1495. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.060601
- Clark, E. M., Tobias, J. H., Murray, L., & Boreham, C. (2011). Children with low muscle strength are at an increased risk of fracture with exposure to exercise. *J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact*, 11(2), 196-202.
- Clarke, B. (2008). Normal bone anatomy and physiology. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 3 Suppl 3*, S131-139. doi: 10.2215/CJN.04151206
- Committee, P. A. G. A. (2018). 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Scientific Report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Compston, J. E., McClung, M. R., & Leslie, W. D. (2019). Osteoporosis. *The Lancet*, 393(10169), 364-376. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(18)32112-3
- COP, C. O. d. P.-. (2019). Anuário do treino desportivo Esperanças Olímpicas. Lisboa.
- Cray, J., Torres-Costoso, A., Gracia-Marco, L., Sánchez-López, M., Notario-Pacheco, B., Arias-Palencia, N., & Martínez-Vizcaíno, V. (2015). Physical Activity and Bone Health in Schoolchildren: The Mediating Role of Fitness and Body Fat. *Plos One*, *10*(4), e0123797. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0123797
- Crowley, S. J., Tarokh, L., & Carskadon, M. A. (2014). Chapter 6 Sleep during Adolescence. In S. H. Sheldon, R. Ferber, M. H. Kryger & D. Gozal (Eds.), *Principles and Practice*

of Pediatric Sleep Medicine (Second Edition) (pp. 45-51). Philadelphia: Content Repository Only!

- Daly, R. M., Saxon, L., Turner, C. H., Robling, A. G., & Bass, S. L. (2004). The relationship between muscle size and bone geometry during growth and in response to exercise. *Bone*, 34(2), 281-287. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2003.11.009
- Daugbjerg, S. B., Kahlmeier, S., Racioppi, F., Martin-Diener, E., Martin, B., Oja, P., & Bull,
  F. (2009). Promotion of Physical Activity in the European Region: Content Analysis
  of 27 National Policy Documents. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 6(6), 805-817. doi: 10.1123/jpah.6.6.805
- De Moor, M. H. M., Spector, T. D., Cherkas, L. F., Falchi, M., Hottenga, J. J., Boomsma, D. I., & De Geus, E. J. C. (2012). Genome-Wide Linkage Scan for Athlete Status in 700
  British Female DZ Twin Pairs. *Twin Research and Human Genetics*, *10*(6), 812-820. doi: 10.1375/twin.10.6.812
- Desbrow, B., McCormack, J., Burke, L. M., Cox, G. R., Fallon, K., Hislop, M., . . . Leveritt,
  M. (2014). Sports Dietitians Australia Position Statement: Sports Nutrition for the
  Adolescent Athlete. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism*, 24(5), 570-584. doi: 10.1123/ijsnem.2014-0031
- Devries, M. C. (2016). Sex-based differences in endurance exercise muscle metabolism: impact on exercise and nutritional strategies to optimize health and performance in women. *Experimental Physiology*, *101*(2), 243-249. doi: 10.1113/ep085369
- Dias Quiterio, A. L., Carnero, E. A., Baptista, F. M., & Sardinha, L. B. (2011). Skeletal mass in adolescent male athletes and nonathletes: relationships with high-impact sports. J Strength Cond Res, 25(12), 3439-3447. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e318216003b
- Ding, D., Lawson, K. D., Kolbe-Alexander, T. L., Finkelstein, E. A., Katzmarzyk, P. T., van Mechelen, W., & Pratt, M. (2016). The economic burden of physical inactivity: a

global analysis of major non-communicable diseases. *The Lancet, 388*(10051), 1311-1324. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(16)30383-x

- Docherty, D., & Sporer, B. (2000). A Proposed Model for Examining the Interference Phenomenon between Concurrent Aerobic and Strength Training. Sports Med, 30(6), 385-394. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200030060-00001
- Duan, Y., Beck, T. J., Wang, X. F., & Seeman, E. (2003). Structural and biomechanical basis of sexual dimorphism in femoral neck fragility has its origins in growth and aging. J Bone Miner Res, 18(10), 1766-1774. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.2003.18.10.1766
- Eime, R. M., Harvey, J. T., Charity, M. J., Casey, M. M., van Uffelen, J. G. Z., & Payne, W.
  R. (2015). The contribution of sport participation to overall health enhancing physical activity levels in Australia: a population-based study. *BMC Public Health*, 15(1). doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2156-9
- Elferink-Gemser M.T., V., C. (2012). *Talent identification and development in sport*. *International perspectives*. (J. S. J. Baker, S. Cobley Ed.). London: Routlegde.
- Faulkner, R. A., Davison, K. S., Bailey, D. A., Mirwald, R. L., & Baxter-Jones, A. D. (2006).
  Size-corrected BMD decreases during peak linear growth: implications for fracture incidence during adolescence. *J Bone Miner Res, 21*(12), 1864-1870. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.060907
- Faustino-da-Silva, Y. d. S. V., Agostinete, R. R., Werneck, A. O., Maillane-Vanegas, S., Lynch, K. R., Exupério, I. N., . . . Fernandes, R. A. (2018). Track and Field Practice and Bone Outcomes among Adolescents: A Pilot Study (ABCD-Growth Study). *Journal of Bone Metabolism*, 25(1), 35. doi: 10.11005/jbm.2018.25.1.35
- Fobian, A. D., Elliott, L., & Louie, T. (2018). A Systematic Review of Sleep, Hypertension, and Cardiovascular Risk in Children and Adolescents. *Curr Hypertens Rep*, 20(5), 42. doi: 10.1007/s11906-018-0841-7

- Fonseca, R. M., de Franca, N. M., & Van Praagh, E. (2008). Relationship between indicators of fitness and bone density in adolescent Brazilian children. *Pediatr Exerc Sci*, 20(1), 40-49.
- Ford, P., De Ste Croix, M., Lloyd, R., Meyers, R., Moosavi, M., Oliver, J., ... Williams, C. (2011). The Long-Term Athlete Development model: Physiological evidence and application. *Journal of Sports Sciences, 29*(4), 389-402. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2010.536849
- FPF, F. P. d. F.-. (2018, June 2018). FPF Etapas de Desenvolvimento do Jogador no Futebol. Lisboa.
- Frost, H. M. (1996). Perspectives: A proposed general model of the "mechanostat" (suggestions from a new skeletal-biologic paradigm). *The Anatomical Record*, 244(2), 139-147. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0185(199602)244:2<139::aid-ar1>3.0.co;2-x
- Frost, H. M. (2003). Bone's mechanostat: a 2003 update. Anat Rec A Discov Mol Cell Evol Biol, 275(2), 1081-1101. doi: 10.1002/ar.a.10119
- Fukuda, D. H. (2018). Assessments for Sport and Athletic Performance: Human Kinetics, Incorporated.
- Gäbler, M., Prieske, O., Hortobágyi, T., & Granacher, U. (2018). The Effects of Concurrent Strength and Endurance Training on Physical Fitness and Athletic Performance in Youth: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 9. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01057
- Gallahue DL, O. J. (1998). Understanding Motor Development: Infants, Children, Adolescents, Adult (5 ed.). Boston: McGraw-Hill.
- García-Hermoso, A., Aguilar, M. M., Vergara, F. A., Velásquez, E. J. A., & Marina, R. (2015). Obesity, Cardiorespiratory Fitness, and Self-Reported Sleep Patterns in Chilean

School-Aged Children. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 15(1), 70-80. doi: 10.1080/15402002.2015.1083023

- Garcia-Hermoso, A., Ramirez-Campillo, R., & Izquierdo, M. (2019). Is Muscular Fitness
  Associated with Future Health Benefits in Children and Adolescents? A Systematic
  Review and Meta-Analysis of Longitudinal Studies. *Sports Med*, 49(7), 1079-1094.
  doi: 10.1007/s40279-019-01098-6
- Gastin, P. B. (2001). Energy System Interaction and Relative Contribution During Maximal Exercise. *Sports Med*, *31*(10), 725-741. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200131100-00003
- Gilbert, S. F. (2000). Chromosomal Sex Determination in Mammals. Developmental Biology. 6th edition. Retrieved 1/17/2020, 2020, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK9967/
- Goh, K. P., Chew, K., Koh, A., Guan, M., Wong, Y. S., & Sum, C. F. (2009). The relationship between ACE gene ID polymorphism and aerobic capacity in Asian rugby players. *Singapore Med J*, 50(10), 997-1003.
- Goldring, S. R. (2015). The osteocyte: key player in regulating bone turnover. *RMD Open*, *1*(Suppl 1), e000049. doi: 10.1136/rmdopen-2015-000049
- Gomez-Bruton, A., Matute-Llorente, A., Gonzalez-Aguero, A., Casajus, J. A., & Vicente-Rodriguez, G. (2017). Plyometric exercise and bone health in children and adolescents: a systematic review. World J Pediatr, 13(2), 112-121. doi: 10.1007/s12519-016-0076-0
- Goolsby, M. A., & Boniquit, N. (2016). Bone Health in Athletes. Sports Health: A Multidisciplinary Approach, 9(2), 108-117. doi: 10.1177/1941738116677732
- Gordon, C. M., Leonard, M. B., & Zemel, B. S. (2014). 2013 Pediatric Position Development Conference: Executive Summary and Reflections. *Journal of Clinical Densitometry*, *17*(2), 219-224. doi: 10.1016/j.jocd.2014.01.007

- Gould, D. (2010). Early Sport Specialization. Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance, 81(8), 33-37. doi: 10.1080/07303084.2010.10598525
- Gracia-Marco, L., Moreno, L. A., Ortega, F. B., Leon, F., Sioen, I., Kafatos, A., . . . Group, H.
  S. (2011). Levels of physical activity that predict optimal bone mass in adolescents: the HELENA study. *Am J Prev Med*, 40(6), 599-607. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2011.03.001
- Gracia-Marco, L., Vicente-Rodríguez, G., Casajús, J. A., Molnar, D., Castillo, M. J., & Moreno, L. A. (2011). Effect of fitness and physical activity on bone mass in adolescents: the HELENA Study. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 111(11), 2671-2680. doi: 10.1007/s00421-011-1897-0
- Granacher, U., & Borde, R. (2017). Effects of Sport-Specific Training during the Early Stages of Long-Term Athlete Development on Physical Fitness, Body Composition, Cognitive, and Academic Performances. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 8. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00810
- Green, B. C. (2005). Building Sport Programs to Optimize Athlete Recruitment, Retention, and Transition: Toward a Normative Theory of Sport Development. *Journal of Sport Management*, 19(3), 233-253. doi: 10.1123/jsm.19.3.233
- Green, K., Thurston, M., Vaage, O., & Roberts, K. (2013). '[We're on the right track, baby], we were born this way'! Exploring sports participation in Norway. *Sport, Education* and Society, 20(3), 285-303. doi: 10.1080/13573322.2013.769947
- Grima, S., & Thalassinos, E. (2017). Theoretical Models for Sports Participation: Literature Review. 5, 94-116.
- Grøntved, A., Ried-Larsen, M., Møller, N. C., Kristensen, P. L., Froberg, K., Brage, S., & Andersen, L. B. (2015). Muscle strength in youth and cardiovascular risk in young

adulthood (the European Youth Heart Study). British Journal of Sports Medicine, 49(2), 90-94. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2012-091907

- Gunter, K. B., Almstedt, H. C., & Janz, K. F. (2012). Physical Activity in Childhood May Be the Key to Optimizing Lifespan Skeletal Health. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, 40(1), 13-21. doi: 10.1097/JES.0b013e318236e5ee
- Guthold, R., Stevens, G. A., Riley, L. M., & Bull, F. C. (2018). Worldwide trends in insufficient physical activity from 2001 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 358 population-based surveys with 1.9 million participants. *The Lancet Global Health, 6*(10), e1077-e1086. doi: 10.1016/s2214-109x(18)30357-7
- Hakkinen, K., Mero, A., & Kauhanen, H. (1989). Specificity of endurance, sprint and strength training on physical performance capacity in young athletes. J Sports Med Phys Fitness, 29(1), 27-35.
- Haycraft, J. A. Z., Kovalchik, S., Pyne, D. B., & Robertson, S. (2017). Physical characteristics of players within the Australian Football League participation pathways: a systematic review. *Sports Medicine - Open*, 3(1). doi: 10.1186/s40798-017-0109-9
- Hedström, E. M., Svensson, O., Bergström, U., & Michno, P. (2010). Epidemiology of fractures in children and adolescents. Acta Orthopaedica, 81(1), 148-153. doi: 10.3109/17453671003628780
- Heydenreich, J., Kayser, B., Schutz, Y., & Melzer, K. (2017). Total Energy Expenditure, Energy Intake, and Body Composition in Endurance Athletes Across the Training Season: A Systematic Review. *Sports Medicine - Open*, 3(1). doi: 10.1186/s40798-017-0076-1
- Heyward, V. H., Johannes-Ellis, S. M., & Romer, J. F. (1986). Gender Differences in Strength. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 57(2), 154-159. doi: 10.1080/02701367.1986.10762192

- Hillman, C. H., Castelli, D. M., & Buck, S. M. (2005). Aerobic Fitness and Neurocognitive
  Function in Healthy Preadolescent Children. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 37(11), 1967-1974. doi: 10.1249/01.mss.0000176680.79702.ce
- Hirshkowitz, M., Whiton, K., Albert, S. M., Alessi, C., Bruni, O., DonCarlos, L., . . . Ware, J.
  C. (2015). National Sleep Foundation's updated sleep duration recommendations: final report. *Sleep Health*, 1(4), 233-243. doi: 10.1016/j.sleh.2015.10.004
- Hoare, D. G. (2000). Predicting success in junior elite basketball players the contribution of anthropometic and physiological attributes. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 3(4), 391-405. doi: 10.1016/s1440-2440(00)80006-7
- Hong, Y., Rice, T., & Gagnon, J. (2000). Familiality of triglyceride and LPL response to exercise training: the HERITAGE Study. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 32(8), 1438-1444. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200008000-00012
- Huang, C., & Ogawa, R. (2010). Mechanotransduction in bone repair and regeneration. *FASEB J*, 24(10), 3625-3632. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-157370
- IPDJ, I. P. d. D. e. J.-. (2009). 10.° Seminário Internacional de Treino de Jovens SITJ-2009. Retrieved 25/07/2019, 2019, from http://www.idesporto.pt/conteudo.aspx?id=61&idMenu=9
- Izard, R. M., Fraser, W. D., Negus, C., Sale, C., & Greeves, J. P. (2016). Increased density and periosteal expansion of the tibia in young adult men following short-term arduous training. *Bone*, 88, 13-19. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2016.03.015
- Janssen, I., & LeBlanc, A. G. (2010). Systematic review of the health benefits of physical activity and fitness in school-aged children and youth. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 7(1), 40. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-7-40
- Jenkins, P. J., Keating, J. F., & Simpson, A. H. (2010). Fractures of the tibial shaft. *Surgery* (*Oxford*), 28(10), 489-493. doi: 10.1016/j.mpsur.2010.07.006

- Johnston, K., Wattie, N., Schorer, J., & Baker, J. (2017). Talent Identification in Sport: A Systematic Review. *Sports Med*, 48(1), 97-109. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0803-2
- Jones, B., Weaving, D., Tee, J., Darrall-Jones, J., Weakley, J., Phibbs, P., . . . Till, K. (2018). Bigger, stronger, faster, fitter: the differences in physical qualities of school and academy rugby union players. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 36(21), 2399-2404. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2018.1458589
- Jones, M., Jagim, A., Haff, G., Carr, P., Martin, J., & Oliver, J. (2016). Greater Strength Drives Difference in Power between Sexes in the Conventional Deadlift Exercise. Sports, 4(3), 43. doi: 10.3390/sports4030043
- Joyner, M. J. (2019). Genetic Approaches for Sports Performance: How Far Away Are We? Sports Med, 49(S2), 199-204. doi: 10.1007/s40279-019-01164-z
- Joyner, M. J., & Lundby, C. (2018). Concepts About V'O2max and Trainability Are Context Dependent. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, 46(3), 138-143. doi: 10.1249/jes.000000000000150
- Joyner, M. J., & Paneth, N. (2019). Promises, promises, and precision medicine. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 129(3), 946-948. doi: 10.1172/jci126119
- Knowles, O. E., Drinkwater, E. J., Urwin, C. S., Lamon, S., & Aisbett, B. (2018). Inadequate sleep and muscle strength: Implications for resistance training. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 21*(9), 959-968. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2018.01.012
- Knufinke, M., Nieuwenhuys, A., Geurts, S. A. E., Møst, E. I. S., Maase, K., Moen, M. H., ... Kompier, M. A. J. (2018). Train hard, sleep well? Perceived training load, sleep quantity and sleep stage distribution in elite level athletes. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 21*(4), 427-432. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2017.07.003

- Kohrt, W. M., Barry, D. W., & Schwartz, R. S. (2009). Muscle forces or gravity: what predominates mechanical loading on bone? *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 41(11), 2050-2055. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181a8c717
- Kostek, M. C., Delmonico, M. J., Reichel, J. B., Roth, S. M., Douglass, L., Ferrell, R. E., & Hurley, B. F. (2005). Muscle strength response to strength training is influenced by insulin-like growth factor 1 genotype in older adults. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 98(6), 2147-2154. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00817.2004
- Kramer, T., Huijgen, B. C., Elferink-Gemser, M. T., & Visscher, C. (2017). Prediction of Tennis Performance in Junior Elite Tennis Players. J Sports Sci Med, 16(1), 14-21.
- Larsen, P., Elsoe, R., Hansen, S. H., Graven-Nielsen, T., Laessoe, U., & Rasmussen, S. (2015). Incidence and epidemiology of tibial shaft fractures. *Injury*, 46(4), 746-750. doi: 10.1016/j.injury.2014.12.027
- Lee, J. E., Pope, Z., & Gao, Z. (2016). The Role of Youth Sports in Promoting Children's Physical Activity and Preventing Pediatric Obesity: A Systematic Review. *Behavioral Medicine*, 44(1), 62-76. doi: 10.1080/08964289.2016.1193462
- Li, P., De Bosscher, V., Pion, J., Weissensteiner, J. R., & Vertonghen, J. (2018). Is international junior success a reliable predictor for international senior success in elite combat sports? *European Journal of Sport Science*, 18(4), 550-559. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2018.1439104
- Lidor, R., Falk, B., Arnon, M., Cohen, Y., Segal, G., & Lander, Y. (2005). Measurement of Talent in Team Handball: The Questionable Use of Motor and Physical Tests. *The Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 19(2), 318. doi: 10.1519/1533-4287(2005)19[318:motith]2.0.co;2
- Lloyd, R. S., Cronin, J. B., Faigenbaum, A. D., Haff, G. G., Howard, R., Kraemer, W. J., ... Oliver, J. L. (2016). National Strength and Conditioning Association Position

Statement on Long-Term Athletic Development. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 30(6), 1491-1509. doi: 10.1519/jsc.000000000001387

- Lloyd, R. S., & Oliver, J. L. (2012). The Youth Physical Development Model. *Strength and Conditioning Journal*, *34*(3), 61-72. doi: 10.1519/SSC.0b013e31825760ea
- Lortie, G., Bouchard, C., Leblanc, C., Tremblay, A., Simoneau, J. A., Theriault, G., & Savoie,J. P. (1982). Familial similarity in aerobic power. *Hum Biol*, 54(4), 801-812.
- Lovell, T. W. J., Fransen, J., Bocking, C. J., & Coutts, A. J. (2019). Factors affecting sports involvement in a school-based youth cohort: Implications for long-term athletic development. *J Sports Sci*, 1-8. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2019.1647032
- Lozano-Berges, G., Matute-Llorente, Á., Gómez-Bruton, A., González-Agüero, A., Vicente-Rodríguez, G., & Casajús, J. A. (2018). Bone geometry in young male and female football players: a peripheral quantitative computed tomography (pQCT) study. *Archives of Osteoporosis, 13*(1). doi: 10.1007/s11657-018-0472-2
- Maes, H. H. M., Beunen, G. P., Vlietinck, R. F., Neale, M. C., Thomis, M., Eynde, B. V., ...
  Derom, R. (1996). Inheritance of physical fitness in 10-yr-old twins and their parents. *Medicine & amp Science in Sports & amp Exercise*, 28(12), 1479-1491. doi: 10.1097/00005768-199612000-00007
- Maggioli, C., & Stagi, S. (2017). Bone modeling, remodeling, and skeletal health in children and adolescents: mineral accrual, assessment and treatment. *Ann Pediatr Endocrinol Metab*, 22(1), 1-5. doi: 10.6065/apem.2017.22.1.1
- Malina, R. M., & Mueller, W. H. (1981). Genetic and environmental influences on the strength and motor performance of Philadelphia school children. *Hum Biol*, *53*(2), 163-179.

- Malina, R. M. B., Claude; Bar-Or, Oded. (2004). *Growth, maturation, and physical activity*. Champaign (III.): Human kinetics.
- Marques, A., Santos, D. A., Hillman, C. H., & Sardinha, L. B. (2018). How does academic achievement relate to cardiorespiratory fitness, self-reported physical activity and objectively reported physical activity: a systematic review in children and adolescents aged 6–18 years. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 52(16), 1039-1039. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-097361
- Mascherini, G. (2017). Differences between the sexes in athletes body composition and lower limb bioimpedance values. *Muscles, Ligaments and Tendons Journal*, 7(4), 573. doi: 10.11138/mltj/2017.7.4.573
- McDevitt, H., McGowan, A., & Ahmed, S. F. (2014). Establishing good bone health in children. *Paediatrics and Child Health*, 24(2), 78-82. doi: 10.1016/j.paed.2013.08.007
- McManus, A. M., & Armstrong, N. (2010). Physiology of Elite Young Female Athletes. 56, 23-46. doi: 10.1159/000320626
- McPherron, A. C., Guo, T., Bond, N. D., & Gavrilova, O. (2014). Increasing muscle mass to improve metabolism. *Adipocyte*, 2(2), 92-98. doi: 10.4161/adip.22500
- Meng, Y., Manore, M., Schuna, J., Patton-Lopez, M., Branscum, A., & Wong, S. (2018).
  Promoting Healthy Diet, Physical Activity, and Life-Skills in High School Athletes:
  Results from the WAVE Ripples for Change Childhood Obesity Prevention Two-Year
  Intervention. *Nutrients*, 10(7), 947. doi: 10.3390/nu10070947
- Miller, A. E. J., MacDougall, J. D., Tarnopolsky, M. A., & Sale, D. G. (1993). Gender differences in strength and muscle fiber characteristics. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology*, 66(3), 254-262. doi: 10.1007/bf00235103

- Miller, B. F., Konopka, A. R., & Hamilton, K. L. (2016). The rigorous study of exercise adaptations: why mRNA might not be enough. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 121(2), 594-596. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00137.2016
- Mota, J., Coelho-e-Silva, M. J. o., Raimundo, A. M., & Sardinha, L. B. (2016). Results From Portugal's 2016 Report Card on Physical Activity for Children and Youth. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 13(s2), S242-S245. doi: 10.1123/jpah.2016-0293
- Mota, J., & Vale, S. (2009). Associations between sleep quality with cardiorespiratory fitness and BMI among adolescent girls. *American Journal of Human Biology*, 22(4), 473-475. doi: 10.1002/ajhb.21019
- Mounasamy, V., Patel, N., Horstman, J., Kuester, V., & Sambandam, S. (2018). Pediatric tibial shaft fractures. *Indian Journal of Orthopaedics*, 52(5), 522. doi: 10.4103/ortho.IJOrtho\_486\_17
- Mountjoy, M., Armstrong, N., Bizzini, L., Blimkie, C., Evans, J., Gerrard, D., . . . Van Mechelen, W. (2008). IOC consensus statement: "training the elite child athlete".
  British Journal of Sports Medicine, 42(3), 163-164. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2007.044016
- Mujika, I., Santisteban, J., Impellizzeri, F. M., & Castagna, C. (2009). Fitness determinants of success in men's and women's football. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 27(2), 107-114. doi: 10.1080/02640410802428071
- Murphy, M. H., Rowe, D. A., & Woods, C. B. (2016). Sports Participation in Youth as a Predictor of Physical Activity: A 5-Year Longitudinal Study. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 13(7), 704-711. doi: 10.1123/jpah.2015-0526
- Murphy, W. G. (2014). The sex difference in haemoglobin levels in adults Mechanisms, causes, and consequences. *Blood Reviews*, 28(2), 41-47. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2013.12.003

- O'Brien, W. (2019). Promoting active lifestyles in schools. *Sport, Education and Society,* 24(8), 907-911. doi: 10.1080/13573322.2019.1657326
- Onerup, A., Arvidsson, D., Blomqvist, Å., Daxberg, E.-L., Jivegård, L., Jonsdottir, I. H., ... Borjesson, M. (2019). Physical activity on prescription in accordance with the Swedish model increases physical activity: a systematic review. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 53(6), 383-388. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2018-099598
- Ortega, F. B., Ruiz, J. R., & Castillo, M. J. (2013). Physical activity, physical fitness, and overweight in children and adolescents: Evidence from epidemiologic studies. *Endocrinología y Nutrición (English Edition), 60*(8), 458-469. doi: 10.1016/j.endoen.2013.10.007
- Ortega, F. B., Ruiz, J. R., Castillo, M. J., & Sjostrom, M. (2008). Physical fitness in childhood and adolescence: a powerful marker of health. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 32(1), 1-11. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803774
- Palacios, G., Pedrero-Chamizo, R., Palacios, N., Maroto-Sanchez, B., Aznar, S., Gonzalez-Gross, M., & Group, E. S. (2015). Biomarkers of physical activity and exercise. *Nutr Hosp, 31 Suppl 3*, 237-244. doi: 10.3305/nh.2015.31.sup3.8771
- Palomäki, S., Hirvensalo, M., Smith, K., Raitakari, O., Männistö, S., Hutri-Kähönen, N., & Tammelin, T. (2018). Does organized sport participation during youth predict healthy habits in adulthood? A 28-year longitudinal study. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 28(8), 1908-1915. doi: 10.1111/sms.13205
- Petrigna, L., Karsten, B., Marcolin, G., Paoli, A., D'Antona, G., Palma, A., & Bianco, A. (2019). A Review of Countermovement and Squat Jump Testing Methods in the Context of Public Health Examination in Adolescence: Reliability and Feasibility of Current Testing Procedures. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 10. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01384

- Piasecki, J., McPhee, J. S., Hannam, K., Deere, K. C., Elhakeem, A., Piasecki, M., . . . Ireland,
  A. (2018). Hip and spine bone mineral density are greater in master sprinters, but not endurance runners compared with non-athletic controls. *Archives of Osteoporosis,* 13(1). doi: 10.1007/s11657-018-0486-9
- Pickering, C., & Kiely, J. (2017). ACTN3: More than Just a Gene for Speed. Frontiers in Physiology, 8. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.01080
- Pilegaard, H., Saltin, B., & Neufer, P. D. (2003). Exercise induces transient transcriptional activation of the PGC-1α gene in human skeletal muscle. *The Journal of Physiology*, 546(3), 851-858. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2002.034850
- Pion, J., Segers, V., Fransen, J., Debuyck, G., Deprez, D., Haerens, L., . . . Lenoir, M. (2014). Generic anthropometric and performance characteristics among elite adolescent boys in nine different sports. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 15(5), 357-366. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2014.944875
- Plaza-Carmona, M., Vicente-Rodríguez, G., Gómez-Cabello, A., Martín-García, M., Sánchez-Sánchez, J., Gallardo, L., & Ara, I. (2016). Higher bone mass in prepubertal and peripubertal female footballers. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 16(7), 877-883. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2016.1144794
- Puthucheary, Z., Skipworth, J. R. A., Rawal, J., Loosemore, M., Van Someren, K., & Montgomery, H. E. (2011). Genetic Influences in Sport and Physical Performance. *Sports Med*, 41(10), 845-859. doi: 10.2165/11593200-00000000000000
- Radák, Z. (2018a). Chapter 2 Skeletal Muscle, Function, and Muscle Fiber Types. In Z.Radák (Ed.), *The Physiology of Physical Training* (pp. 15-31): Academic Press.
- Radák, Z. (2018b). Chapter 13 Testing. In Z. Radák (Ed.), *The Physiology of Physical Training* (pp. 229-246): Academic Press.
- Ramos-Sepúlveda, J. A., Ramírez-Vélez, R., Correa-Bautista, J. E., Izquierdo, M., & García-Hermoso, A. (2016). Physical fitness and anthropometric normative values among Colombian-Indian schoolchildren. *BMC Public Health*, 16(1). doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3652-2
- Richter, Erik A., & Ruderman, Neil B. (2009). AMPK and the biochemistry of exercise: implications for human health and disease. *Biochemical Journal*, 418(2), 261-275. doi: 10.1042/bj20082055
- Rizzoli, R., Bianchi, M. L., Garabédian, M., McKay, H. A., & Moreno, L. A. (2010).
  Maximizing bone mineral mass gain during growth for the prevention of fractures in the adolescents and the elderly. *Bone*, 46(2), 294-305. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2009.10.005
- Robinson, M. M., Dasari, S., Konopka, A. R., Johnson, M. L., Manjunatha, S., Esponda, R.
  R., . . . Nair, K. S. (2017). Enhanced Protein Translation Underlies Improved Metabolic and Physical Adaptations to Different Exercise Training Modes in Young and Old Humans. *Cell Metabolism*, 25(3), 581-592. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.02.009
- Rongen, F., McKenna, J., Cobley, S., & Till, K. (2018). Are youth sport talent identification and development systems necessary and healthy? *Sports Medicine - Open, 4*(1). doi: 10.1186/s40798-018-0135-2
- Ross, R., Blair, S. N., Arena, R., Church, T. S., Despres, J. P., Franklin, B. A., . . . Stroke, C. (2016). Importance of Assessing Cardiorespiratory Fitness in Clinical Practice: A Case for Fitness as a Clinical Vital Sign: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation, 134*(24), e653-e699. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000461

Roth, S. M. (2007). Genetics Primer for Exercise Science and Health: Human Kinetics, Inc.

- Ruiz, J. R., Castro-Pinero, J., Artero, E. G., Ortega, F. B., Sjostrom, M., Suni, J., & Castillo, M. J. (2009). Predictive validity of health-related fitness in youth: a systematic review. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 43(12), 909-923. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2008.056499
- Ruiz, J. R., Castro-Pinero, J., Espana-Romero, V., Artero, E. G., Ortega, F. B., Cuenca, M. M., . . . Castillo, M. J. (2010). Field-based fitness assessment in young people: the ALPHA health-related fitness test battery for children and adolescents. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 45(6), 518-524. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2010.075341
- Ruiz, J. R., Ortega, F. B., Gutierrez, A., Meusel, D., Sjöström, M., & Castillo, M. J. (2006).
  Health-related fitness assessment in childhood and adolescence: a European approach based on the AVENA, EYHS and HELENA studies. *Journal of Public Health*, 14(5), 269-277. doi: 10.1007/s10389-006-0059-z
- Ryan, L. M., Teach, S. J., Searcy, K., Singer, S. A., Wood, R., Wright, J. L., & Chamberlain,
  J. M. (2010). Epidemiology of Pediatric Forearm Fractures in Washington, DC. *The Journal of Trauma: Injury, Infection, and Critical Care, 69*(Supplement), S200-S205. doi: 10.1097/TA.0b013e3181f1e837
- Schmidt, S. C. E., Tittlbach, S., Bös, K., & Woll, A. (2017). Different Types of Physical Activity and Fitness and Health in Adults: An 18-Year Longitudinal Study. *BioMed Research International*, 2017, 1-10. doi: 10.1155/2017/1785217
- Schutte, N. M., Nederend, I., Hudziak, J. J., Bartels, M., & de Geus, E. J. C. (2016). Twinsibling study and meta-analysis on the heritability of maximal oxygen consumption. *Physiological Genomics*, 48(3), 210-219. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00117.2015
- Schutte, N. M., Nederend, I., Hudziak, J. J., de Geus, E. J. C., & Bartels, M. (2015). Differences in Adolescent Physical Fitness: A Multivariate Approach and Metaanalysis. *Behavior Genetics*, 46(2), 217-227. doi: 10.1007/s10519-015-9754-2

- Seabra, A. F., Mendonça, D. M., Göring, H. H. H., Thomis, M. A., & Maia, J. A. (2008). Genetic and environmental factors in familial clustering in physical activity. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 23(3), 205-211. doi: 10.1007/s10654-008-9222-x
- Seabra, A. F., Mendonca, D. M., Thomis, M. A., Malina, R. M., & Maia, J. A. (2007). Sports participation among Portuguese youth 10 to 18 years. J Phys Act Health, 4(4), 370-380.
- Seitz, L. B., Reyes, A., Tran, T. T., de Villarreal, E. S., & Haff, G. G. (2014). Increases in Lower-Body Strength Transfer Positively to Sprint Performance: A Systematic Review with Meta-Analysis. *Sports Med*, 44(12), 1693-1702. doi: 10.1007/s40279-014-0227-1

Sharhey, B. J. (1986). Coaches Guide to Sport Physiology: Human kinetics.

- Sheldon, S. H. (2014). Chapter 1 The Function, Phylogeny and Ontogeny of Sleep. In S. H. Sheldon, R. Ferber, M. H. Kryger & D. Gozal (Eds.), *Principles and Practice of Pediatric Sleep Medicine (Second Edition)* (pp. 3-11). Philadelphia: Content Repository Only!
- Sievanen, H., Cheng, S., Ollikainen, S., & Uusi-Rasi, K. (2001). Ultrasound velocity and cortical bone characteristics in vivo. Osteoporos Int, 12(5), 399-405. doi: 10.1007/s001980170109
- Silva, G., Andersen, L. B., Aires, L., Mota, J., Oliveira, J., & Ribeiro, J. C. (2013). Associations between sports participation, levels of moderate to vigorous physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness in childrenand adolescents. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 31(12), 1359-1367. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2013.781666
- Simoes, D. C. M., & Vogiatzis, I. (2018). Can muscle protein metabolism be specifically targeted by exercise training in COPD? *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, 10(S12), S1367-S1376. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2018.02.67

- Slater, G. J., Dieter, B. P., Marsh, D. J., Helms, E. R., Shaw, G., & Iraki, J. (2019). Is an Energy Surplus Required to Maximize Skeletal Muscle Hypertrophy Associated With Resistance Training. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 6. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2019.00131
- Smith, J. J., Eather, N., Morgan, P. J., Plotnikoff, R. C., Faigenbaum, A. D., & Lubans, D. R. (2014). The health benefits of muscular fitness for children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Med*, 44(9), 1209-1223. doi: 10.1007/s40279-014-0196-4
- Smith, J. J., Eather, N., Weaver, R. G., Riley, N., Beets, M. W., & Lubans, D. R. (2019). Behavioral Correlates of Muscular Fitness in Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review. Sports Med, 49(6), 887-904. doi: 10.1007/s40279-019-01089-7
- Suchomel, T. J., Nimphius, S., Bellon, C. R., & Stone, M. H. (2018). The Importance of Muscular Strength: Training Considerations. Sports Med, 48(4), 765-785. doi: 10.1007/s40279-018-0862-z
- Suchomel, T. J., Nimphius, S., & Stone, M. H. (2016). The Importance of Muscular Strength in Athletic Performance. *Sports Med*, 46(10), 1419-1449. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0486-0
- Suppiah, H. T., Low, C. Y., & Chia, M. (2015). Detecting and developing youth athlete potential: different strokes for different folks are warranted. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 49(13), 878-882. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-094648
- Svedbom, A., Hernlund, E., Ivergård, M., Compston, J., Cooper, C., Stenmark, J., . . . IOF, t.
  E. r. p. o. t. (2013). Osteoporosis in the European Union: a compendium of country-specific reports. *Archives of Osteoporosis*, 8(1), 137. doi: 10.1007/s11657-013-0137-0

- Taylor, H. L., Buskirk, E., & Henschel, A. (1955). Maximal Oxygen Intake as an Objective Measure of Cardio-Respiratory Performance. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 8(1), 73-80. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1955.8.1.73
- Telford, R. M., Telford, R. D., Cochrane, T., Cunningham, R. B., Olive, L. S., & Davey, R. (2016). The influence of sport club participation on physical activity, fitness and body fat during childhood and adolescence: The LOOK Longitudinal Study. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 19*(5), 400-406. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2015.04.008
- The English Sport Council, S. (2016). Sport England: Towards and Active Nation. SportEnglandStrategy2016-2021.London:Retrievedfromwww.sportengland.org/activenation.
- Thibault, V., Guillaume, M., Berthelot, G., Helou, N. E., Schaal, K., Quinquis, L., . . . Toussaint, J.-F. (2010). Women and Men in Sport Performance: The Gender Gap has not Evolved since 1983. *Journal of sports science & medicine*, 9(2), 214-223.
- Thomson, D. (2018). The Role of AMPK in the Regulation of Skeletal Muscle Size, Hypertrophy, and Regeneration. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(10), 3125. doi: 10.3390/ijms19103125
- Tommasini, S. M., Nasser, P., Schaffler, M. B., & Jepsen, K. J. (2005). Relationship Between Bone Morphology and Bone Quality in Male Tibias: Implications for Stress Fracture Risk. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 20(8), 1372-1380. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.050326
- Torres-Costoso, A., Gracia-Marco, L., Sanchez-Lopez, M., Garcia-Prieto, J. C., Garcia-Hermoso, A., Diez-Fernandez, A., & Martinez-Vizcaino, V. (2015). Lean mass as a total mediator of the influence of muscular fitness on bone health in schoolchildren: a mediation analysis. *J Sports Sci*, 33(8), 817-830. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2014.964750

- Townsend N, W. K., Williams J, Bhatnagar P, Rayner M. (2015). Physical Activity Statistics 2015. London: British Heart Foundation: London.
- Trost, S. G., Blair, S. N., & Khan, K. M. (2014). Physical inactivity remains the greatest public health problem of the 21st century: evidence, improved methods and solutions using the '7 investments that work' as a framework. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 48(3), 169-170. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2013-093372
- Tucker, R., & Collins, M. (2012). What makes champions? A review of the relative contribution of genes and training to sporting success. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 46(8), 555-561. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2011-090548
- UKA, U. K. A.-. (2010). UKA Athlete Development Model V1.2.3. London: Retrieved from <u>http://coaching.uka.org.uk/coaching/athlete\_development</u>.
- Varley, I., Greeves, J., & Sale, C. (2018). Seasonal Difference in Bone Characteristics and Body Composition of Elite Speed Skaters. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 40(01), 9-15. doi: 10.1055/a-0767-6924
- Varley, I., Hughes, D., Greeves, J., Fraser, W., & Sale, C. (2017). Increased Training Volume Improves Bone Density and Cortical Area in Adolescent Football Players. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 38(05), 341-346. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-124510
- Vicente-Rodriguez, G., Ara, I., Perez-Gomez, J., Serrano-Sanchez, J. A., Dorado, C., & Calbet, J. A. L. (2004). High Femoral Bone Mineral Density Accretion in Prepubertal Soccer Players. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 36*(10), 1789-1795. doi: 10.1249/01.mss.0000142311.75866.d7
- Vicente-Rodríguez, G., Urzanqui, A., Mesana, M. I., Ortega, F. B., Ruiz, J. R., Ezquerra, J., .
  . Moreno, L. A. (2008). Physical fitness effect on bone mass is mediated by the independent association between lean mass and bone mass through adolescence: a

cross-sectional study. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism*, 26(3), 288-294. doi: 10.1007/s00774-007-0818-0

- Vuori, I., & Heinonen, A. (2000). Sport and Bone. 280-300. doi: 10.1002/9780470757093.ch19
- Wallhead, T., & O'Sullivan, M. (2005). Sport Education: physical education for the new millennium? *Physical Education & Sport Pedagogy*, 10(2), 181-210. doi: 10.1080/17408980500105098
- Weaver, C. M., Gordon, C. M., Janz, K. F., Kalkwarf, H. J., Lappe, J. M., Lewis, R., ... Zemel,
  B. S. (2016). The National Osteoporosis Foundation's position statement on peak bone
  mass development and lifestyle factors: a systematic review and implementation
  recommendations. *Osteoporosis International*, 27(4), 1281-1386. doi:
  10.1007/s00198-015-3440-3
- Webborn, N., Williams, A., McNamee, M., Bouchard, C., Pitsiladis, Y., Ahmetov, I., . . .
  Wang, G. (2015). Direct-to-consumer genetic testing for predicting sports performance and talent identification: Consensus statement. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 49(23), 1486-1491. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-095343
- Wells, J. C. K. (2007). Sexual dimorphism of body composition. Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 21(3), 415-430. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2007.04.007
- WHO. (2010). WHO and the International Olympic Committee Sign Agreement to Improve Healthy Lifestyles., from

https://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2010/ioc\_20100721/en/

WHO. (2011). Promoting sport and enhancing health in European Union countries: a policy content analysis to support action. Copenhagen: Retrieved from http://www.euro.who.int/pubrequest.

- WHO. (2015). Physical Activity strategy for the WHO European Region 2016-2025. Vilnus:
   World Helath Organization Retrieved from <a href="http://www.euro.who.int/data/assets/pdf\_file/0010/282961/65wd09e">http://www.euro.who.int/data/assets/pdf\_file/0010/282961/65wd09e</a> PhysicalActi
   vityStrategy\_150474.pdf.
- Wicker, P., Breuer, C., & Pawlowski, T. (2009). Promoting Sport for All to Age-specific Target Groups: the Impact of Sport Infrastructure. *European Sport Management Quarterly*, 9(2), 103-118. doi: 10.1080/16184740802571377
- Wilder, R. P., Greene, J. A., Winters, K. L., Long Iii, W. B., Gubler, K. D., & Edlich, R. (2006). Physical Fitness Assessment: An Update. *Journal of Long-Term Effects of Medical Implants*, 16(2), 193-204. doi: 10.1615/JLongTermEffMedImplants.v16.i2.90
- Wilson, J. M., Marin, P. J., Rhea, M. R., Wilson, S. M. C., Loenneke, J. P., & Anderson, J. C. (2012). Concurrent Training. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 26(8), 2293-2307. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e31823a3e2d
- Yan, X., Papadimitriou, I., Lidor, R., & Eynon, N. (2016). Nature versus Nurture in Determining Athletic Ability. 61, 15-28. doi: 10.1159/000445238
- Young, W., Russell, A., Burge, P., Clarke, A., Cormack, S., & Stewart, G. (2008). The Use of Sprint Tests for Assessment of Speed Qualities of Elite Australian Rules Footballers. *International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance*, 3(2), 199-206. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.3.2.199
- Zehsaz, F., Safabakhsh, A. H., Farhangi, N., Keynezhad, N., Monfaredan, A., & Ghahramani, M. (2019). Do ACE and CKMM gene variations have potent effects on physical performance in inactive male adolescents? *Molecular Biology Reports*, 46(2), 1835-1843. doi: 10.1007/s11033-019-04636-7

Zemková, E., & Hamar, D. (2018). Sport-Specific Assessment of the Effectiveness of Neuromuscular Training in Young Athletes. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 9. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00264

# **CHAPTER 3**

Methodology

A brief description of the investigation design and statistical sample are presented in this chapter. However, specific details concerning the methodologies are presented separately in each investigation (i.e. within chapters 4 to7).

# **3.1 - INVESTIGATION DESIGN AND SAMPLING**

The Faculty of Human Kinetics University of Lisbon Ethics Committee according to the Oviedo *Convention from 1997 (Organs, 1997) and* Declaration of Helsinki from 2013 (WMA, 2013), approved all investigations included in the present thesis (CEFMH – Status: Approved; N.º 19/2018) (Anexo I). A grant supported the PhD candidate by Comité Olímpico de Portugal (COP) and University of Lisbon, entitled "*Physical Fitness: Identifiers of Sport Participation and Bone Health in Youth*". The corresponding investigations presented in this dissertation result from the observational investigation for 15 months, including the assessment of body composition, PF tests, PA levels, QUS characteristics, and nutrition frequency. Investigation 1 result from an observational and Test and Re-test analysis using young athletes from different sports entities (Lisbon and Porto). For the other investigations, cross-sectional data were collected from 12 schools in 3 different districts (Lisbon, Porto, Santarém and Setúbal). All participants gave their assent, and informed consent was obtained from their legal guardians (Anexo II).

#### 3.1.1 - The Sample Power

The sample size was estimated using the G\*Power software (v3.1.9.4, Düsseldorf, Germany), following specific statics (Beck, 2013) and considering the main investigation characteristics:

1. Population range age -10 at 18 years old.

2. Progressive Aerobic Cardiovascular Endurance Run (PACER) laps. The cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) is the PF component with the highest number of associations with health (J. R. Ruiz et al., 2016) and sport performance outcomes from several types of sports (Schaun, 2017).

3. Reference CRF data to Portuguese population with 14 years (Santos et al., 2014) (reference age to initialised participation in organised sports) (R. S. Lloyd et al., 2015).

4. An official number of young athletes under and with 18 years old (Male
- 422.046 and Female – 168.622) (Juventude, 2018).

5. Difference between two independent means (two groups) (*T-test* Student)

The calculations generated a total size of 360 (36 each age group for both sexes), based on predicted of a mean number of laps in PACER (male- $48.9\pm21.6$  and female – 29.1±12.5), with effect size 1.12. The error type I was controlled in 5%, with statistical power 95%. A total sample was defined in 720 participants (athletes and non-athletes) with range 10-18 years old.

In Table 3.1 are summarised the sampling and design characteristics of each investigation: sampling, design and statistical analysis.

Investigation	Sample	Sex /Age		Statistical
		range	Design	analysis
1	Athletes (n=138)	M-92 & F-46 10-18 yrs	Test- Re-Test	Descriptive,
				ICC, Bland &
				Altman
2	Athletes	M-401 & F- 194		Descriptive,
	(n=595)		Cross-	ROC Curve,
	Non-athletes (n=1236)	M-514 & F- 722	sectional	Youden's
		10-18 yrs		Index
3	Athletes (n=230) Non-athletes (n=366)	M-156 & F-74 M-129 & F- 237	Cross-	Descriptive,
				multiple linear
			sectional	regression
		10-18 yrs		analyses
4	-	M-191 & F- 221 10-18 yrs	Cross- sectional	Descriptive,
				mediation
				analyses
Abbreviations: F, Female; M, males; yrs, years				

Table 3.1 The sampling and design characteristics of each investigation

# **3.2 - BODY COMPOSITION MEASUREMENTS**

### 3.2.1 - Anthropometry

### Weight and height

Weight and height were assessed across all the investigations presented in this dissertation (see chapters 4 to 7). All participants were weighed to nearest 0.01 kg on an electronic scale (model 799 SECA, Hamburg, Germany) while wearing shorts and a t-shirt and without shoes. Height was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm with a stadiometer (model 220 SECA, Hamburg, Germany) (Lohman TG, 1998). BMI was calculated as body mass (kg)/height<sup>2</sup> (m).

# Waist circumference

Waist circumference was taken at superior border of iliac crest. The measurements were taken 3 times and recorded to the nearest 0.1 cm with tape. Average of three circumferences was used in analysis ((NHANES), 2009).

# Calf circumference

The participants with the feet about 20 cm apart and weight distributed equally on both feet. An inelastic tape measure was positioned parallel on the ground and horizontally around the right calf, and moved up and down to locate the maximum circumference in a plane perpendicular to the long axis of the calf. The level was signalized so that the calf skinfold could be measured at the same level (Lohman TG, 1998).

### Skinfolds

Skinfold thicknesses were assessed on the right side of the body to the nearest 0.1 cm with a flexible anthropometric tape (Seca, Hamburg, Germany).

The skinfolds measurements were conducted by the same anthropometrist to reduce the risk of bias. Two measurements were performed for each point, and if it was 2 cm different, a third measurement was performed. The measurements values recorded, corresponding at the average for the 3 measured values. All skinfold measurements was implemented in the investigation 3 (chapter 6) respecting to the procedures described by Lohman et al. (Lohman TG, 1998).

**Triceps**. The triceps skinfold was measured in the midline in the posterior face of the arm pendant, between the lateral projection of the acromion process of the scapula concerning the elbow, specifically on the inferior margin of the olecranon process of the ulna. All measurements were performed, with the participant standing with the right arm hanging loosely and comfortably (Lohman TG, 1998).

**Media Calf.** The medial calf skinfold was measured with the right foot (barefoot) on a bench so that knee and hip are flexed to performing an angle with 90°. The maximal calf circumference (the same technique to calf circumference) was previously marked in the medial face of the calf. The assessment starts with the anthropometrist in front of the participant, raising a calf sinkfold longitudinal axis of the leg (vertical) (Lohman TG, 1998).

### **Body Fatness**

Values corresponding to body fatness in adolescent were estimated by specific mathematic equations (Slaughter et al., 1988).

The skinfold equations to predict the body fat in children between 8 and 18 years old are as follows:

# For skinfolds triceps and calf

Male: 0.735 (triceps+calf) +1.0

Female: 0.610 (triceps+calf) +5.1

All participants who presented a sum of triceps and subscapular skinfold greater than 35mm, the following equation were applied:

All males: 0.783 (triceps+subscapular) +1.6

All females: 0.546 (triceps+subscapular) +9.7

### Fat-free Mass.

The mathematical operation to calculate the fat-free mass (FFM) in children between 8 and 18 years old are as follows: FFM= Weight – Body Fatness.

# **3.3 - MATURITY**

Maturity offset was estimated as the years from the age of peak height velocity (APHV), based on sex-specific prediction equations from Moore et al. investigation (Moore et al., 2015). APHV was defined as the age at maximum growth puberty during adolescence, and result by the difference between chronological age and maturity offset.

In boys the predictive equation used was: Maturity Offset= -7.999994+(0.0036124\*(age\*height))): R<sup>2</sup>= 0.896; SEE= 0.542

In girls, the predictive equation used was as follows: Maturity-Offset= -7.709133+ (0.0042232\*(age\*height))): R<sup>2</sup>= 0.898; SEE= 0.528

# **3.4 - Physical fitness tests**

All investigations that compose this PhD dissertation used the FITescola® program battery to assess PF. FITescola® is a program to promote and monitoring PA and PF knowledge and levels among Portuguese school-aged children and adolescents through an online platform. This platform allows to develop an ecosystem between the school, families and students and share knowledge and recommendations regarding PA, PF and healthy lifestyles. This program is supported by the Education Ministry and is present in all public schools with students aged from 10 to 18 years old. The PF tests that compose the FITescola® battery are scientifically validated and are performed regularly during physical education classes (FMH, 2015).

The specific test from the FITescola® program (FMH, 2015) used to assess each component of PF is described below. All tests were used to monitoring several health outcomes, validated by the previous investigations for the general youth population (F. B. Ortega, E. G. Artero, et al., 2008; Santos et al., 2014; Vanhelst, Beghin, Fardy, Ulmer, & Czaplicki, 2016).

**Progressive Aerobic Cardiovascular Endurance Run (PACER).** The PACER test was used to examine CRF. Participants attained the test, where the main aim was to perform a maximum number of laps with a defined cadence.

The audio signal helps the participants managing running speed during the test. The test starts with a cadence of 8.5km/h and increases progressively 0.5 km/h every minute.

**Push-up test**. Upper body MF was assessed through the push-up test. This test starts with the hands and feet touching the floor and the body in the plank position,

with feet apart and the hands positioned below the shoulder line. The participants were required to lower the body until forming a 90° angle between the arm and the forearm then return to the starting position. This action was repeated with a previously defined cadence of 20 push-ups per minute. The number of times the participants completed this action correctly was recorded.

Horizontal and vertical jumps. The horizontal jump (HJ) and the vertical jump (VJ) tests measured lower body MF. The HJ test starts in the standing position with the feet slightly apart from each other and below the shoulder line, just immediately behind a line drawn on the floor. Then the participant jumps as far as possible landing with the feet together. The distance between the starting line and the heel of the backward foot is recorded, the best result of two trials is considered. The VJ test starts with the participant standing sideways to a wall and reaching up with the arm extended drawing a line with frame chalk. From a stationary position (knees slightly bend and feet slightly apart from each other below the shoulder line) the participant jumps as high as possible drawing a second line on the wall with frame chalk. The difference between both lines (the standing reach height and the jumping-reach height) is recorded, the best result of two attempts is considered.

**Sit and reach test.** The sit and reach test was used to evaluate the flexibility of the lower back and the hamstrings. The protocol of this test is explained in detail elsewhere (F. B. Ortega, E. G. Artero, et al., 2008). For this test, the mean value from the two legs was calculated and considered for the data analysis.

**4x10 m shuttle run (SHTR)**. Agility was assessed by the 4x10m shuttle run test. In this test, the participant has to run as fast as possible between two parallel lines 10m apart while holding a sponge. Three sponges are previously placed behind the lines (about 50 cm off), one at the starting line and two at the other line. Participants

start to run without a sponge and must pick-up or exchange the sponge every time they cross a line. The lines must be crossed with the two feet. The total time of the test in seconds is recorded using a stopwatch.

**Speed test at 20m and 40m.** The speed at 20m and 40m was recorded in seconds. Participants started in standing and comfortable position with one foot in the front of the other and immediately behind the starting line. Participants were instructed to start running on the words "on your marks, ready, GO" and only to start to decelerate after crossing the finish line. Time was recorded using a stopwatch.

**Handgrip Strength.** Handgrip (HG) strength was assessed using an adjustable handle analogue HG dynamometer (Lafayette Hand Dynamometer – Instrument Company, Lafayette, Indiana, United States of America). Participants were given a demonstration and verbal instructions for the test. Previous all individual tests, the HG was adjusted according to the adolescents' hand size and technical specifications by the manufacturer. HG was measured with a participant in a standing position with arms parallel at the body but not in contact. The shoulder would be adducted and neutrally rotated. The participants to grip the handle during 3-5 seconds, with verbal encouragement by researchers. Two trials were performed and record the best score for each limb.

# **3.5. - OBJECTIVE MEASURES OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY**

#### 3.5.1 - Actigraph accelerometer measurements

In chapter 7, to assess the physical activity (PA) and sedentary time (ST) objectively were used an accelerometer (ActiGraph, GT3X model, Fort Walton Beach, FL). The ActiGraph-GT3X+ model is a proper small device to measure the acceleration of regular human movements. To avoid methodological issues, on physical activity assessments by the accelerometer, at all participants were asked to wear the device on the right hip, near to the iliac crest for 7 days followed (Penpraze et al., 2006; S. G. Trost, McIver, & Pate, 2005). Each device was activated on the first day after realised all PF tests from this investigation and data were recorded in 15 seconds epochs. Aquatic activities (i.e., swimming, aquatic sports, bathing), sleep, and periods of at least 60 consecutive minutes of zero activity intensity counts were considered as non-wear time (S. G. Trost et al., 2005). A valid-day was considered as having 10h or more ( $\leq 600$  min.) to wear time (Penpraze et al., 2006). A valid-week was defined at a minimum of 3 days and having at least 2 weekdays and 1 weekend day (Cain, Sallis, Conway, Van Dyck, & Calhoon, 2013). The assessment of total activity accumulated per day in different intensities was expressed as minutes. The cutoff values used to define the intensity of PA and therefore to quantify the meantime in each intensity (moderate or vigorous, moderate and light) were as follows: vigorous:  $\geq$  4009 counts·min<sup>-1</sup>; moderate: 2296-4008 counts·min-1 ; light: 100-2295 counts min-1; sedentary: < 100 counts min-1 (Evenson, Catellier, Gill, Ondrak, & McMurray, 2008). All accelerometer data was performed using the software Actilife (v.6.10.4).

# **3.6 - BONE HEALTH**

#### 3.6.1 - Quantitative ultrasound

In chapters 6 and 7 (investigation 3 and 4) the bone health status was assessed by QUS along the surface of the third distal radius and midshaft tibia based on an axial transmission technique, using the sonometer Omnisense 8000P (Sunlight Omnisense, BeamMed, Tel Aviv, Israel) to measure the SoS.

In clinical evaluation is essential to have the correct supplies for assessments, as illustrated in Figure 3.1.

To avoid errors during assessments was performed previous procedures in the following order:

Selection a room with a stabilized temperature. Outside of the range 15 30° C, the equipment not provided a reading.

2- Exposition the phantom at environment assessment to identify the temperature room.

3- Checking if the systems and the probes are working according to manufacturer recommendations.

4- Performing system quality verification at least once daily. The verification process was repeated for three cycles.

After performing the 4 steps cited, was identified the region to be measured (the radial distal third and tibial midshaft). All measurements were performed with the participant in seating and comfortable position as possible, and conducted on the non-dominant limbs. In the case of the previous fracture or impairment in non-dominant limb, was assessed the dominant limb in the bone site being evaluated.



Figure 3.1 - Ultrasound equipment after daily verification

### Measuring SoS at the radius

The radius site being evaluated was calculated by the lenght between the third finger and the gouge platform. For sinalizing the zone to be analysed, was drawn a line exactly half the previously measured length with a skin marker. All parts of the arm to the elbow (supported on the desktop) was aligned as straight as possible. On the radius, the arm was pronated, and the probe realised a scanner in a semi-circumference fashion around the distal third of radius.

### Measuring SoS at the tibia

To determining the zone at the tibia to be scanned, the participants were seated in a chair with the leg bent 90° at the knee and the heel placed firmly on the floor. The height of the leg rest should be equal to the height of the chair. The leg was measured, starting from the plantar surface of the hell at the tip of the knee, and was drawn a line in halfway point to the distance measured. The area scanned was delimitated by a line straight across the dorso-anterior surface of the tibia. The participants' leg was rest comfortably, with the knee slightly bent to avoid discomfort from the overstretching the leg. The leg support was used every time in the ankle zone, and never above. For all participants was repeated continuously 3-5 measurements cycles for each limb.

# **Ultrasound Statistical Measures**

Results are meaningful in relation to a reference database of SoS values taken from a large representative population. SoS is plotted as function of sex and age. *Zscore:* The z-score for R-SoS and T-SoS were calculated based in age, weight, height, sex and caucasian database reference by *Omnisense 8000s*.

# **3.7 - DIETARY ASSESSMENT**

In investigation 3 and 4 (chapter 6 to 7) were calculated the daily calcium intake from an interview by a Food Frequency Questionnaire semi-quantitative questionnaire assessing intake of a wide set of typical Portuguese foods in last month. This questionnaire was formally validated in similar investigations with Portuguese adolescents (Cardadeiro et al., 2014; Lopes et al., 2017).

# **3.8 - EXTERNAL TRAINING LOAD ASSESSMENT**

In investigation 1 and 2 (chapter 4 to 5) the weekly training and competition load (time in minutes and frequency) for each participant were self-reported.

# **3.9 - COMPETITIVE LEVEL ASSESSMENT**

In investigation 1 and 2 (chapter 4 to 5) the level of competition was categorized based on past individual performance (*Non-Elite:* junior or senior regional competition; *Junior-Elite:* junior national or international competition; *Elite:* senior international competition and *Super-Elite:* gold medallists at Olympics or world championships) (Rees et al., 2016).

# **3.10 - TYPE OF PHYSICAL EXERCISE**

In investigation 3 and 4 (chapter 6 to 7) were categorised the type of physical exercise as follows: non-osteogenic (i.e. swimming, water polo, equestrian) and osteogenic (i.e. football, handball, volleyball). Those who did not regularly participate in any sport were classified as non-exercisers. This categorisation has been used previously in bone health investigations in adolescents (Hong & Kim, 2018; Vlachopoulos et al., 2018).

# **3.10 - STATISTICAL ANALYSIS**

Data analysis was performed using the IBM SPSS Statistics (SPSS Inc., an IBM Company, Chicago, Illinois, USA) version 24.0 (chapters 4 at 7) and G\*Power software, version 3.1.9.4, 2019 (Düsseldorf, Germany) (Chapter 3).

The statistical procedures common to all investigations are presented in this section (chapter 4 to 7), as follow:

- Descriptive statistical analysis including mean and standard deviations were performed for all outcome measurements.
- Normality analysis of the variables was performed using Q-Q plots (subjective method), and to confirm the conclusion from graphical methods were performed the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk (Yap & Sim, 2011).
- Difference between the expected frequencies in several categories was performed using Chi-square test (chapter 4, 5 and 7).
- Means comparisons for two groups were performed using independent sample T-test (chapter 4, 5 and 7), whereas comparisons for three or more groups were performed using One-way ANOVA (chapter 6).

In investigation 1 (chapter 4) specific procedures were used to test units strongly in the same group resemble each other from the PF tests battery although of the interclass correlation coefficient (ICC) and was performed a Bland-Altman plot to analysing the agreement between two different assays moments.

**In investigation 2 (chapter 5)** a receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) was performed to the analysis of diagnostic of the potential youth athlete based in different PF tests. Youden's index was used to summarising the performance of the diagnostic test and define a criterion for selecting the optimum cut-off.

In investigation 3 (chapter 6) multiple linear regression analyses were performed to examine the associations of PF test continuous variables with bone health continuous variables (R-SoS and T-SoS) in youth non-athletes and athletes for both sexes. Additionally, a second model was performed to adjust for covariates, such as, type of physical exercise, number of minutes exercising per week, APHV, and calcium intake

**In investigation 4 (chapter 7)** a parallel mediation model was used to analyse whether each PF test and fat mass (%) mediated the relationship between VPA time with R-SoS and T-SoS. Parallel mediation analysis was performed using the PROCESS SPSS macro (v3.3 – model 4) developed by Preacher and Hayes (Preacher & Hayes, 2004). The PROCESS macro analyses the total and specific indirect effects using bootstrap procedures (resampling of 5000 bootstrap samples was used), which do not require assumptions of normality of the sampling (Hayes, 2017).

# **3.11 - REFERENCES**

- Beck, T. W. (2013). The importance of a priori sample size estimation in strength and conditioning research. J Strength Cond Res, 27(8), 2323-2337. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e318278eea0
- Cain, K. L., Sallis, J. F., Conway, T. L., Van Dyck, D., & Calhoon, L. (2013). Using accelerometers in youth physical activity studies: a review of methods. J Phys Act Health, 10(3), 437-450.
- Cardadeiro, G., Baptista, F., Rosati, N., Zymbal, V., Janz, K. F., & Sardinha, L. B. (2014). Influence of physical activity and skeleton geometry on bone mass at the proximal femur in 10- to 12-year-old children—a longitudinal study. *Osteoporosis International*, 25(8), 2035-2045. doi: 10.1007/s00198-014-2729-y
- Convention for the protection of Human Rights and Dignity of the Human Being with regard to the Application of Biology and Medicine: Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine (1997).

- Evenson, K. R., Catellier, D. J., Gill, K., Ondrak, K. S., & McMurray, R. G. (2008). Calibration of two objective measures of physical activity for children. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 26(14), 1557-1565. doi: 10.1080/02640410802334196
- FMH, U. L. (2015). FITescola. from http://fitescola.dge.mec.pt/home.aspx
- Hayes, A. F. (2017). Partial, conditional, and moderated moderated mediation: Quantification, inference, and interpretation. *Communication Monographs*, 85(1), 4-40. doi: 10.1080/03637751.2017.1352100
- Hong, A. R., & Kim, S. W. (2018). Effects of Resistance Exercise on Bone Health. Endocrinology and Metabolism, 33(4), 435. doi: 10.3803/EnM.2018.33.4.435
- Juventude, I. P. d. D. e. (2018). Praticantes desportivos federados: total e por escalão etário.
- Lloyd, R. S., Oliver, J. L., Faigenbaum, A. D., Howard, R., De Ste Croix, M. B., Williams, C.
  A., ... Myer, G. D. (2015). Long-term athletic development- part 1: a pathway for all youth. *J Strength Cond Res*, 29(5), 1439-1450. doi: 10.1519/jsc.000000000000756
- Lohman TG, R. A., Martorell R. (1998). *Anthropometric standardization reference manual*. Champaign: Human Kinetics, Eds.
- Lopes, C., Torres, D., Oliveira, A., Severo, M., Guiomar, S., Alarcão, V., ... Soares, S. (2017).
  National Food, Nutrition and Physical Activity Survey of the Portuguese general population. *EFSA Supporting Publications, 14*(12). doi: 10.2903/sp.efsa.2017.EN-1341
- Moore, S. A., McKay, H. A., Macdonald, H., Nettlefold, L., Baxter-Jones, A. D. G., Cameron, N., & Brasher, P. M. A. (2015). Enhancing a Somatic Maturity Prediction Model.
  Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 47(8), 1755-1764. doi: 10.1249/mss.00000000000588
- NHANES,(2009). Anthropometry Procedures Manual.: Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhanes/nhanes\_09\_10/BodyMeasures\_09.pdf.

- Ortega, F. B., Artero, E. G., Ruiz, J. R., Vicente-Rodriguez, G., Bergman, P., Hagstromer, M.,
  . . . Castillo, M. J. (2008). Reliability of health-related physical fitness tests in European adolescents. The HELENA Study. *Int J Obes (Lond), 32 Suppl 5*, S49-57. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2008.183
- Penpraze, V., Reilly, J. J., MacLean, C. M., Montgomery, C., Kelly, L. A., Paton, J. Y., . . . Grant, S. (2006). Monitoring of Physical Activity in Young Children: How Much Is Enough? *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 18(4), 483-491. doi: 10.1123/pes.18.4.483
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2004). SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 36*(4), 717-731. doi: 10.3758/BF03206553
- Rees, T., Hardy, L., Gullich, A., Abernethy, B., Cote, J., Woodman, T., . . . Warr, C. (2016).
  The Great British Medalists Project: A Review of Current Knowledge on the Development of the World's Best Sporting Talent. *Sports Med*, 46(8), 1041-1058. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0476-2
- Ruiz, J. R., Cavero-Redondo, I., Ortega, F. B., Welk, G. J., Andersen, L. B., & Martinez-Vizcaino, V. (2016). Cardiorespiratory fitness cut points to avoid cardiovascular disease risk in children and adolescents; what level of fitness should raise a red flag? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Sports Med*, 50(23), 1451-1458. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-095903
- Santos, R., Mota, J., Santos, D. A., Silva, A. M., Baptista, F., & Sardinha, L. B. (2014).
  Physical fitness percentiles for Portuguese children and adolescents aged 10–18 years. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 32(16), 1510-1518. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2014.906046
- Schaun, G. Z. (2017). The Maximal Oxygen Uptake Verification Phase: a Light at the End of the Tunnel? *Sports medicine open*, *3*(1), 44-44. doi: 10.1186/s40798-017-0112-1
- Trost, S. G., McIver, K. L., & Pate, R. R. (2005). Conducting accelerometer-based activity assessments in field-based research. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, *37*(11 Suppl), S531-543.

- Vanhelst, J., Beghin, L., Fardy, P. S., Ulmer, Z., & Czaplicki, G. (2016). Reliability of healthrelated physical fitness tests in adolescents: the MOVE Program. *Clin Physiol Funct Imaging*, 36(2), 106-111. doi: 10.1111/cpf.12202
- Vlachopoulos, D., Barker, A. R., Ubago-Guisado, E., Williams, C. A., & Gracia-Marco, L. (2018). The effect of a high-impact jumping intervention on bone mass, bone stiffness and fitness parameters in adolescent athletes. *Archives of Osteoporosis*, 13(1). doi: 10.1007/s11657-018-0543-4
- WMA Declaration of Helsinki Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects (2013).
- Yap, B. W., & Sim, C. H. (2011). Comparisons of various types of normality tests. *Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation*, 81(12), 2141-2155. doi: 10.1080/00949655.2010.520163

# **CHAPTER 4**

Test-retest reliability of physical fitness tests among young athletes: The FITescola® battery

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Henriques-Neto D, Minderico C, Peralta M, Marques A, Sardinha LB. (2020) Test-retest reliability of physical fitness tests among young athletes: The FITescola® battery. *Clin Physiol Funct Imaging*. doi: 10.1111/cpf.12624.

Received: 14 August 2019 Accepted: 12 February 2020

#### DOI: 10.1111/cpf.12624

### ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# Clinical Physiology and

# Test-retest reliability of physical fitness tests among young athletes: The FITescola<sup>®</sup> battery

Duarte Henriques-Neto<sup>1,2</sup> | Cláudia Minderico<sup>1</sup> | Miguel Peralta<sup>1,3</sup> | Adilson Marques<sup>1,3</sup> | Luís B. Sardinha<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>CIPER, Faculdade de Motricidade Humana, Universidade de Lisboa, Cruz Quebrada, Portugal

<sup>2</sup>Comité Olímpico de Portugal, Lisbon, Portugal

<sup>3</sup>ISAMB, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de Lisboa, Cruz Quebrada, Portugal

#### Correspondence

Duarte Henriques-Neto, Faculdade de Motricidade Humana, Universidade de Lisboa, Estrada da Costa, 1499-002 Cruz-Quebrada, Portugal. Email: duarteneto@campus.ul.pt

Funding information FCT–Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the unit I&D 472. Grant/Award

Number: UID/DTP/00447/2019

#### Abstract

Monitoring physical fitness in young athletes is essential to improve physical performance, identify talents and develop injury prevention programs. The aim of this investigation was to analyse the reliability of the physical fitness tests from the FITescola® battery in young athletes with different sports backgrounds and competition levels. Participants comprised of 138 young athletes (boys n = 92) aged 9 and 18 years old. Eight physical fitness tests assessing six components of physical fitness were performed: cardiorespiratory fitness (PACER); upper body muscular fitness (push-up); flexibility (sit and reach); lower-body muscular fitness (horizontal and vertical jump); agility (4 × 10 shuttle run); and speed (sprint at 20 m and 40 m). Each test was performed twice, with a one-week interval (7 days) between duplicate tests. No differences between duplicate tests were found (p > .05), except for the speed at 20 m in boys (p < .001) and speed at 40 m in girls (p = .006). The battery of tests had good or excellent reliability and concordance of the ICC between the two trials (ICC ≥ 0.75) with exception for the 20 m speed run in girls that presented moderate reliability (ICC = 0.57). The Bland-Altman plots showed high reliability for all the fitness tests for both sexes. Hence, The FITescola® battery may be a novel tool to assess the physical fitness of large groups of young athletes from different sports backgrounds.

#### KEYWORDS

injuries prevention, performance, physical fitness, reliability, young athletes

#### 1 | INTRODUCTION

In youth, physical fitness is not only related to sports performance but also used as a surrogate marker of health-related outcomes (Armstrong & McManus, 2011; McManus & Armstrong, 2011). In addition, information on physical fitness fosters knowledge on understanding the physiologic development of youth (Brown, Patel, & Darmawan, 2017), while supporting the identification and development of athletic talents. Generally, physical fitness is assessed using a combination of tests aimed at analysing specific physiological components, such as anthropometric measures (e.g., height, weight, waist circumference), cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF), upper and lower muscular fitness (MF), and agility and speed (Ortega, Ruiz, & Castillo, 2008; Vanhelst, Beghin, & Fardy, 2016). The physical fitness monitoring of adults athlete populations is well established, while in young athletes it is scarce (Armstrong & Barker, 2017). Measuring and monitoring these different components of physical fitness in young athletes can be achieved objectively in the laboratory setting. However, most of these tests require specific equipment, qualified technicians and have high logistic costs (Artero et al., 2011). Therefore, applying laboratory methods may

© 2020 Scandinavian Society of Clinical Physiology and Nuclear Medicine. Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd

Clin Physiol Funct Imaging. 2020;00:1-10.

wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/cpf 1

### 2 Clinical Physiology and

not be feasible in large groups and misrepresents the natural sports

environment (Ruiz et al., 2011). FITescola® is a digital platform aimed to monitor fitness and

promote health in youth. It provides a set of instruments, including field tests, for assessing health-related physical fitness in 10- to 18-year-old students. The validation of the tests that comprise the FITescola<sup>®</sup> battery and the reliability of some tests, such as the 20 m shuttle run, horizontal jump,  $4 \times 10$  m shuttle run, push-up test and the sit and reach has been previously examined in youth (general population) (Artero et al., 2011; Baumgartner, Oh, Chung, & Hales, 2002; Ortega, Artero, et al., 2008; Ruiz et al., 2011; Vanhelst et al., 2016). Although some of the tests comprising the FITescola<sup>®</sup> battery (e.g., the speed test) were tested for reliability in athlete samples from specific sports (e.g., football) (Pojskic et al., 2018), the reliability of the FITescola<sup>®</sup> battery as a whole was never tested among young athletes.

Young athletes present a particular variability in their physiologic, anthropometric characteristics (e.g., weight), and highest physical fitness levels when compared to non-athletes (Armstrong & McManus, 2011; McManus & Armstrong, 2011; Smoll & Schutz, 1985). In addition, athletes are more susceptible to greater fluctuations in their fitness performance due to their higher training loads and periodization in their fitness levels based on their competition season compared to their non-athletic peers (Kellmann et al., 2018). Thus, although good reliability has been reported for the tests that comprise the FITescola® battery in the general population of youth (Ortega, Ruiz, et al., 2008), the reliability of these tests in athletic youth may vary given these physiologic and fitness fluctuation differences commonly seen in athletes versus. non-athletes.

The reliability of effective tools for assessing physical performance in sport and educational systems is important, especially when sports authorities, clubs, federations and professionals aim to find young sports talents for a variety of sports or when designing talent identification programs (Bergeron et al., 2015; Johnston, Wattie, & Schorer, 2017; Pion, Segers, et al., 2015). To the best of our knowledge, no other research has reported the reliability of a physical fitness battery among young athletes from different sports and different levels of competition. Therefore, the purpose of this investigation was to determine the test-retest reliability of the FITescola<sup>®</sup> battery among young athletes from different sports backgrounds and competitive levels.

#### 2 | METHODS

#### 2.1 | Participants and investigation design

One hundred and thirty-eight children and adolescents (92 boys and 46 girls) aged between 9 and 18 years old, with different sport backgrounds (basketball, fencing, football gymnastics, handball, hockey, judo, karate, kickboxing, tennis, swimming, volleyball, weightlifting and wrestling) from several official federative club teams within Lisbon and Porto district areas, participated in the investigation. HENRIQUES-NETO ET AL.

Participants were considered athletes (Araúio & Scharhag, 2016) if (inclusion criteria) (a) were engaged in organized sports with regular participation in official competitions promoted by each national federation recognized by the Portuguese Olympic Committee (COP) and the Portuguese Institute of Sports and Youth (IPDJ) in the last 12 months and (b) were engaged in at least three training sessions per week. Each participant performed eight physical fitness tests of the FITescola® battery in two separate sessions, which were repeated in the following week (7-day interval). The first session assessed upper and lower MF and flexibility. Forty-eight hours after the first session, the second session took place, where agility, speed and CRF were assessed. Each session lasted a total of 60 min. Before performing the tests, the participants did a 10-min standardized warm-up conducted by the researchers. The warm-up protocol was divided in three parts: part 1-low speed running exercises (e.g., straight ahead, hip out and quick forwards and backwards) combined with active mobilization of the upper limbs (e.g., arm circles and upper back mobility); part 2-"Waspital game"; and part 3-active stretching (upper and lower limbs). In order to minimize the effects of circadian rhythm variability and the effect of training level, all tests were performed in the same order and at the same time of the day, during the competitive microcycle for each athlete.

The physical fitness tests manual and videos, including procedures and protocols, are available in the FITescola® online platform (http://fitescola.dge.mec.pt/HomeTestes.aspx). The same researchers assessed all the physical fitness tests. Anthropometric evaluations were performed only in the first session. All participants were informed about the aim of the project, and written consent was obtained from their legal guardians before participation in the investigation. The investigation was followed to update the Declaration of Helsinki according to the last assembly (the 64th WMA General Assembly, Fortaleza, Brazil, October 2013) (World Medical Association, 2013) and was approved by the Ethics Committee of Faculty of Human Kinetics, University of Lisbon (CEFMH-Approved; No 19/2018).

#### 2.2 | Measures

#### 2.2.1 | Body composition

All participants were weighed to nearest 0.01 kg on an electronic scale (model 799 SECA: Seca GmbH) while wearing shorts and a t-shirt and without shoes. Height was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm with a stadiometer (model 220 SECA: Seca GmbH) (Lohman, Roche, & Martorell, 1998). BMI was calculated as body mass (kg)/ height<sup>2</sup> (m).

#### 2.2.2 | Competitive level/Training frequency

Weekly training frequency was self-reported and was counted as the usual number of training session per week at the time of the
### HENRIQUES-NETO ET AL.

investigation. Athlete competition level was determined based on past and present individual performance and was categorized into the following groups based on the recommendations of the UK Sports Committee for the development of young athletes: Non-Elite = junior or senior regional competition; Junior-Elite = junior national or international competition; Elite = senior international competition; and Super-Elite = gold medallists at Olympics or world championships (Rees et al., 2016).

### 2.2.3 | Physical fitness

The FITescola<sup>®</sup> battery was used to assess physical fitness. The specific tests from the FITescola<sup>®</sup> battery used to assess each component of physical fitness are described below.

#### Progressive Aerobic Cardiovascular Endurance Run (PACER)

The PACER test was used to examine CRF. The main aim of this test was to perform the maximum number of laps with a defined cadence. An audio signal was used to help the participants manage running speed during the test. The test starts with a cadence of 8.5 km/hr and increases progressively 0.5 km/hr every minute.

#### Push-up test

Upper body MF was assessed through the push-up test. The test starts with the participant's hands and feet touching the floor, and the body in a plank position, with feet apart and the hands positioned below the shoulder line. The participants were required to lower the body until forming a 90° angle between the arm and the forearm and then return to the starting position. This action was repeated with a previously defined cadence of 20 push-ups per minute. The number of times the participants completed this action correctly was recorded.

#### Horizontal and vertical jumps

The horizontal jump and the vertical jump tests measured lowerbody MF. The horizontal jump test starts in the standing position with the feet slightly apart from each other and below the shoulder line, just immediately behind a line drawn on the floor. Then, the participant jumped as far as possible, landing with the feet together. The distance between the starting line and the heel of the backward foot was recorded. The best result of two trials was considered. The vertical jump test started with the participant standing sideways to a wall and reaching up with the arm extended, drawing a line with frame chalk. From a stationary position (knees slightly bent and feet slightly apart from each other below the shoulder line), the participant jumped as high as possible drawing a second line on the wall with frame chalk. The difference between both lines (the standing reach height and the jumping-reach height) was recorded. The best result of two attempts was considered.

#### Sit and reach test

The sit and reach test was used to evaluate the flexibility of the lower back and the hamstrings separately. Participants performed the

### Clinical Physiology and

forward flexion movement of the trunk with both arms extended, one leg bent at 90° and other leg extended touching with the sole of the foot on the measurement box. For this test, the mean value from the two legs was calculated and considered for the data analysis.

#### 4 × 10 m shuttle run

Agility was assessed by the 4  $\times$  10 m shuttle run test. In this test, the participant had to run as fast as possible between two parallel lines 10 metres apart while holding a sponge. Three sponges were previously placed behind the lines (about 50 cm off), one at the starting line and two at the other end. Participants started without a sponge and had to pick-up or exchanged the sponge every time they crossed the lines. The lines had to be crossed with both feet. The total time of the test in seconds was recorded using a stopwatch.

### 20 m and 40 m run

The speed at 20 m and 40 m was recorded in seconds. Participants started in a standing and comfortable position, with one foot in front of the other and immediately behind the starting line. Participants were instructed to start running on the words "on your marks, ready, GO" and only to start deaccelerating after crossing the finish line. Time was recorded using a stopwatch. The speed tests were performed separately, with a minimum of two minutes recovery time between tests.

### 2.3 | Statistical analyses

Descriptive statistics (including mean, standard deviation and percentages) were calculated for all variables for the total sample and each sex. Differences between sexes were assessed using Students' t test for the continuous variables and chi-square test for the noncontinuous variables. Differences for each physical fitness test between trial one (T1) and trial two (T2) were assessed using a paired sample t test. A sex interaction effect on the reliability of the studied physical fitness tests was found. Thus, the analyses were performed separately for boys and girls. Reliability between test-retest was analysed using the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) model with two-way mixed effects. Level of reliability for each test, considering the whole sample and then divided by sex, was classified according to the following reference values: ICC < 0.50-poor reliability; 0.50 ≤ ICC < 0.75-moderate reliability; 0.75 ≤ ICC < 0.90good reliability; and ICC ≥ 0.90-excellent reliability (Koo & Li, 2016). Assessment of agreement between two session trials was performed with the Bland-Altman approach. To analyse bias and to estimate the agreement interval within 95% of the mean differences between the second and the first trials, we used the Bland-Altman plot method with the limits of agreement of ±1.96 standard deviation of the mean differences. We further assessed whether the mean difference in the repeated values of each of the fitness test varied for elite (i.e., elite, junior-elite and super-elite) versus non-elite athletes using a Mann-Whitney test. Given that the differences in the repeated measures of the fitness tests did not significantly differ between

### Clinical Physiology and

the elite and non-elite athletes, with the exception of the speed test 40 m, we chose to present results for all athletes combined in order to maximize sample size. Data analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 24.0 (SPSS Inc., an IBM Company). Statistical significance was set at  $p \le .05$ .

### 3 | RESULTS

Descriptive data for the participants' characteristics and their distribution are presented separately for boys and girls in Table 1. Significant (p < .05) differences between sexes were only evident for height, BMI and competition level.

Reliability of the physical fitness tests, including mean values, standard deviation, inter-trial differences (T2-T1) and the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) for each test, are reported in Table 2. In boys, the inter-trial difference was significant only for the 20 m test (p < .001), whereas for girls, there was a significant inter-trial difference for the 40 m test (p = .008). Notwithstanding, the ICC concordance of the two trials in boys and girls was classified as good or excellent (ICC  $\ge 0.75$ ) demonstrating strong agreement, with exception for the 20 m speed run in girls that presented moderate reliability (ICC = 0.57).

The concordance of the ICC between trials for all participants was reinforced by the Bland and Altman method. Figures 1 and 2 show the reliability values in the function of systematic errors and random errors (95% limits of agreement) of the FITescola<sup>®</sup> physical fitness tests analysed. The systematic error was approximately zero. In boys (Figure 1), mean differences and most data points were within the limits of agreement for all physical fitness tests, and no trend was found between the differences and the means of the trials.

For girls (Figure 2), the Bland and Altman plots showed high-reliability patterns for all physical fitness tests, where the systematic error was nearly zero and mean differences within the limits of the agreement established.

### 4 | DISCUSSION

This investigation aimed to determine the test-retest reliability of the FITescola<sup>®</sup> battery among young athletes with different sports backgrounds and competition levels. Our results point out that the FITescola<sup>®</sup> battery demonstrates high reliability and therefore can be used as a physical fitness monitoring tool for young athletes. Findings showed that the battery had good or excellent reliability and concordance of the ICC between the two trials (ICC  $\geq$  0.75) with exception for the 20 m speed run in girls that presented moderate reliability (ICC = 0.57), which was reinforced by the Bland-Altman analysis, where all physical fitness tests presented a mean difference close to zero.

The PACER test is widely used to assess CRF in youth (Mayorga-Vega, Aguilar-Soto, & Viciana, 2015), and its validation and reliability were previously tested for the general population (Ortega, Ruiz,

#### HENRIQUES-NETO ET AL.

et al., 2008; Ramírez-Vélez, Rodrigues-Bezerra, & Correa-Bautista, 2015: Vanhelst et al., 2016), but not in young athletes from different sports. It is common from several coaches to use different tests to assess the CRF based on the specificity of each sport (Asker, Waldén, & Källberg, 2017; Grgic et al., 2019; Jemni, Prince, & Baker, 2018). The PACER test is suggested to be an excellent surrogate measure of CRF to be used across the athletic population and to be incorporated in the monitoring of performance and talent identification programs for a wide variety of sports. Furthermore, CRF has been associated with sports performance in several sports (Barker & Armstrong, 2011; Jemni et al., 2018; Winter, Jones, & Davison, 2007). In accordance with previous studies in adolescents (Ortega, Ruiz, et al., 2008; Ramirez-Velez et al., 2015; Vanhelst et al., 2016). we found the PACER test to have good or excellent ICC (ICC-boys: 0.79; ICC-girls: 0.90) among our sample of athletes from different sports backgrounds and competitive levels.

Agility is considered as one of the most critical talent identification tests in several sports (Ali, 2011; Mungovan, Peralta, & Gass, 2018: Spasic Krolo & Zenic 2015) Previous studies assessing the reliability of the 4 × 10 m shuttle run in the general population have found strong agreement between trials (Ortega, Ruiz, et al., 2008; Ramirez-Velez et al., 2015). However, to the best of our knowledge, the reliability of this test has not been assessed yet in the athletic population. In this investigation, the 4 × 10 m shuttle run showed a good ICC among young athletes from different sports backgrounds. suggesting that this test may be an excellent option to assess agility in multi-sport talent identification programs and fitness batteries. Beyond the 4 × 10 shuttle run test, there are several other tests to assess the agility in young athletes (e.g. Illinois agility test (IAT), the agility t test, change of direction-COD), all of which are usually modified by coaches or researchers upon application (Kutlu, Yapici, & Yilmaz, 2017; Mountjoy et al., 2014; Nimphius, Callaghan, & Bezodis, 2018; Rouissi, Chtara, & Berriri, 2016). The differences between procedures among coaches or researches hamper the standardization of a protocol and consequently a uniform application on the entire population of young athletes. Our results show that the 4 × 10 shuttle run test can be used, instead of others that may be harder to apply (Zemková & Hamar, 2018).

Previous studies have shown no significant differences in test-retest values for the horizontal jump in the general population (Fernandez-Santos, Ruiz, & Cohen, 2015; Ortega, Ruiz, et al., 2008; Vanhelst et al., 2016). Additionally, the horizontal jump test has shown to be a reliable measure for the assessment of lower-body MF for both boys and girls (Artero et al., 2011; Espana-Romero et al., 2010; Ortega, Ruiz, et al., 2008). Similar to the general population, the horizontal jump test proved to be a reliable tool to assess lower-body MF in athletes. The vertical jump test is also commonly used to assess the strength of the lower limbs and is highly correlated with several MF laboratory tests used to assess health (Artero et al., 2011; Ortega, Ruiz, et al., 2008) and performance (Fernandez-Santos et al., 2015). However, its reliability among young athletes in an ecologic context has not been established yet. In our investigation, we found the vertical jump

#### HENRIQUES-NETO ET AL.

TABLE 1 Physical characteristics and level sports competition of youth athlete participants

			Clinical Physiology a Functional Imaging	ind 5
	Mean ± SD or %			
	All (n = 138)	Boys (n = 92)	Girls (n = 46)	p-value
Age (years)	15.6 ± 2.2	15.5 ± 2.3	15.6 ± 2.1	NS
Weight (kg)	58.9 ± 12.4	59.4 ± 13.0	57.8 ± 11.4	NS
Height (m)	1.66 ± 0.1	1.69 ± 0.1	1.61 ± 0.1	<.001
BMI ( kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	21.1 ± 3.1	20.5 ± 2.9	22.3 ± 3.3	.001
Week frequency training (times)	5.0 ± 1.5	5.0 ± 1.3	5.4 ± 1.8	NS
Level sports competition	(%)			
Non-Elite	56.5	71.4	27.7	<.001
Junior-Elite	36.2	23.1	61.7	
Elite	2.9	2.2	4.3	
Super-Elite	4.3	3.3	6.4	

Note: p-value for the t test in continuous variables, and the chi-square test to compare differences in proportions between boys and girls.

Non-Elite: junior or senior regional competition; Junior-Elite: junior national or international competition; Elite: senior international competition; Super-Elite: gold medallists at Olympics or world championships.

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; NS, non-significant; SD, standard deviation.

test to have a high agreement between trials, although this measure was better among girls than among boys. Hypothetically, the differences in jump height between trials can be due to systematic bias, such as the athlete's emotional stress (Schaal et al., 2011) or fatigue (Watkins et al., 2017), and variation in jumping mechanics (Attia et al., 2017). However, our overall findings indicate that the horizontal jump test and the vertical jump test may be an appropriate ecologic alternative to laboratory tests examining lower limb strength.

In some sports, such as surfing and rugby, the push-up test is used to predict performance (Parsonage et al., 2017; Speranza, Gabbett, & Johnston, 2015). The push-up test can be used as a differentiator tool between young non-athletes and athletes. Previous studies in the general adolescent population have examined the validity and reliability of the push-up test (Baumgartner et al., 2002; Pate, Burgess, & Woods, 1993) and concluded that results are dependent on the relationship between upper body strength and body fat percentage (Castro-Pinero et al., 2009). In adult athletes, the push-up test sensibility, validity and reliability have been assessed using force plates (Gillen et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2017), but these characteristics have not been assessed in young athletes. Our investigation results further reinforce that the push-up test is an adequate test to assess upper body MF in young athletes.

The sit and reach test is commonly used in gymnastics to assess physical performance, and its validity and reliability have already been assessed among the general population as a measure of health (Ortega, Ruiz, et al., 2008; Pion, Lenoir, & Vandorpe, 2015). Along these lines, we too also found this test to have excellent test-retest reliability in athletes of different sports backgrounds and competition levels.

The 20 m run, for the overall sample and boys, and the 40 m run, for girls, were the only tests where significant differences were found between test-retest values. These results differ from those of previous studies conducted in the general population, where the 20 m and 40 m run tests were found to be reliable (Castro-Pinero et al., 2010; Vanhelst et al., 2016). Notwithstanding, the 20 m and 40 m run tests presented good or excellent ICC values and strong to the almost perfect agreement in our sample of young athletes, with exception for the 20 m speed run in girls that presented moderate reliability (ICC = 0.57). The differences observed in the 20 m and 40 m run may be explained by the degree of precision needed when assessing these tests. As slight differences in assessment may lead significant differences, it is usual to use more advanced materials (e.g. photoelectric cells) other than chronometers for assessing speed. However, the objective of the FITescola® is to be low cost, and with minimal required equipment, the use of chronometers was chosen

This investigation has some limitations. First, the sample size is not sufficient to ensure a representative distribution of the young athletes from all types of sports and competition levels. In addition, of the young athletes included in our investigation, there was non-homogeneity in the distribution of sports backgrounds and competition levels between the sexes. Furthermore, maturity was not assessed. Maturity is an important variable associated with physical fitness performance (Bergeron et al., 2015; Björkman et al., 2018). It would be interesting that future studies in the athlete population stratify the analysis accordingly to the maturity status, to see the effect of this variable in the validity and reliability of fitness tests. Other limitation of this investigation is regarding the number of elite and super-elite athletes in the sample and the transferability of these findings to these levels of competition.

6 Clinical Physiology and					HENR	IQUES-NETO ET AL.
Functional Imaging						
TABLE 2 Reliability of ph	nysical fitness test in	n youth athletes by sex	C			
	Trial 1	Trial 2	p-value	Mean (T2-T1)	ICC	95% CI
All						
PACER (laps)	59.07 ± 25.6	59.6 ± 27.0	.694	0.49	0.85	0.80, 0.90
Push-up(reps)	23.3 ± 10.6	24.0 ± 10.5	.119	0.74	0.86	0.81, 0.90
Sit and reach (cm)	26.4 ± 9.9	26.8 ± 9.8	.056	0.36	0.98	0.97, 0.98
Horizontal jump (cm)	186.3 ± 38.9	186.5 ± 38.3	.847	0.18	0.96	0.95, 0.97
Vertical jump (cm)	38.6 ± 10.4	38.9 ± 10.0	.719	0.33	0.72	0.63, 0.70
Shuttle run (4 × 10 m)	11.8 ± 1.2	11.8 ± 1.2	.826	-0.01	0.83	0.77, 0.88
Speed test (20 m)	3.6 ± 0.5	3.7 ± 0.5	<.001	0.09	0.80	0.74, 0.86
Speed test (40 m)	6.7 ± 0.9	6.8 ± 0.9	.132	0.04	0.93	0.90, 0.95
Boys						
PACER (laps)	66.5 ± 25.8	67.3 ± 27.3	.643	0.84	0.79	0.70, 0.86
Push-up(reps)	23.8 ± 9.8	24.8 ± 10.2	.100	0.99	0.83	0.76, 0.89
Sit and reach (cm)*	23.5 ± 8.7	24.0 ± 8.7	.099	0.45	0.96	0.93, 0.97
Horizontal jump (cm)	1,997 ± 33.4	200.1 ± 34.5	.755	0.42	0.93	0.90, 0.95
Vertical jump (cm)	40.7 ± 10.5	40.9 ± 10.4	.821	0.18	0.75	0.65, 0.83
Shuttle run (4 × 10 m) (s)	11.4 ± 1.1	11.4 ± 1.0	.952	-0.01	0.78	0.69, 0.85
Speed test (20 m) (s)	3.4 ± 0.5	3.6 ± 0.5	<.001	0.12	0.82	0.69, 0.89
Speed test (40 m) (s)	6.5 ± 0.9	6.5 ± 0.9	.908	0.01	0.92	0.87, 0.94
Girls						
PACER (laps)	44.3 ± 17.7	44.0 ± 18.4	.799	-0.22	0.95	0.91, 0.97
Push-up (reps)	22.2 ± 12.0	22.4 ± 10.9	.757	0.24	0.90	0.82, 0.94
Sit and reach (cm)	32.2 ± 9.6	32.4 ± 9.6	.221	0.17	0.99	0.99, 0.99
Horizontal jump (cm)	159.5 ± 35.3	162.0 ± 38.7	.742	-0.29	0.99	0.97, 0.99
Vertical jump (cm)	34.3 ± 8.9	34.9 ± 8.02	.387	0.65	0.88	0.80, 0.93
Shuttle run (4 × 10 m) (s)	12.6 ± 1.0	12.6 ± 1.0	.764	-0.03	0.76	0.60, 0.86
Speed test (20 m) (s)	3.8 ± 0.3	3.8 ± 0.4	.477	0.04	0.57	0.34, 0.74
Speed test (40 m) (s)	7.3 ± 0.6	7.4 ± 0.7	.008	0.13	0.87	0.76, 0.93

Abbreviations: ICC, Intraclass correlation coefficient; PACER, Progressive Aerobic Cardiovascular Endurance Run; T1, Trial one; T2, Trial two. The average of left and right side was used to analyse; p-value for the t test in continuous variables to compare differences between T1 and T2 for all groups.

Notwithstanding, in the investigated ages very few athletes are elite and super-elite.

Despite limitations, this is the first investigation to demonstrate the reliability of a group of physical fitness tests in young athletes. Given the advantages of these physical fitness tests over laboratory tests, including their safety, minimal required equipment and being able to be performed in an ecologic context (school or training facility), these fitness tests may be useful tools to assess physical performance and overall health in athletic youth.

Additionally, for the governments, sports clubs and parents have been expressing interest in sports promotion and intervention programs in adolescents (Bergeron et al., 2015). There is a need for adequate age and sex appropriate measures to test and improve sports participation and health-related physical fitness during this specific period of growth.

This investigation assessed the test-retest reliability of the FITescola® battery among young athletes. The FITescola® battery

demonstrated to be a valid alternative to laboratory tests assessing physical fitness in young athletes. Findings showed that the battery tests had good or excellent reliability and concordance of the ICC between the two trials (ICC  $\ge$  0.75) with exception for the 20 m speed run in girls that presented moderate reliability (ICC = 0.57).

### PRACTICAL APPLICATIONS

The FITescola<sup>®</sup> is a digital platform aiming to monitor fitness and promote health and sports performance in youth aged 10 to 18 yearsold attending Portuguese public schools. This tool combines physical fitness test of upper and lower strength, aerobic cardiorespiratory fitness, ability and speed. Results of this investigation indicate that the FITescola<sup>®</sup> battery reliability is high and can be used for young athletes from several sports background. Thus, this battery may be a useful tool for authorities, clubs, federations and professionals to use when aiming to promote sports participation, find young



FIGURE 1 Bland-Altman plot of all the FITescola<sup>®</sup> physical fitness tests for boys. \*Central dotted line represents the mean differences between T2-T1; the upper and lower dotted lines represent the upper and lower 95% limits of agreement (mean differences ± 1.96 SD of the differences)



Physical Fitness: Identifiers of Sport Participation and Bone Health in Youth

FIGURE 2 Bland-Altman plot of all FITescola® physical fitness tests for girls. \*Central dotted line represents the mean differences between T2-T1; the upper and lower dotted lines represent the upper and lower 95% limits of agreement (mean differences ± 1.96 SD of the differences)

9

#### HENRIQUES-NETO ET AL.

sports talents or when designing talent identification programs with greater confidence in its reliability.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

DHN was supported by a grant from Comité Olímpico de Portugal (doctoral scholarship-COP). MP was supported by a grant (SFRH/ BD/122219/2016) from the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology. This work is also financed by a national grant through the FCT–Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the unit I&D 472 (UID/DTP/00447/2019). The authors would like to thank the participants and their teachers, who contributed to this investigation.

### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

#### AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

Research concept and study design: DHN, LBS. Literature review: DHN, AM, MP. Data collection: DHN, CM, MP. Data analysis and interpretation: LBS, AM, CM. Writing of the manuscript: DHN. Reviewing/editing a draft of the manuscript: DHN, LBS, CM, AM, MP.

#### ORCID

Duarte Henriques-Neto D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3780-6545

### REFERENCES

- Ali, A. (2011). Measuring soccer skill performance: A review. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports, 21(2), 170–183. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010.01256.x
- Araújo, C. G. S., & Scharhag, J. (2016). Athlete: A working definition for medical and health sciences research. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports, 26(1), 4–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/ sms.12632
- Armstrong, N., & Barker, A. R. (2017). Physiological monitoring of elite young athletes. In N. Armstrong, & W. van Mechelen (Eds.), Children's sport and exercise medicine (pp. 527–537). Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Armstrong, N., & McManus, A. M. (2011). Physiology of elite young male athletes. Medicine and Sport Science, 56, 1–22.
- Artero, E. G., España-Romero, V., Castro-Piñero, J., Ortega, F. B., Suni, J., Castillo-Garzon, M. J., & Ruiz, J. R. (2011). Reliability of field-based fitness tests in youth. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 32(3), 159–169. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0030-1268488
- Asker, M., Waldén, M., Källberg, H., Holm, L. W., & Skillgate, E. (2017). A prospective cohort study identifying risk factors for shoulder injuries in adolescent elite handball players: The Karolinska Handball Study (KHAST) study protocol. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders, 18(1), 485. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-017-1852-2
- Attia, A., Dhahbi, W., Chaouachi, A., Padulo, J., Wong, D. P., & Chamari, K. (2017). Measurement errors when estimating the vertical jump height with flight time using photocell devices: The example of Optojump. *Biology of Sport*, 34(1), 63–70. https://doi.org/10.5114/ biolsport.2017.63735
- Barker, A. R., & Armstrong, N. (2011). Exercise testing elite young athletes. Medicine and Sport Science, 56, 106–125.
- Baumgartner, T. A., Oh, S., Chung, H., & Hales, D. (2002). Objectivity, reliability, and validity for a revised push-up test protocol. *Measurement* in *Physical Education and Exercise Science*, 6(4), 225-242. https://doi. org/10.1207/S15327841MPEE0604\_2

- Bergeron, M. F., Mountjoy, M., Armstrong, N., Chia, M., Côté, J., Emery, C. A., ... Engebretsen, L. (2015). International Olympic Committee consensus statement on youth athletic development. *British Journal* of Sports Medicine, 49(13), 843–851. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjspo rts-2015-094962
- Björkman, F., Eggers, A., Stenman, A., Bohman, T., Ekblom, B., & Ekblom, Ö. (2018). Sex and maturity status affected the validity of a submaximal cycle test in adolescents. Acta Paediatrica, 107(1), 126-133. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.14080
- Brown, K. A., Patel, D. R., & Darmawan, D. (2017). Participation in sports in relation to adolescent growth and development. *Translational Pediatrics*, 6(3), 150–159. https://doi.org/10.21037/tp.2017.04.03
- Castro-Pinero, J., Artero, E. G., Espana-Romero, V. Ortega, F. B., Sjostrom, M., Suni, J., & Ruiz, J. R. (2009). Criterion-related validity of field-based fitness tests in youth: A systematic review. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 44(13), 934–943. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.2009.058321
- Castro-Pinero, J., Gonzalez-Montesinos, J. L., Keating, X. D., Mora, J., Sjöström, M., & Ruiz, J. R. (2010). Percentile values for running sprint field tests in children ages 6-17 years: Influence of weight status. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 81(2), 143–151. https://doi. org/10.5641/027013610X13088554297035
- Espana-Romero, V., Artero, E. G., Jimenez-Pavon, D., Cuenca-Garcia, M., Ortega, F. B., Castro-Piñero, J., ... Ruiz, J. R. (2010). Assessing health-related fitness tests in the school setting: Reliability, feasibility and safety; The ALPHA Study. International Journal of Sports Medicine, 31(7), 490-497. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0030-1251990
- Fernandez-Santos, J. R., Ruiz, J. R., Cohen, D. D., Gonzalez-Montesinos, J. L., & Castro-Piñero, J. (2015). Reliability and validity of tests to assess lower-body muscular power in children. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 29(8), 2277–2285. https://doi.org/10.1519/ JSC.000000000000864
- Gillen, Z. M., Miramonti, A. A., McKay, B. D., Jenkins, N. D. M., Leutzinger, T. J., & Cramer, J. T. (2018). Reliability and sensitivity of the power push-up test for upper-body strength and power in 6-15-year-old male athletes. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 32(1), 83-96. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000002313
- Grgic, J., Oppici, L., Mikulic, P., Bangsbo, J., Krustrup, P., & Pedisic, Z. (2019). Test-retest reliability of the Yo-Yo test: A systematic review. Sports Medicine, 49(10), 1547–1557. https://doi.org/10.1007/s4027 9-019-01143-4.
- Jemni, M., Prince, M. S., & Baker, J. S. (2018). Assessing cardiorespiratory fitness of soccer players: Is test specificity the issue?-A Review. Sports Medicine - Open, 4(1), 28.
- Johnston, K., Wattie, N., Schorer, J., & Baker, J. (2017). Talent identification in sport: A systematic review. Sports Medicine, 48(1), 97-109. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-017-0803-2
- Kellmann, M., Bertollo, M., Bosquet, L., Brink, M., Coutts, A. J., Duffield, R., ... Beckmann, J. (2018). Recovery and performance in sport: Consensus statement. International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance, 13(2), 240–245.
- Koo, T. K., & Li, M. Y. (2016). A guideline of selecting and reporting intraclass correlation coefficients for reliability research. *Journal of Chiropractic Medicine*, 15(2), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jcm.2016.02.012
- Kutlu, M., Yapici, H., & Yilmaz, A. (2017). Reliability and validity of a new test of agility and skill for female amateur soccer players. *Journal of Human Kinetics*, 56, 219–227. https://doi.org/10.1515/hukin-2017-0039
- Lohman, T. G., Roche, A. F., & Martorell, R. (1998). Anthropometric standardization reference manual. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Mayorga-Vega, D., Aguilar-Soto, P., & Viciana, J. (2015). Criterion-related validity of the 20-M shuttle run test for estimating cardiorespiratory fitness: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Sports Science and Medicine*, 14(3), 536–547.
- McManus, A. M., & Armstrong, N. (2011). Physiology of elite young female athletes. *Medicine Sport Science*, 56, 23-46.

### 10 Clinical Physiology and

- Mountjoy, M., Sundgot-Borgen, J., Burke, L., Carter, S., Constantini, N., Lebrun, C., ... Ljungqvist, A. (2014). The IOC consensus statement: Beyond the female athlete triad—Relative Energy Deficiency in Sport (RED-S). British Journal of Sports Medicine, 48(7), 491-497. https:// doi.org/10.1136/bisports-2014-093502
- Mungovan, S. F., Peralta, P. J., Gass, G. C. & Scanlan, A. T. (2018). The test-retest reliability and criterion validity of a high-intensity, netball-specific circuit test: The Net-Test. Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 21(12), 1268–1273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jsams.2018.04.002
- Nimphius, S., Callaghan, S. J., Bezodis, N. E., & Lockie, R. G. (2018). Change of direction and agility tests. Strength and Conditioning Journal, 40(1), 26–38. https://doi.org/10.1519/SSC.00000000000000309
- Ortega, B., Ruiz, R., Castillo, J., & Sjostrom, M. (2008). Physical fitness in childhood and adolescence: A powerful marker of health. *International Journal of Obesity*, 32(1), 1–11.
- Ortega, F. B., Artero, E. G., Ruiz, J. R., Vicente-Rodriguez, G., Bergman, P., Hagstromer, M., ... Castillo, M. J. (2008). Reliability of health-related physical fitness tests in European adolescents. The HELENA Study. International Journal of Obesity, 32(S5), S49–S57. https://doi. org/10.1038/ijo.2008.183
- Parsonage, J., Secomb, J. L., Sheppard, J. M., Ferrier, B. K., Dowse, R. A., & Nimphius, S. (2017). Upper-body strength measures and pop-up performance of stronger and weaker surfers. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.000000000 002377
- Pate, R. R., Burgess, M. L., Woods, J. A., Ross, J. G., & Baumgartner, T. (1993). Validity of field tests of upper body muscular strength. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 64(1), 17–24. https://doi. org/10.1080/02701367.1993.10608774
- Pion, J., Lenoir, M., Vandorpe, B., & Segers, V. (2015). Talent in female gymnastics: A survival analysis based upon performance characteristics. International Journal of Sports Medicine, 36(11), 935–940. https:// doi.org/10.1055/s-0035-1548887
- Pion, J., Segers, V., Fransen, J., Debuyck, G., Deprez, D., Haerens, L., ... Lenoir, M. (2015). Generic anthropometric and performance characteristics among elite adolescent boys in nine different sports. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 15(5), 357–366. https://doi. org/10.1080/17461391.2014.944875
- Pojskic, H., Åslin, E., Krolo, A., Jukic, I., Uljevic, O., Spasic, M., & Sekulic, D. (2018). Importance of reactive agility and change of direction speed in differentiating performance levels in junior soccer players: Reliability and validity of newly developed soccer-specific tests. Frontiers in Physiology, 9, 506. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.00506.
- Ramírez-Vélez, R., Rodrigues-Bezerra, D., Correa-Bautista, J. E., Izquierdo, M., & Lobelo, F. (2015). Reliability of health-related physical fitness tests among colombian children and adolescents: The FUPRECOL Study. PLoS ONE, 10(10), e0140875. https://doi.org/10.1371/journ al.pone.0140875
- Rees, T., Hardy, L., Gullich, A., Abernethy, B., Côté, J., Woodman, T., ... Warr, C. (2016). The Great British Medalists Project: A review of current knowledge on the development of the world's best sporting talent. Sports Medicine, 46(8), 1041–1058. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40279-016-0476-2
- Rouissi, M., Chtara, M.,Berriri, A., Owen, A., & Chamari, K. (2016). Asymmetry of the modified Illinois change of direction test impacts

young elite soccer players' performance. Asian Journal of Sports Medicine, 7(2), e33598. https://doi.org/10.5812/asjsm.33598

- Ruiz, J. R., Castro-Pinero, J., Espana-Romero, V., Artero, E. G., Ortega, F. B., Cuenca, M. M., ... Castillo, M. J. (2011). Field-based fitness assessment in young people: The ALPHA health-related fitness test battery for children and adolescents. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 45(6), 518-524. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.2010.075341
- Schaal, K., Tafflet, M., Nassif, H., Thibault, V., Pichard, C., Alcotte, M., ... Toussaint, J.-F. (2011). Psychological balance in high level athletes: Gender-based differences and sport-specific patterns. PLoS ONE, 6(5), e19007. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0019007
- Smoll, F. L., & Schutz, R. W. (1985). Physical fitness differences between athletes and nonathletes: Do changes occur as a function of age and sex? Human Movement Science, 4(3), 189-202. https://doi. org/10.1016/0167-9457(85)90002-8
- Spasic, M., Krolo, A., Zenic, N., Delextrat, A., & Sekulic, D. (2015). Reactive agility performance in handball; Development and evaluation of a sport-specific measurement protocol. *Journal of Sports Science and Medicine*, 14(3), 501–506.
- Speranza, M. J. A., Gabbett, T. J., Johnston, R. D., & Sheppard, J. M. (2015). Muscular strength and power correlates of tackling ability in Semiprofessional Rugby League Players. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 29(8), 2071–2078. https://doi.org/10.1519/ JSC.000000000000897
- Vanhelst, J., Beghin, L., Fardy, P. S., Ulmer, Z., & Czaplicki, G. (2016). Reliability of health-related physical fitness tests in adolescents: The MOVE Program. *Clinical Physiology and Functional Imaging*, 36(2), 106-111. https://doi.org/10.1111/cpf.12202
- Wang, R., Hoffman, J. R., Sadres, E., Bartolomei, S., Muddle, T. W. D., Fukuda, D. H., & Stout, J. R. (2017). Evaluating upper-body strength and power from a single test: The Ballistic Push-up. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 31(5), 1338-1345. https://doi. org/10.1519/JSC.00000000001832
- Watkins, C. M., Barillas, S. R., Wong, M. A., Archer, D. C., Dobbs, I. J., Lockie, R. G., ... Brown, L. E. (2017). Determination of vertical jump as a measure of neuromuscular readiness and fatigue. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 31(12), 3305–3310. https://doi. org/10.1519/JSC.00000000002231
- Winter, E., Jones, A., Davison, R., Bromley, P., & Mercer, T. (2007). Sport and exercise physiology testing guidelines. London, UK: Routledge.
- World Medical Association (2013). World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. JAMA, 310(20), 2191–2194.
- Zemková, E., & Hamar, D. (2018). Sport-Specific assessment of the effectiveness of neuromuscular training in young athletes. Frontiers in Physiology, 9, 264. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.00264

How to cite this article: Henriques-Neto D, Minderico C, Peralta M, Marques A, Sardinha LB. Test-retest reliability of physical fitness tests among young athletes: The FITescola<sup>®</sup> battery. *Clin Physiol Funct Imaging*. 2020;00:1-10. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1111/cpf.12624

#### HENRIQUES-NETO ET AL.

# **CHAPTER 5**

Predicting sports potential in youth through physical

fitness tests

<sup>2</sup> Duarte Henriques-Neto, Megan Hetherington-Rauth, João Pedro Magalhães, Pedro B. Júdice, Luís B.

Sardinha. (submited) Predicting sports potential in youth through physical fitness tests.

# **PREDICTING SPORTS POTENTIAL IN YOUTH THROUGH PHYSICAL FITNESS TESTS**

Duarte Henriques-Neto, Megan Hetherington-Rauth, João Pedro Magalhães, Pedro B. Júdice, Luís B. Sardinha

### ABSTRACT

**Background:** Promoting youth sports participation is an excellent strategy to improve health and high-level sports competition around the world.

**Objective:** The aim of this investigation was to analyse the potential of commonly used physical-fitness-tests (PF) to discriminate adolescents with athletic potential.

**Methods:** Participants consisted of 1831 youth (boys: 514 non-athletes and 401 athletes; girls: 722 non-athletes and 194 athletes) aged 10-18 years (y). Cardiorespiratory-fitness (CRF), muscular-fitness (MF), agility and speed were tested using PF tests. Application of ROC curves were used to assess the discriminatory potential of each PF for distinguishing athletes from non-athletes, with an area under the curve (AUC) higher than 65% (0.65).

**Results:** In the oldest groups ( $\geq 16y$ ), the speed test at 20m in boys (AUC= 0.70) and horizontal jump test in girls (AUC=0.75) were the best discriminators, while the push-up-test (AUC 10-11y boys=0.68, AUC 14-15y boys=0.68, AUC 10-11y girls=0.73, AUC 12-13y girls=0.87) and the PACER (AUC boys: 12-13y=0.68 and AUC girls 14-15y=0.73) appeared to be better discriminators than other PF tests, for the younger age-groups.

**Conclusion:** The speed-test at 20m and the horizontal-jump were the best PF to identify older adolescents with athletic potential, while the PACER and push-up tests were the most discriminatory for younger adolescents.

Keywords: PACER, adolescents, athletes, sports, talent.

### **INTRODUCTION**

The number of young people participating in sports has been raising significantly in the last decades (Bayt & Bell, 2016). There is a consensus that regular participation in organised sports plays an essential role in building teamwork and interpersonal skills, promoting healthy lifestyles, and improving physical activity (PA) and physical fitness (PF) levels among children and adolescents (J. Baker et al., 2017; J. L. Baker, Hebert, Møller, Andersen, & Wedderkopp, 2015; Brenner, 2016; Patton et al., 2016; Schmidt et al., 2017). Notwithstanding, one of the main goals of organized sports participation in youth is to provide a basis for developing latent sports talents (Phillips, Davids, Renshaw, & Portus, 2010).

To achieve this goal, several sporting entities around the world have developed programs to identify talented young athletes based on PF performance (Gulbin, Croser, Morley, & Weissensteiner, 2013; Tamara Kramer, Huijgen, Elferink-Gemser, & Visscher, 2016). It is a common practice to analyze the physical profile of young athletes, compare this with adult athletes when aiming to predict potential success (B. Jones et al., 2018; Li et al., 2018). However, this type of methodology is heavily rooted in assumptions (Tribolet, Bennett, Watsford, & Fransen, 2018), as several characteristics that distinguish top athletes in adults may not be observed during adolescence (J. Baker et al., 2017; Johnston et al., 2017). Additionally, adolescence is a dynamic period characterised by the growth and development of different organic systems (e.g. bone tissue, muscle tissue), which rarely progresses at the same time or in a linear fashion (Patton et al., 2016). Thus, assessing physical fitness in youth and comparing it with their peers may be a better alternative.

PF is an essential marker of health and sports performance in youth (N. Armstrong & McManus, 2011; B. Ortega, R. Ruiz, J. Castillo, & M. Sjostrom, 2008). Adequate PF monitoring can be an excellent strategy to promote health and to identify young athletic talents for all types of sports (Bergeron et al., 2015). Thus, the first aim of the present investigation was to analyse the diagnostic accuracy of PF tests to discriminate between children and adolescent athletes and non-athletes, independent of sports type and competitive level. The second aim was to define the age group and sex-specific cutoff values for identifying athletes by each PF test.

### **METHODS**

### Participants and investigation design

This cross-sectional investigation comprised a sample of 1831 children and adolescents (915 boys, 916 girls), aged between 10- and 18-years-old (yrs). From the 1831, 595 were registered athletes (401 boys, 193 girls) from 25 different sports (athletics, badminton, basketball, boxing, canoeing, cycling, equestrian, fencing, football/soccer, gymnastics, handball, hockey, judo, rowing, rugby, sailing, swimming, table tennis, taekwondo, tennis, trampoline, volleyball, water polo, weightlifting, and wrestling). Participants were considered athletes if they achieved the following criteria: (1) were registered in the national association of their sport, and the association was registered in the National Institute of Sport and Youth; (2) participated in competitions regularly; (3) had two or more training sessions per week; (4) had completed at least one sporting season before assessment. All participants were recruited from several public schools or official federative club teams within the Porto and Lisbon district areas. PF tests were assessed using the protocols from the

FITescola® program, which comprehend PF tests and anthropometric evaluations, such as, cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF), upper and lower muscular fitness (MF), flexibility, agility, speed and body mass index (BMI). The FITescola® program is a free online platform used in all public schools by physical education teachers, which provides a set of tools to assess and monitor the health-related PF of Portuguese children and adolescents aged 10-18 yrs (http://fitescola.dge.mec.pt/home.aspx). Data were collected during training sessions in the schools or sports clubs' facilities by trained physical education teachers and sports coaches. All participants were informed about the aim of the project, and written consent was obtained from their legal guardians before participation in the investigation. The investigation followed the Declaration of Helsinki for Human Investigations (WMA, 2008) and was approved by the Ethics Committee of Faculty of Human Kinetics, University of Lisbon (CEFMH-Approved; N.°19/2018).

### Measures

### **Body composition**

All participants were weighed to nearest 0.01 kg on an electronic scale (model 799 SECA, Hamburg, Germany) while wearing minimal clothes. Height was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm with a stadiometer (model 220 SECA, Hamburg, Germany) (Lohman TG, 1998). BMI was calculated as body mass (kg)/height<sup>2</sup> (m).

### Competitive level and training frequency

Competitive level and weekly training frequency were self-reported. Competitive level was categorised based on past individual performance (Super-elite: Olympics or world championship; Elite: senior international competition; Junior-elite: junior national or international competition; Non-elite: juniors or seniors under national competition) (Rees et al., 2016) and weekly training duration and frequency was counted as the usual number of training sessions per week at the time of the investigation.

### **Physical fitness**

The FITescola® program was used to assess PF. The specific tests from the FITescola® program used to evaluate each component of PF have been described in detail elsewhere (Lisbon, 2015) and validated in previous investigations for adolescents (Gracia-Marco, Vicente-Rodríguez, et al., 2011; Vanhelst et al., 2016).

### Statistical analysis

Data analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 24.0 (SPSS Inc., an IBM Company, Chicago, Illinois, USA). Descriptive statistics (including mean, standard deviation and percentages) were calculated for all variables for the overall sample and for each sex separately. Differences between sexes were assessed using Students' T-test for continuous variables and Chi-square test for categorical variables. ROC curves were created to assess the predictive capacity of each PF test to distinguish athletes from non-athletes. The ROC curves, which created an area under the curve (AUC) higher than 65% (0.65)(Pearce, Sinclair, Leicht, & Woods, 2018) for each PF test, were used to signal a greater probability of discrimination. Coefficient interval (CI) was set at 95% and performed by using the nonparametric approach (Hoo, Candlish, & Teare, 2017). The cut-offs determined for the PF tests correspond to the best tradeoff between sensitivity and specificity for identifying athletes from non-athletes in each age-group. These values were calculated using the receiver operating characteristics (ROC) with Youden's index (Ruopp, Perkins, Whitcomb, & Schisterman, 2008). Statistical significance was set at 5%.

### RESULTS

Descriptive data of the participants' characteristics and their distribution, according to sex are presented in Table 5.1. For both sexes, age, weight, height, and BMI were not significantly different among athletes and non-athletes.

			Mean ± S	SD or n			
		Boys (i	a=915)		Girls (1	n=916)	
	All (n=1831)	Non-Athletes (n=514)	Athletes (n=401)	p-value	Non-Athletes (n=722)	Athletes (n=194)	p-value
Age (years)	14.1±2.3	14.1±2.3	14.0±2.2	NS	14.3±2.3	13.9±2.2	0.023
Weight (kg)	54.5±13.5	56.3±15.3	56.5±14.2	NS	52.9±12.1	51.7±11.2	NS
Height (cm)	161±11.4	164.5±12.6	164.7±13.0	NS	158.4±8.6	157.5±9.0	NS
BMI ( kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	20.7±3.6	20.5±3.8	20.5±3.1	NS	20.9±3.8	20.6±3.2	NS
Week Frequency Training (times)	2.0±1.9	1.2±1.7	3.8±1.2	< 0.001	1.1±1.6	3.8±1.6	<0.001
Week Duration Training (minutes)	191.3±250.6	98.7±152.3	372.7±188.9	<0.001	86.9±153.5	451.8±415.0	<0.001
Level Sports Competition (n)*							< 0.001
Non-Elite	418	1	312		2	107	
Junior-Elite	178	(a)	86		12	82	
Elite	3		2		.3	1	
Super-Elite	5	22	1		22	4	

 Table 5.1 – Anthropometric characteristics, level of sports competition and type of sports of youth participants

p-value for the T-test in continuous variables to compare differences between non-athletes and athletes.

\*Chi-square test to compare differences in proportions level sports competition between boys and girls.

SD, standard deviation; NS, non-significant; BMI, body mass index.

The AUC estimates and the cut-offs for each PF test in the four age-groups of boys and girls are presented in Tables 5.2 and 5.3. The push-up test (for boys 10-11 and 14-15 yrs; for girls 10-11 and 12-13 yrs) and the PACER (for boys 12-13 yrs and for girls 14-15 yrs) appeared to be better discriminators than the other PF tests, while for the oldest age group ( $\geq$ 16 yrs), the PF tests were the speed test at 20m for boys and horizontal jump test for girls. All AUC values in both sexes were over 0.5, suggesting informative diagnostic discriminatory power, except for the speed test at 40m (AUC= 0.50) and vertical jump test (AUC=0.50) in boys 10-11 yrs. The cut-offs based on the ROC curves showed that for certain PF tests, the values used to identify athletes from non-athletes were either increased or decreased with ageing. For example, the cut-offs for the shuttle-run test (4x10m), and the speed at 20m and 40m all decreased with age, except for the shuttle-run test in girls  $\geq$  16 yrs, where the cut-off value increased. Conversely, the cut-offs for PACER increase with age for the boys, but not in girls. In both sexes, the cut-offs for horizontal jump increased with age, with the exception of the oldest age group for girls, where the horizontal jump distance decreased 4cm when compared with 14-15 yrs girls. The cut-offs for vertical jump increased with age in girls, while in boys, the values decreased in 12-13 and 14-15 yrs and increased in  $\geq$  16 yrs, when compared with the youngest age group.

			B	oys (total n=	=915)			
		10-	11 years (no	n-athletes n=	=76; athletes n =6	1)		
Physical Fitness Tests	Non-Athletes	Athletes	p-value	AUC	95% CI	Cut-off	Sensitivity	Specificity
PACER (laps)	29.4±14.3	38.0±20.0	0.004	0.621	0.523-0.718	37.0	0.475	0.197
Push-up (reps)	12.4±10.5	17.0±11.6	0.016	0.678	0.587-0.770	12.0	0.721	0.342
Horizontal jump (cm)	$140.2\pm 21.0$	147.8±20.0	0.032	0.618	0.523-0.713	147.5	0.590	0.342
Vertical jump (cm)	27.9±6.3	28.4±7.0	NS	0.502	0.403-0.600	34.3	0.230	0.145
Sit and reach (cm)	19.6±6.8	22.4±5.9	0.013	0.618	0.524-0.712	18.3	0.820	0.592
Shuttle run – 4x10m (s)	$13.1 \pm 1.0$	12.7±0.9	0.007	0.622	0.528-0.716	12.5	0.508	0.289
Speed at 20m (s)	4.2±0.4	4.2±0.3	NS	0.523	0.427-0.620	4.5	0.869	0.724
Speed at 40m (s)	7.5±0.7	7.4±0.6	NS	0.496	0.399-0.594	7.1	0.443	0.368
		12-1	3 years (non-	athletes n=1	43 ; athletes n =1	03)		
PACER (laps)	41.3±15.9	52.9±19.3	<0.001	0.681	0.612-0.751	52.0	0.553	0.231
Push-up (reps)	13.0±9.6	15.2±8.6	NS	0.594	0.523-0.666	12.0	0.670	0.469
Horizontal jump (cm)	$160.9 \pm 31.4$	161.7±34.1	NS	0.527	0.454-0.601	171.8	0.398	0.308
Vertical jump (cm)	33.6±8.0	33.8±7.5	NS	0.520	0.447-0.593	27.5	0.835	0.748
Sit and reach (cm)	18.6±7.2	20.0±6.8	NS	0.559	0.486-0.638	20.8	0.583	0.392
Shuttle run – 4x10m (s)	12.6±1.0	$12.2\pm1.1$	0.013	0.608	0.537-0.680	12.0	0.466	0.280
Speed at 20m (s)	3.9±0.4	3.8±0.4	NS	0.543	0.469-0.616	3.8	0.495	0.385
Speed at 40m (s)	6.9±0.7	6.8±0.7	NS	0.529	0.452-0.601	7.5	0.903	0.825
p-value for the T-test in co NS, non-significant.	ontinuous variables bet	ween non-athletes a	nd athletes. /	AUC, area ui	ıder curve; CI, co	nfidence int	erval	
								(Continued)

Table 5.2 – Physical fitness tests used to differentiate athlete and non-athlete boys by age group

Chapter 5: Investigation 2

159

			Bo	ys Groups (	n=915)			
I		14-1	5 years (non-	athletes n=1	[27 ; athletes n =]	[27]		
Physical Fitness Tests	Non-Athletes	Athletes	p-value	AUC	95% CI	Cut-off	Sensitivity	Specificity
PACER (laps)	55.5±16.9	71.0±19.3	<0.001	0.723	0.661-0.785	70.0	0.520	0.137
Push-up (reps)	16.0±7.5	22.4±1.0	<0.001	0.688	0.624-0.753	18.0	0.654	0.402
Horizontal jump (cm)	$185.1 \pm 41.1$	197.7±34.0	0.009	0.625	0.556-0.694	195.5	0.638	0.378
Vertical jump (cm)	41.3±8.6	42.8±8.0	NS	0.547	0.476-0.618	31.8	0.953	0.811
Sit and reach (cm)	21.1±8.0	23.1±7.9	NS	0.581	0.510-0.651	30.8	0.142	0.126
Shuttle run – 4x10m (s)	11.9±1.0	11.3±0.7	<0.001	0.662	0.596-0.729	11.9	0.858	0.567
Speed at 20m (s)	3.6±0.4	3.5±0.3	<0.001	0.654	0.586-0.721	3.6	0.787	0.480
Speed at 40m (s)	6.3±0.6	6.1±0.5	0.011	0.587	0.516-0.657	6.1	0.685	0.488
I		- 10	5 years (non-8	athletes n=1	10 ; athletes n =1	68)		
PACER (laps)	61.6±18.1	75.4±20.5	<0.001	0.691	0.627-0.755	74.0	0.555	0.220
Push-up (reps)	20.6±9.2	23.3±7.0	0.010	0.600	0.533-0.666	18.0	0.873	0.685
Horizontal jump (cm)	183.0±62.0	186.5±73.0	NS	0.595	0.527-0.664	200.5	0.654	0.440
Vertical jump (cm)	45.5±9.4	47.9±8.1	0.030	0.578	0.510-0.646	42.3	0.655	0.500
Sit and reach (cm)	24.6±8.3	25.9±8.0	NS	0.539	0.470-0.608	23.9	0.625	0.554
Shuttle run – 4x10m (s)	$11.4 \pm 0.8$	10.9±0.7	<0.001	0.672	0.607-0.738	10.8	0.564	0.256
Speed at 20m (s)	3.6±0.4	3.4±0.3	<0.001	0.702	0.640-0.765	3.4	0.564	0.238
Speed at 40m (s)	6.1±0.5	5.9±0.4	0.001	0.615	0.548-0.683	5.9	0.609	0.405
p-value for the T-test in cont NS, non-significant.	tinuous variables betwe	en non-athletes ar	nd athletes. A	UC, area un	der curve; CI, co	nfidence inter	val	

Table 5.2 – Physical fitness tests used to differentiate athlete and non-athlete boys by age group (continued)

			5	irls (total n≕	916)			
			10-11 years (nor	n-athletes n=1	00; athletes n =3	(1)		
Physical Fitness Tests	Non-Athletes	Athletes	p-value	AUC	95% CI	Cut-off	Sensitivity	Specificity
PACER (laps)	22.6±9.0	33.0±18.5	0.005	0.638	0.512-0.763	43.0	0.355	0.040
Push-up (reps)	9.9±7.7	17.5±10.1	<0.001	0.733	0.632-0.834	15.0	0.581	0.200
Horizontal jump (cm)	133.3±19.3	145.7±20.1	0.002	0.674	0.565-0.783	152.0	0.419	0.130
Vertical jump (cm)	26.6±6.1	30.0±3.9	0.004	0.719	0.624-0.813	30.0	0.667	0.250
Sit and reach (cm)	24.1±6.0	28.3±6.5	0.001	0.688	0.572-0.803	28.0	0.548	0.250
Shuttle run – 4x10m (s)	13.4±0.9	12.8±0.7	0.001	0.707	0.608-0.806	13.3	0.839	0.440
Speed at 20m (s)	4.3±0.3	4.2±0.3	600.0	0.657	0.552-0.762	4.3	0.774	0.470
Speed at 40m (s)	7.8±0.7	7.4±0.4	0.006	0.688	0.585-0.791	7.7	0.806	0.460
			12-13 years (non	-athletes n=1	74 ; athletes n =4	(8)		
PACER (laps)	$31.8 \pm 11.0$	43.0±14.6	<0.001	0.725	0.643-0.806	40.0	0.583	0.213
Push-up (reps)	8.9±5.5	20.3±10.9	<0.001	0.865	0.809-0.921	14.0	0.771	0.213
Horizontal jump (cm)	142.4±29.7	164.7±17.5	<0.001	0.757	0.685-0.828	156.0	0.708	0.333
Vertical jump (cm)	28.5±7.3	32.1±6.0	0.002	0.633	0.545-0.720	32.8	0.500	0.282
Sit and reach (cm)	24.9±7.4	29.1±7.3	0.001	0.638	0.543-0.733	29.9	0.479	0.236
Shuttle run – 4x10m (s)	13.2±1.0	12.3±0.7	<0.001	0.776	0.707-0.845	12.7	0.771	0.322
Speed at 20m (s)	4.1±0.4	4.0±0.4	NS	0.551	0.463-0.640	4.2	0.771	0.615
Speed at 40m (s)	7.2±0.6	7.1±0.5	NS	0.576	0.486-0.665	7.0	0.542	0.379
p-value for the T-test in co NS, non-significant.	ntinuous variables b	etween non-athle	tes and athletes. A	VUC, area und	ler curve; CI, coi	afidence inte	rval	(Continued)

Chapter 5: Investigation 2

161

Table !	5.3 – Physical fitness te	sts used to different	iate athlete aı	nd non-athle	ete girls by age gr	oup (continue	(p	
			Gir	ls Groups (n	<b>⊨</b> 916)			
		14-	15 years (non-	athletes n=1	.95 ; athletes n =6	3)		
Physical Fitness Tests	Non-Athletes	Athletes	p-value	AUC	95% CI	Cut-off	Sensitivity	Specificity
PACER (laps)	33.4±11.5	44.4±13.5	<0.001	0.731	0.661-0.802	39.0	0.683	0.297
Push-up (reps)	9.7±7.1	15.4±9.3	<0.001	0.689	0.615-0.764	10.0	0.746	0.472
Horizontal jump (cm)	146.5±34.7	$163.4 \pm 40.8$	0.001	0.679	0.601-0.756	161.5	0.651	0.328
Vertical jump (cm)	30.8±7.1	35.0±5.4	<0.001	0.697	0.626-0.769	33.0	0.635	0.338
Sit and reach (cm)	29.3±14.0	31.4±7.7	NS	0.571	0.489-0.652	36.2	0.286	0.138
Shuttle run – 4x10m (s)	13.0±1.1	12.4±0.9	<0.001	0.678	0.602-0.755	12.2	0.524	0.215
Speed at 20m (s)	4.1±0.3	3.8±0.3	<0.001	0.725	0.656-0.795	4.0	0.730	0.410
Speed at 40m (s)	7.2±0.6	7.0±0.5	0.001	0.651	0.576-0.726	7.1	0.651	0.405
		≥ 16	years (non-ati	hletes n=253	; athletes n =52 )			
PACER (laps)	36.4±11.7	42.0±16.4	0.023	0.602	0.516-0.689	34.5	0.673	0.510
Push-up (reps)	11.5±6.4	$16.0\pm 8.1$	<0.001	0.662	0.578-0.746	15	0.654	0.316
Horizontal jump (cm)	133.3±49.9	165.1±43.0	<0.001	0.753	0.678-0.828	157.5	0.750	0.300
Vertical jump (cm)	30.7±6.1	37.7±9.8	<0.001	0.727	0.641-0.812	36.8	0.596	0.150
Sit and reach (cm)	29.8±8.1	31.2±9.9	NS	0.553	0.459-0.646	39.3	0.231	0.079
Shuttle run – 4x10m (s)	12.9±1.0	12.2±1.0	<0.001	0.701	0.621-0.781	12.9	0.904	0.597
Speed at 20m (s)	4.1±0.3	3.8±0.4	<0.001	0.699	0.623-0.776	3.9	0.519	0.229
Speed at 40m (s)	7.3±0.5	7.0±0.6	0.003	0.640	0.553-0.726	6.7	0.404	0.150
p-value for the T-test in cor NS, non-significant.	ntinuous variables betwe	en non-athletes and	athletes. AUC	', area under	curve; CI, confid	ence interval		

162

Our results indicate that athletes had better PF than non-athletes, however, this was not verified for all tests, especially in boys. The PACER, the push-up test, and the shuttle run test (4x10m) were significantly higher in athletes for both sexes and across all age groups.

### DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first investigation to use a ROC curve analysis to identify the discriminatory power and the cut-off values of several PF tests for distinguishing young athletes from non-athletes of different ages and by sex. It is a misconception that young athletic talent can be identified by comparing their athletic profile to adult athletes (N. Armstrong & McManus, 2011; Reilly, Bangsbo, & Franks, 2000). Some investigations have shown that approaches comparing or associating adolescent characteristics with adult characteristics have a higher probability of misclassification when it comes to identifying future athletes (J. Baker et al., 2017; Pearson, Naughton, & Torode, 2006). Thus, using a sample of athlete and non-athlete children and adolescents to generate ROC curves in order to discriminate athletic status may be a more suitable approach. In this investigation, the ROC curves generated an AUC higher than 65% (Pearce et al., 2018) in at least one PF test per sex and age group, suggesting that PF tests can be used as a surrogate to differentiate athletes from non-athletes. Our findings suggest that athlete identification was more accurate in girls than in boys, and it is interesting to verify the different ability of specific PF tests to discriminate athletes among groups. From all tests, the PACER and the push-up test were the ones that showed higher ability to discriminate athletes from non-athletes.

High levels of aerobic capacity are commonly associated with excellent indicators of sports performance and recovery (Mohr, Krustrup, & Bangsbo, 2003), which explains why PACER presented itself as a good discriminatory test for identifying athletes. The push-up test usually expresses the capacity to produce upper muscular strength and power in several sporting events, thus working as a tool for identification purposes (Wang et al., 2017). Nevertheless, it is essential to note that there were differences in the discriminatory ability of each PF test across age groups and sexes. For boys in age groups 10-11 and 14-15 yrs, the push-up test had the best discriminatory ability, whereas, for boys in the age groups 12-13 and >16 yrs, the PACER was better able to discriminate the athletic condition. The 20m speed test and shuttle run (4x10m) test were also strongest on identifying athletes in boys > 16 yrs. Compared to boys, a higher number of PF tests presented the ability to discriminate between athletes and non-athletes girls. The push-up test had the best predictive ability in the 10-11 yrs girls. For the 12-13 yrs age group, four tests, including the PACER, push-up, horizontal jump, and shuttle run (4x10m) presented the ability to discriminate the athletic condition. For the older age group of girls, the push-up, horizontal jump, vertical jump, shuttle-run (4x10m), and 20m speed test were able to discriminate between athletes and non-athletes. Of all PF tests, the speed at 20 and 40m in the 12-13 yrs age group, the shuttle-run (4x10m) in the 14-15 yrs, and the sit and reach in the 14-15 and  $\geq$  16 yrs groups were the tests with the AUC below 65%, meaning that they do not reached the minimal criteria to identify athletes.

The observed differences between boys and girls in the discriminatory capacity of the PF tests, i.e., the fact that for girls more PF tests were able to discriminate the athletic condition, may be explained by two main reasons. First, boys have higher levels of leisure-time physical activity than girls (Telford, Telford, Olive, Cochrane, & Davey, 2016), which could possibly blur PF differences between athletes and non-athletes in boys. This factor stands out on a higher number of PF tests that were significantly different between athletes and non-athletes in girls compared to boys. Secondly, in this investigation a higher percentage of boys were non-elite athletes when compared to girls. Considering that the intensity and frequency of the training sessions are lower in this athletic category, this could lead to a lower specificity of the PF tests to identify the athlete population in boys (Pearce et al., 2018; Ramos, Volossovitch, Ferreira, Fragoso, & Massuça, 2019).

Along with the discriminatory power analysis, specific cut-off values for each PF test are proposed for identifying athletes. These cut-off values can have practical utility for talent identification programs but also for promoting youth sports participation, because adolescents that do not reach one specific test-related cut-off may still attain the cut-off of other tests that are also relevant and in this way integrate another sport that matches his abilities. This includes, for instance, government bodies, sports federations, parents, physical education teachers and coaches (Bergeron et al., 2015; Bonney, Berry, Ball, & Larkin, 2019). Although these cut-off values have high practical utility, some aspects must be taken into consideration when using them. As these values were generated from a ROC curve analysis, it is expected that similarly to the discriminatory power, they have better applicability in girls than in boys. According to previous investigations, even in boys some tests, such as the PACER, push-up, and speed at 20m depending on the age group, have demonstrated to be valid discriminatory tools (Gil et al., 2014; J. Pion, Lenoir, Vandorpe, & Segers, 2015; Till, Cobley, Morley, et al., 2015). To the best of our knowledge, this is the

first investigation proposing cut-off values for PF tests to be used for identifying young athletes considering specific age groups and based on a heterogeneous sample including different sports.

Despite the practical utility of the findings from this investigation, it is essential to recognise some limitations. First, this is a cross-sectional investigation making it impossible to observe all biologic changes across adolescence. The second limitation consists of the non-homogeneous distribution of competition levels between sexes and age groups, which impacts the cut-off values. Moreover, another limitation is the lack of information about other characteristics, which may be related with a youth athlete profile (i.e. maturity, psychologic profile, social environment), that could further aid in the discrimination of athletes from non-athletes. It is relevant to highlight that this investigation included a large sample of youth, which is a strength. As per the results in this investigation, it is possible to establish that PF plays an important role in identifying athletes in youth, supporting some previous organization models in this field (Bonney et al., 2019). Further investigations should assess more variables with a multidimensional approach (e.g. psychological, sociological, morphological, and motor) and include a more homogeneous group of sports type and competition levels across the sexes and age groups (Johnston et al., 2017).

### CONCLUSION

The present investigation examined the ability of commonly used PF tests that are currently used to identify healthy from non-healthy youth, to discriminate young athletes, while proposing cut-off values for each of these tests. The ROC curves generated an AUC higher than 65% in at least one PF test per sex and age group, demonstrating that it is possible to differentiate athletes from non-athletes using some of these tests. Furthermore, the speed test at 20m and the horizontal jump were the best tests to identify older adolescents with athletic potential, while the PACER and push-up tests were the most discriminatory for the younger adolescents. The ability of specific PF tests to discriminate athletes among distinct age groups and sex must be taken into account. Thus, some PF tests can be a viable resource for government agencies, sports federations, physical education teachers, and coaches not only to monitor health status in youth but also to identify potential athletes and in this way increase the number of young athletes included in the high-performance sport system.

### **PRACTICAL APPLICATIONS**

There are three essential considerations of this investigation. First, the PF tests from FITescola® battery can be used by physical education teachers, coaches, and government bodies to better identify young athletes from schools or sports entities. For example, adolescents with potential athletic ability can be identified by physical education teachers during physical education classes as they already perform these tests to monitor health status. Secondly, for the coaches and athletes, the thresholds generated in the present investigation for each PF test, by sex and age, can be applied to track their sport progression. Finally, FITescola® PF tests are simple, low cost, and can be easily applied in several settings.

### **References**

- Armstrong, N., & McManus, A. M. (2011). Physiology of elite young male athletes. *Med Sport Sci*, 56, 1-22. doi: 10.1159/000320618
- Baker, J., Schorer, J., & Wattie, N. (2017). Compromising Talent: Issues in Identifying and Selecting Talent in Sport. *Quest*, 70(1), 48-63. doi: 10.1080/00336297.2017.1333438
- Baker, J. L., Hebert, J. J., Møller, N. C., Andersen, L. B., & Wedderkopp, N. (2015). Organized Sport Participation Is Associated with Higher Levels of Overall Health-Related Physical Activity in Children (CHAMPS Study-DK). *PloS one, 10*(8), e0134621. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0134621
- Bayt, D. R., & Bell, T. M. (2016). Trends in paediatric sports-related injuries presenting to
  US emergency departments, 2001-2013. *Inj Prev*, 22(5), 361-364. doi: 10.1136/injuryprev-2015-041757
- Bergeron, M. F., Mountjoy, M., Armstrong, N., Chia, M., Côté, J., Emery, C. A., . . . Engebretsen, L. (2015). International Olympic Committee consensus statement on youth athletic development. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 49(13), 843-851. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-094962
- Bonney, N., Berry, J., Ball, K., & Larkin, P. (2019). Australian Football Skill-Based Assessments: A Proposed Model for Future Research. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00429
- Brenner, J. S. (2016). Sports Specialization and Intensive Training in Young Athletes. *Pediatrics*, 138(3), e20162148-e20162148. doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-2148
- Gil, S. M., Zabala-Lili, J., Bidaurrazaga-Letona, I., Aduna, B., Lekue, J. A., Santos-Concejero, J., & Granados, C. (2014). Talent identification and selection process of outfield players and goalkeepers in a professional soccer club. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 32(20), 1931-1939. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2014.964290

- Gracia-Marco, L., Vicente-Rodríguez, G., Casajús, J. A., Molnar, D., Castillo, M. J., & Moreno, L. A. (2011). Effect of fitness and physical activity on bone mass in adolescents: the HELENA Study. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 111(11), 2671-2680. doi: 10.1007/s00421-011-1897-0
- Gulbin, J. P., Croser, M. J., Morley, E. J., & Weissensteiner, J. R. (2013). An integrated framework for the optimisation of sport and athlete development: a practitioner approach. J Sports Sci, 31(12), 1319-1331. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2013.781661
- Hoo, Z. H., Candlish, J., & Teare, D. (2017). What is an ROC curve? *Emerg Med J*, 34(6), 357-359. doi: 10.1136/emermed-2017-206735
- Johnston, K., Wattie, N., Schorer, J., & Baker, J. (2017). Talent Identification in Sport: A Systematic Review. *Sports Medicine*, 48(1), 97-109. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0803-2
- Jones, B., Weaving, D., Tee, J., Darrall-Jones, J., Weakley, J., Phibbs, P., . . . Till, K. (2018). Bigger, stronger, faster, fitter: the differences in physical qualities of school and academy rugby union players. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 36(21), 2399-2404. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2018.1458589
- Kramer, T., Huijgen, B. C. H., Elferink-Gemser, M. T., & Visscher, C. (2016). A Longitudinal Study of Physical Fitness in Elite Junior Tennis Players. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 28(4), 553-564. doi: 10.1123/pes.2016-0022
- Li, P., De Bosscher, V., Pion, J., Weissensteiner, J. R., & Vertonghen, J. (2018). Is international junior success a reliable predictor for international senior success in elite combat sports? *European Journal of Sport Science*, 18(4), 550-559. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2018.1439104

Lisbon, F. H. K.-U. (2015). FITescola program. from http://fitescola.dge.mec.pt/

Lohman TG, R. A., Martorell R. (1998). *Anthropometric standardization reference manual*. Champaign: Human Kinetics, Eds.

- Mohr, M., Krustrup, P., & Bangsbo, J. (2003). Match performance of high-standard soccer players with special reference to development of fatigue. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 21(7), 519-528. doi: 10.1080/0264041031000071182
- Ortega, B., Ruiz, R., Castillo, J., & Sjostrom, M. (2008). Physical fitness in childhood and adolescence: a powerful marker of health. *Int J Obes*, *32*. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803774
- Patton, G. C., Sawyer, S. M., Santelli, J. S., Ross, D. A., Afifi, R., Allen, N. B., ... Viner, R.
  M. (2016). Our future: a Lancet commission on adolescent health and wellbeing. *Lancet* (London, England), 387(10036), 2423-2478. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00579-1
- Pearce, L. A., Sinclair, W. H., Leicht, A. S., & Woods, C. T. (2018). Physical, Anthropometric, and Athletic Movement Qualities Discriminate Development Level in a Rugby League Talent Pathway. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 32(11), 3169-3176. doi: 10.1519/jsc.00000000002350
- Pearson, D. T., Naughton, G. A., & Torode, M. (2006). Predictability of physiological testing and the role of maturation in talent identification for adolescent team sports. *Journal* of Science and Medicine in Sport, 9(4), 277-287. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2006.05.020
- Phillips, E., Davids, K., Renshaw, I., & Portus, M. (2010). Expert performance in sport and the dynamics of talent development. *Sports Med*, 40(4), 271-283. doi: 10.2165/11319430-00000000-000000
- Pion, J., Lenoir, M., Vandorpe, B., & Segers, V. (2015). Talent in Female Gymnastics: a Survival Analysis Based upon Performance Characteristics. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 36(11), 935-940. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1548887
- Ramos, S., Volossovitch, A., Ferreira, A. P., Fragoso, I., & Massuça, L. (2019). Differences in maturity, morphological and physical attributes between players selected to the primary and secondary teams of a Portuguese Basketball elite academy. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 1-9. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2019.1585410

- Rees, T., Hardy, L., Gullich, A., Abernethy, B., Cote, J., Woodman, T., . . . Warr, C. (2016).
  The Great British Medalists Project: A Review of Current Knowledge on the Development of the World's Best Sporting Talent. *Sports Med*, 46(8), 1041-1058. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0476-2
- Reilly, T., Bangsbo, J., & Franks, A. (2000). Anthropometric and physiological predispositions for elite soccer. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 18(9), 669-683. doi: 10.1080/02640410050120050
- Ruopp, M. D., Perkins, N. J., Whitcomb, B. W., & Schisterman, E. F. (2008). Youden Index and optimal cut-point estimated from observations affected by a lower limit of detection. *Biom J*, 50(3), 419-430. doi: 10.1002/bimj.200710415
- Schmidt, S. C. E., Tittlbach, S., Bös, K., & Woll, A. (2017). Different Types of Physical Activity and Fitness and Health in Adults: An 18-Year Longitudinal Study. *BioMed Research International*, 2017, 1-10. doi: 10.1155/2017/1785217
- Telford, R. M., Telford, R. D., Olive, L. S., Cochrane, T., & Davey, R. (2016). Why Are Girls Less Physically Active than Boys? Findings from the LOOK Longitudinal Study. *PloS one*, 11(3), e0150041. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0150041
- Till, K., Cobley, S., Morley, D., O'hara, J., Chapman, C., & Cooke, C. (2015). The influence of age, playing position, anthropometry and fitness on career attainment outcomes in rugby league. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 34(13), 1240-1245. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2015.1105380
- Tribolet, R., Bennett, K. J. M., Watsford, M. L., & Fransen, J. (2018). A multidimensional approach to talent identification and selection in high-level youth Australian Football players. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 36(22), 2537-2543. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2018.1468301
- Vanhelst, J., Beghin, L., Fardy, P. S., Ulmer, Z., & Czaplicki, G. (2016). Reliability of healthrelated physical fitness tests in adolescents: the MOVE Program. *Clin Physiol Funct Imaging*, 36(2), 106-111. doi: 10.1111/cpf.12202

- Wang, R., Hoffman, J. R., Sadres, E., Bartolomei, S., Muddle, T. W. D., Fukuda, D. H., & Stout, J. R. (2017). Evaluating Upper-Body Strength and Power From a Single Test. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 31(5), 1338-1345. doi: 10.1519/jsc.00000000001832
- WMA. (2008). Declaration of Helsinki Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects (6 ed.). Seoul, South Korea.

## **CHAPTER 6**

# **Physical Fitness and Bone Health in Young Athletes**

and Non-athletes

<sup>3</sup>Duarte Henriques-Neto, João P. Magalhães, Megan Hetherington-Rauth, Diana A. Santos, Fátima Baptista, Luís B. Sardinha. (*Published*) Physical Fitness and Bone Health in Young Athletes and Non-athletes

sei XX+re.X

# Physical Fitness and Bone Health in Young Athletes and Nonathletes

Duarte Henriques-Neto, MSc,\*<sup>†‡</sup> João P. Magalhães, MSc,<sup>†</sup> Megan Hetherington-Rauth, PhD,<sup>†</sup> Diana A. Santos, PhD,<sup>†</sup> Fátima Baptista, PhD,<sup>†</sup> and Luís B. Sardinha, PhD<sup>†</sup>

Background: Physical activity (PA) and physical fitness (PF) are crucial for bone health. However, children participating in competitive sports with high PA are at a greater risk of fracture from trauma or overuse. Given the importance of bone development during adolescence, associations between commonly used physical fitness tests with distal third radius (R-SoS) and midshaft tibia (T-SoS) speed of sound by quantitative ultrasound were assessed in adolescent athletes and nonathletes.

Hypotheeks: The relationship between physical fitness tests and R-SoS and T-SoS will differ depending on sex and athletic status.

Study Design: Cross-sectional study.

### Level of Evidence: Level 3.

Methods: Physical fitness of 285 boys (156 athletes) and 311 girls (74 athletes) aged 10 to 18 years was assessed through strength, speed, agility, and cardiorespiratory tests. Linear regression was used to assess the associations of physical fitness tests with R-SoS and T-SoS.

Results: For boys, favorable associations were observed between physical fitness tests with R-SoS in athletes and T-SoS in both athletes and nonathletes (P < 0.05). For nonathlete girls, favorable associations were found for handgrip (R-SoS and T-SoS, both P < 0.05), whereas the progressive aerobic cardiovascular endurance run, vertical jump, speed at 20 m and 40 m were only favorably associated with T-SoS. For athlete girls, the association between handgrip (P = 0.03), vertical jump, and 4 x 10 m shuttle run (P < 0.05) with T-SoS was significantly related to a bone outcome.

Conclusion: The handgrip test and vertical jump were associated with T-SoS in boys and girls independent of sport status. These results suggest that physical fitness is associated with bone health in adolescents, particularly boys, and that the relationship between physical fitness and bone may differ depending on sex and athletic status.

Clinical Relevance: Physical fitness tests are simple, easy-to-use tools for monitoring bone health and should be used by sport and health professionals to promote healthy sport participation and prevent bone injuries.

Keywords: adolescent; PACER; muscular fitness; bone health; quantitative ultrasound

A lthough osteoporosis symptoms usually do not manifest until later in life, the disease is thought to have roots at the beginning of childhood.<sup>16</sup> Osteoporosis and bone fractures are considered a significant public health matter worldwide,<sup>524</sup> with 1 in 2 women and 1 in 5 men older than 50 years of age expected to suffer an osteoporotic fracture in their lifetime. Primetime for osteoporosis prevention is in childhood, particularly during adolescence, as this is a time characterized by a fast-growing skeleton<sup>7</sup> where the majority of the adult bone mineral is being laid down.<sup>20</sup> Hence, maximizing bone

From <sup>1</sup>CIPER, Faculdade de Motricidade Humana, Universidade de Lisboa, Lisbon, Cruz-Quebrada, Portugal, and <sup>1</sup>COP, Comité Olimpico de Portugal, Lisbon, Portugal \*Address correspondence to Duarte Henriques-Neto, MSC, Faculdade de Motricidade Humana, Universidade de Lisboa, Estrada da Costa, 1499-002 Cruz-Quebrada, Portugal (email: duarteneto@campus.ul.pt) (Twitter: @HNetoD13).

The following authors declared polantial conflicts of interest: This study was conducted at Interdisciplinary Center of the Study of Human Performance (CPER), I&D 472 (JID/DTP/00447/2019), Faculty of Human Kinetics of University of Liston, supported by the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology, the Portuguese Ministry of Science. D.H.-N. is supported by a grant from Comité Olimpico de Portugal (doctoral scholarship).

00I: 10.1177/1941738120931755 © 2020 The Author(s)

#### Hereiques Neto et al

mineral mass during this time will have a significant impact on bone health later in adultbood and older age.  $^{30}$ 

A healthy lifestyle with regular physical activity (PA), including sports participation, and healthy physical fitness levels is crucial for bone health.<sup>25</sup> Upper limb strength,<sup>8</sup> lower limb strength,<sup>2</sup> agility,<sup>13</sup> and speed<sup>19</sup> have all been positively associated with several bone health outcomes in youth.19 Thus, promoting youth sports participation has been a strategy to increase physical fitness levels, decrease patterns of inactivity,10 and increase peak bone mass in youth.28 However, it is essential to note that despite these positive benefits, there are transient regional deficits in the bones of children. Increased porosity and thinning of cortical bone, especially during the rapid longitudinal growth period of adolescence,11 may put children participating in high levels of PA, such as competitive sports, at a greater risk of fracture from a single episode of trauma or repetitive overuse.<sup>27</sup> Indeed, an increased incidence in stress fractures has been reported in children due to sport participation.<sup>21</sup> Given the importance of the adolescent period for bone development,12 it is crucial to understand how various levels of PA influences bone health.

Some physical fitness batteries were developed with the goal of monitoring health, given the associations between physical fitness levels and several health outcomes, such as adiposity and bone health.<sup>14,26</sup> These field-based physical fitness batteries are easy to administer, require minimal equipment, and have demonstrated good validity and reliability in a school setting,<sup>22</sup> However, how well these physical fitness batteries are related to bone health in children is not clear. Therefore, the aim of this investigation was to assess the associations between different physical fitness tests with bone strength of the radius and tibia using quantitative ultrasonography (QUS) in adolescents with different levels of PA (ie, athletes and nonathletes).

### METHODS

### Participants

The total sample consisted of 596 participants, aged 10 to 18 years, with no history of stress fractures (ascertained by questionnaire). Of these, 285 were boys (156 athletes) and 311 were girls (74 athletes). The participants were recruited from several schools or official federative club teams within the greater Lisbon and Porto area. All participants who were considered athletes needed to be engaged in organized sports (eg, athletics, basketball, handball, football, swimming), with regular participation in the official competition organized by each national federation recognized by the Portuguese Olympic Committee and the Portuguese Institute of Sports and Youth in the past 12 months. Participants gave their assent, and informed consent was obtained from their legal guardians.

This cross-sectional investigation was conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects<sup>31</sup> and approved by the ethics committee of the Faculty of Human Kinetics, University of Lisbon (CEFMH approved; No. 19/2018).

### Body Composition

All participants were weighed to the nearest 0.01 kg on an electronic scale (model 799; Seca) while wearing minimal clothing and no shoes. Height was measured twice to the nearest 0.1 cm with a stadiometer (model 220; Seca). Final height was obtained by using the mean value of the 2 measurements. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as body mass (kg)/height<sup>2</sup> (m<sup>2</sup>). All assessments were conducted by the same trained researcher.

### Maturity

Height and decimal age were used to calculate the age of peak height velocity (PHV) using sex-specific equations established by Moore et al.<sup>17</sup>

### Type of Physical Exercise

The different types of physical exercise were categorized as follows: nonosteogenic (eg, swimming, water polo, equestrian) and osteogenic (ie, football, handball, volleyball). Those who did not participate regularly in any sport were classified as nonexercisers. This categorization has been used previously in bone health studies in adolescents.<sup>20</sup>

#### Physical Fitness

Handgrip strength (HG) was assessed using an analog adjustable dynamometer (Lafayette Hand Dynamometer; Lafayette Instrument Company, Lafayette, Indiana). Participants were given a demonstration and verbal instructions before the individual test. The test was performed with the participant in a standing position with the shoulders neutrally rotated in abduction and arms parallel without being in contact with the body. The participants were asked to squeeze the handle for a maximum of 3 to 5 seconds. Verbal encouragement was given during the test. Two trials were performed for each limb, and the maximum score was recorded in kilograms.

As far as the other physical fitness tests were concerned, we used the FTIescola fitness battery, which is currently being used in the Portuguese school setting. Progressive aerobic cardiovascular endurance run (PACER) test, horizontal jump (HJ) and vertical jump (VJ) tests, 4 × 10-m shuttle run test, and 20-m and 40-m speed tests were used to examine cardiorespiratory fitness, upper body and lower body muscular fitness, agility, and speed, respectively. A full description of each test can be found in the study by Gracia-Marco et al.<sup>13</sup>

### Bone Speed of Sound

Bone speed of sound (SoS) was assessed by QUS at the radial distal third (R-SoS) and tibial midshaft (T-SoS) on the nondominant limb using a sonometer (Omnisense 8000s; Sunlight Omnisense, BeamMed). The same researcher conducted all measurements, which have been previously described,<sup>4</sup> after a daily calibration and according to specific manufacturer's instructions. Before performing SoS analyses, the participant's age, height, weight, and sex were entered into the program. Therefore, SoS analyses were adjusted to these variables.

Man + Man 2020
#### Calcium Intake

A semiquantitative questionnaire used on Portuguese adolescents in a similar investigation<sup>15</sup> was used to assess the intake of a full set of typical Portuguese foods in the previous month.

#### Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS (Version 24.0; IBM Corp). Descriptive statistics, including means  $\pm$  SD, were calculated for all outcome measurements. Comparison between athlete status and sex were made by using analysis of variance for all variables. Also, given the existence of an interaction effect for sex (P < 0.01) and athlete group (P < 0.01), all analyses were performed separately for these groups. Linear regression analysis was used to examine the associations between the physical fitness tests and R-SoS and T-SoS according to sports status and sex.

Two models were tested. Model 1 was unadjusted, and model 2 was adjusted for type of physical exercise, number of minutes exercising per week, age of PHV, and calcium intake. A variance inflation factor for each independent variable was calculated to evaluate multicollinearity, and the <5.0 cutoff was considered an indicator of nonmulticollinearity. Significance was set at P < 0.05.

#### RESULTS

Table 1 presents the sample characteristics for the total sample, by sex and by athlete status. In boys and girls, the values for the time of physical exercising per week, PACER, HJ, VJ, 4 × 10-m shuttle run test, and speed at 20 m test were higher in athletes than for nonathletes (P < 0.05). Significant (P < 0.05) differences between nonathlete and athlete girls were observed for maturity offset and handgrip values. Inversely, athlete girls showed lower values of R-SoS and T-SoS than nonathlete girls (P = 0.04).

As far as the type of physical exercise (nonosteogenic and osteogenic) was concerned, and considering only the main groups who engaged in federative sport, 89.2% of girls engaged in osteogenic physical exercise and 10.8% in nonosteogenic physical exercise, whereas 94.9% of the boys engaged in osteogenic physical exercise and only 5.1% in nonosteogenic physical exercise. Among nonathlete boys, 48.1% were nonexercisers. From the remaining, 36.4% engaged in osteogenic physical exercise while 19.5% were in nonosteogenic physical exercise. On the other hand, 47.7% of girls did not practice any physical exercise, while 13.5% engaged in nonosteogenic physical exercise, while 13.5% engaged in nonosteogenic physical exercise and 38.8% practiced osteogenic physical exercise.

The unadjusted and adjusted (type of physical exercise, number of minutes exercising per week, PHV age, and calcium intake) results of linear regression analyses assessing the associations of physical fitness tests with R-SoS and T-SoS are presented in Tables 2 and 3 for boys and girls, respectively. After adjusting for type of physical exercise, the number of minutes exercising, PHV age, and calcium intake, we observed favorable associations between physical fitness tests and T-SoS SPORTS HEALTH

in both athlete and nonathlete boys, except the 4 × 10-m shuttle run test in male nonathletes (P = 0.05). For the radial bone, only the HG and the speed at 40 m tests were associated with higher R-SoS in the athlete boys (P < 0.05), whereas no associations were observed in nonathletes.

For girls, when considering the adjusted model, we observed favorable associations for the HG test with R-SoS, but only in nonathletes (P < 0.05). However, the HG test and VJ test were positively associated with T-SoS in both the girl athletes and nonathletes. Regarding the other tests, higher number of laps in the PACER test (P = 0.02) and a shorter time in speed at 20 m (P < 0.01) and speed at 40 m (P < 0.01) were associated with higher T-SoS in girl nonathletes, while positive association with the shorter time in  $4 \times 10$ -m shuttle run (P < 0.01) was observed in girl athletes.

Figure 1 summarizes the results of the associations of R-SoS and T-SoS with physical fitness tests for boys and girls and between athletes and nonathletes. Overall, we observed stronger associations of the physical fitness tests with R-SoS and T-SoS in boys, especially those who engaged in federative sports, compared with girls. Of the 2 bone locations, stronger relationships were observed between the T-SoS and physical fitness tests versus R-SoS in both male and female athletes and nonathletes.

### DISCUSSION

Most of the physical fitness tests in boys were significantly associated with T-SoS in both athletes and nonathletes. On the other hand, fewer associations were found for girls between the physical fitness tests and T-SoS, especially in the athletic population, where HG, VJ, and  $4 \times 10$ -m shuttle run were the only significant tests. As for R-SoS, most associations with the physical fitness tests (HG and  $4 \times 10$ -m shuttle run) were observed in boys who were involved in federative sports, while only the nonathlete girls presented 1 association (HG).

Several studies have suggested that higher test results for HG,<sup>13</sup> HJ,<sup>9</sup> and VJ,<sup>5</sup> as well as faster times for the speed tests<sup>13</sup> and 4 × 10-m shuttle run,<sup>13</sup> were positively associated with bone health in adolescents. Our results are in line with these findings, even when using a different method to assess bone parameters (ie, QUS vs dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry [DXA]), especially in the associations between physical fitness tests and bone parameters in boys. The speed of sound by QUS is highly correlated with several bone characteristics assessed by DXA<sup>23</sup> and reflects a range of bone status factors, such as elasticity, structure, microstructure, and cortical thickness, which are essential aspects of overall bone strength.<sup>6</sup>

Despite the overall beneficial associations between the physical fitness tests and SoS, these associations differed depending on sex and athlete status. In girls, the HJ was not significantly related to bone SoS. In boys, however, most of the physical fitness tests were significantly correlated with T-SoS, with more associations being observed in athletes. Additionally, the associations observed between the physical fitness tests and Henriques-Neto et al

Mon + Mon 2020

		Boys (n	ı <del>-</del> 285)	Girls (n	- 311)
	All (N = 596), Mean ± SD	Nonathietes (n = 129), Mean ± SD	Athletes (n = 156), Mean ± SD	Nonathletes (n = 237), Mean ± SD	Athletes (n = 74), Mean ± SD
Age, y*	14.8 ± 2.3	14.09 ± 2.4	14.7 ± 2.3	15.1 ± 2.3	13.9 ± 2.4
Weight, kg <sup>hc</sup>	53.5 ± 12.5	55.6 ± 14.3	$56.4 \pm 13.4$	$51.7 \pm 10.5$	49.3 ± 11.4
Height, cm <sup>b,c</sup>	160.8 ± 11.5	163.5 ± 12.9	165.0 ± 12.9	$158.0 \pm 8.6$	156.1 ± 9.6
BMI, kg/m²	$20.4 \pm 3.2$	$20.5\pm3.6$	$20.4 \pm 2.9$	$20.5\pm3.1$	20.1 ± 3.4
Maturity offset, y <sup>ab</sup>	1.6 ± 2.0	0.8 ± 1.9	1.9±0.2	2.4±1.9	1.5±1.9
PHV age, y <sup>ab,c</sup>	13.2 ± 0.9	14.0 ± 0.6	$13.8\pm0.5$	$12.7\pm0.6$	12.4 ± 0.6
Total calcium intake, mg/d	918.9 ± 437.7	882.3 ± 442.4	966.8 ± 409.7	912.0 ± 445.1	903.4 ± 462.8
Volume of exercise, min/wk <sup>a,d</sup>	199.8 ± 139.2	112.44 ± 152.6	354.2 ± 160.8	101.3 ± 138:1	342.4 ± 174.2
Type of exercise, %					
Nonexercisers	29.4	48.1	NA	47.7	NA
Nonosteogenic exercise	11.4	15.5	5.1	13,5	10.8
Osteogenic exercise	59.2	36.4	94.9	38.8	89.2
Physical fitness			v		
Handgrip, kg <sup>é,c</sup>	31.3 ± 8.6	$34.3 \pm 9.6$	$35.2\pm10.6$	28.0±5.0	$27.8\pm5.4$
PACER, laps <sup>a.b.c.d</sup>	45.3 ± 20.5	48.5 ± 18.7	62.4 ± 22.7	33.8 ± 11.4	40.4 ± 13.8
Horizontal jump, cm <sup>a.b.c,d</sup>	166.6 ± 33.6	179.2 ± 34.9	188.48 ± 31.9	$146.0\pm21.6$	164.4 ± 26.8
Vertical jump, cm <sup>a.b.c.d</sup>	$35.0 \pm 9.6$	37.7 ± 10.1	40.7 ± 10.6	30.1 ± 6.4	$33.6\pm5.9$
Shuttle run, 4 × 10 m, s <sup>a,b,c,d</sup>	12.3 ± 1.1	12.1 ± 1.0	11.5±1.1	12.9 ± 0.9	$12.4\pm0.9$
Speed at 20 m, s <sup>a,b,c,d</sup>	$3.9 \pm 0.4$	$3.9\pm0.5$	$3.6 \pm 0.4$	4.2±0.3	4.0±0.3
Speed at 40 m, s <sup>e.b.c</sup>	$6.9\pm0.8$	$6.7\pm0.9$	$6.3\pm0.7$	$7.3 \pm 0.6$	$7.0\pm0.5$
Bone health					
Radial speed of sound, m/s <sup>e</sup>	3866.7 ± 198.0	3839.6 ± 139.4	3814.0 ± 139.9	3914.0 ± 256.6	3873.8 ± 128.
Tibial speed of sound, m/s <sup>e.h.r</sup>	3768.2 ± 133.0	3753.6 ± 121.1	3717.7 ± 120.7	3810.4 ± 138.8	3764.8 ± 117.

BMI, body mass index; PACER, progressive aerobic cardiovascular endurance run; PHV, peak height velocity; NA, not applicable.  $^{3}P \leq 0.05$ , significant difference between female nonathletes and female attivities.  $^{5}P \leq 0.05$ , significant difference between male nonathletes and female attivities.  $^{5}P \leq 0.05$ , significant difference between male attivities and female attivities.  $^{6}P \leq 0.05$ , significant difference between male attivities and female attivities.  $^{6}P \leq 0.05$ , significant difference between male nonathletes and male attivities.

4

sical Fitness Model ts 1.8				Third Disks	II Hadlu	s ul trasound	(H-505)				
scal Fitness Model		Nonath	iettes,					Ania A	sten		
	95% CI	82	Model 2.6	95%01	R <sup>2</sup>	Model 1.8	95%CI	4	Model 2.8	95% CI	5
dgrip, kg 4.5**	2.07,6.93	0.31	1.32	-1.66, 430	0.44	4.1.	2.13, 6, 15	0.31	2.78*	0.41, 5.15	0.4
ER, laps 1,70*	0.43, 2.97	0.23	0.05	-1.43, 1.53	0.43	1.18	0.22, 2.14	0.19	0.37	-0.67, 1, 14	0.36
contal jump, cm 0.87*	0.19, 1.55	0.22	0.08	-0.69, 0.85	0.43	1.37**	0.71, 2.03	0.31	0.72	-0.15, 1.59	0.38
cal jump, cm 3.86	1.54, 6.17	0.28	1.02	-1.68, 3.72	0.43	3.21*	1.18, 5.23	0.24	1.44	-0.88, 3.75	0.37
ttle run. 4 × 10 -35,78*	-59.20, -12.35	0.26	-6,47	-33.54, 20.60	0.43	-36.07**	-56.34, -16.80	0.29	-18.30	-44,67, 4.06	0.36
od at 20 m, s -69.43* -	120.85, -18.01	0.23	4.60	-63.44, 54.25	0.43	112.93**	-161.48, -64.39	0.35	-72.11*	-133.65, -10.61	0.40
nd at 40 m, s -50,36**	-76.40, -24.32	0.32	-18,68	-50,99, 13.65	0.44	-60.25**	-89,95, -30.56	0.31	-34.29	-71,42, 2.84	0.38
				Midshaft	TIbia U	Itrasound (T	-505)				
		Nonath	letes-					Athle	tes		
sical Fitness Model s 1.8	95% CI	R <sup>2</sup>	Model 2.B	88% CI	82	Model 1 B	85% CI	82	Model 2 B	9 <del>25</del> 4 CI	10
tgrip, kg 7.01**	5.16, 8.86	0.55	4,33**	2.09, 6.58	0.63	6.22**	4.69, 7.75	0.54	3.90**	2 22, 5,57	0.66
ER, laps 3.45**	2.49, 4.41	0.53	2.15**	1.04, 3.26	0.62	2.11**	1.33, 2.89	0.40	0.88*	0.12, 1.65	0.61
zontal jump, cm 1,79**	127,231	0.52	1.13**	0.55, 1.70	0.63	2.07**	1.56, 2.57	0.55	1.06*	0.43, 1,69	0.60
ical jump, cm 6.60**	4,86,8.35	0.55	4.18**	2.17, 6.20	0.63	5.76**	4.20, 7.31	0.51	329**	1.65, 4.93	0.64
1 m, s -5.75**	-70.75, -32.74	0.43	-20.93	-42 12, 026	0.58	-55.78**	-70.68, -40.89	0.51	-29.80**	-45.84, -13.77	0.6
xd at 20 m, s 133.37* -	172,85, -93.90	0.51	-77.46*	-122 11, -32.81	0.61	-170.66**	-206.09, -135,22	0.61	-111.47*	-154.31, -68.63	0.67
od at 40 m, s -79,95**	-99.28, -60.62	050	-54.49**	-78.36, -30.54	0.64	-100.14**	-121,83, -78,45	0.59		-90.77, -39,16	0.67

vol XX+no.X

SPORTSHEALTH

5

					Third Distal	Hadius	punosean	(11-205)				
			None	thietes					All	ietes		
Physical Fitness Tests	Model 1.B	95% CI	đ,	Model 2 B	95% CI	2	Model 1 B	85% CI	B.	Model 2 B	86% CI	÷
Handgrip, kg	7,6*	1.03, 14.20	0.15	6.83*	0.14, 13.53	0.23	3,89	-1.57, 9.35	0.17	3.22	+1.10,7.74	0.65
PACER, laps	2.93*	0.06, 5.80	0.13	1.75	-1.30, 4.79	0,20	0.28	-1.90, 2.46	0.03	-0.32	-2.24, 1.60	0.63
Horizontal Jump, cm	0.34	-1.18, 1.87	0.03	0.04	-1.49, 1.57	0.18	0.34	-0.78, 1.46	0.07	0.14	-0.78, 1.05	0.63
Vertical jump, cm	0.64	-4.52, 5.80	0.02	0.30	-4.85, 5.45	0.19	~0.17	-5.24, 4.91	0.01	-0.91	-5.03, 3.20	0.63
Shuttle run, 4 × 10 m, s	0.23	-35.24, 35.69	0.01	2.65	-32.75, 38.04	0,19	-2.25	-37.12, 32.61	0.02	-3.18	-32.13, 25.77	0.63
Speed at 20 m, s	-21.49	-123.26, 80.28	0.03	-8.22	-110.88, 94.43	0.19	-63.81	-169.12, 41.50	0.14	-211	-90.83, 86.61	0.63
Speed at 40 m, s	-41.69	-100.62,17.25	0.09	-30.75	-90.26, 28.76	0.20	-20,94	-82 90, 41.03	0.08	10.86	-40.32, 62.04	0.63
					Midshaft	Tibia U	trasound (T-	(SoS)				
			None	thietes					AB	letes		
Physical Fitness Tests	Model 1.B	85% CI	R <sup>2</sup>	Model 2 B	10 %66	82	Model 1 B	86% CI	8	Model 2 B	88% CI	5
Handgrip, kg	7.42**	3.95, 10.89	0,27	5.74*	2.36, 9.11	0.42	5,39*	0.48, 10.30	0.25	4.90*	0.39, 9.41	0.52
PACER, laps	2.92**	1.40, 4.44	0.24	1.83*	0.28, 3.37	0.39	1.03	-0.95, 3.02	0.12	0.91	-1.07, 2.89	0.48
Horizontal jump, cm	1.02*	0.21, 1.84	0.16	0.77	-0.01, 1.55	0.39	0.77	-0.24, 1.78	0.18	0.74	-0.19, 1.68	0.50
Vertical jump, cm	3.28*	0.68, 5.88	0.16	3.28*	0.68, 5.88	0.40	5.19*	0.71, 9.67	0.26	4.56*	0.41, 8.69	0.53
Shuttle run, 4 × 10 m, s	17,44	-36.48, 1.61	0.12	-17,43	-35,40, 0.53	0.39	-46.22*	-76.26, -16.17	0.34	-47.02*	-74.88, -19.16	0.58
Speed at 20 m, s	-96.51**	-150.15, -42.88	0.23	77.72*	-129,27, -26,17	0.41	-104.79*	-199.07, -10.52	0.25	-65,66	-156.49, 25.17	0,50
Speed at 40 m, s	-66.77**	-96.64, -34.91	0.26	-51.08*	-80.87, -21.29	0.42	-64,69*	-119.56, -9.81	0.27	-4203	-94.32, 10.26	050

Herriques Neto et al

Mon + Mon 202

Physical Fitness: Identifiers of Sport Participation and Bone Health in Youth

R.SOLINAL/T.SOLINAL

SPORTS HEALTH

	Boys			GIRLS	
NOS-ATHLETIS	Bervn	ATMENTED	NON-ATHLETER	Gasta	ATHLETES
B-SON(34A)/T-SOS(+)	RAIREE	• 8-506 (*)/ T-505 (*)	R-Son-(+)/T-308(+)		
R-SOE(NA)/T-SOE(+)	PACER	• B-Scs(NA)/1.5oS(+)	8-308 (NA)/ T-505 (+)	TACES	II-Sos (NA)/ T-Soli (NA
8.5m(NA)/T.5c5(+)	H.har	• R.Sch(NA)/ I.Sch(+)	(R.Simpha)/T.Sim(NA)		• [ H.Scs (NA)/ 3.Sc8 (NA
R-505 (NA1/ T-505 (+)	V.nar	B.BORONA)/T.BOS(1)	#306(NA)/T.508(+)	V.tor	. E-Stot (NA) / T-Stoll(+)

Figure 1. Overall associations of R-SoS (radial distal third speed of sound) and T-SoS (tibial midshaft speed of sound) with physical fitness tests. H. Jump, horizontal jump; NA, no significant association; V. Jump, vertical jump; +, positive and significant association.

8.506 (NA)/ 7.505 (+)

8-5818 (NA)/ T-3828 (+)

SoS were overall stronger in the boys than the girls. This suggests that physical fitness may be a better marker for bone health in boys when compared with girls, and that, among girls, physical fitness is more related to bone health in the nonathletic population than in the athletic population. These differences between sexes and between girl athletes and nonathletes may be due to differences in the timing of growth and development during adolescence.<sup>18</sup> Particularly in girls, engaging in sports that emphasize thinness or weight control behaviors increases the risk for low energy availability and delayed onset of pubertal maturation.<sup>2</sup>

uni XX+rss.X

R.3(m(NA)/T.3(d)(+)

Given that 89.2% of our female athletic population was involved in higher volumes of training per week, and in an esthetic sport (ie, gymnastics) where leanness is highly emphasized, these athletes may have delays in their maturation, resulting in the suppression of key hormones (ie, estrogen) involved in enhancing the sensitization of bone to the loading stimuli brought about by PA.<sup>1</sup>

Nevertheless, after adjusting for the age of PHV, an indicator of biological maturation, the number of significant associations between physical fitness tests in female athletes were less than those observed in nonathletes. It is also possible that in the competitive youth athlete, the overloading training process and having insufficient time to recovery may contribute to the deregulation of bone tissue modeling and remodeling, leading to increased risk of injury and lower bone mineral density in athletes.<sup>2</sup> However, we did not observe lower associations between physical fitness and bone health in the male athletes.

Beyond differences in sex and athlete/nonathlete girls, site-specific differences in the relationships of the physical fitness tests with bone were also observed, such that higher associations were found between T-SoS than with R-SoS. These results might be due to the specific characteristics of the physical fitness tests, in which most of them (ie, PACER, jumps, agility, and speed) were a reflection of lower limb performance, except for the HG test, which is highly correlated with overall body strength.

Since the osteogenic effect of exercise is site specific, one can expect that higher values for these physical fitness tests measuring lower limb performance would be associated more with the strength of bones in the lower limbs (ie, T-SoS) rather than those of the upper limbs (ie, R-SoS). In addition, differences in the rates of growth of various bone locations, especially during the rapid longitudinal growth period of adolescence, with certain areas of bone having higher porosity than others,<sup>11</sup> may be influencing the relationships of physical fitness with T-SoS and R-SoS.

The present investigation has limitations that should be acknowledged. First, this is a cross-sectional study, making it impossible to induce causality. Second, other factors known to influence bone, such as smoking habits, the use of oral contraceptives or other hormone therapy, and hormonal levels such as estradiol, testosterone, growth hormone, and other metabolic factors were not assessed. In addition, we did not have a measure indicative of muscle mass, which is known to mediate the associations between PA and bone strength in children.52 Despite these limitations, this investigation assessed a relatively large sample of children/adolescents, who had different levels of PA. Finally, this investigation paves the way for a better understanding of the relationship between several components of physical fitness with R-SoS and T-SoS in 2 types of youth populations (nonathletes and athletes), allowing the tests to be used as indicators of bone-related health outcomes.

#### CONCLUSION

This investigation demonstrates that physical fitness is differentially associated with R-SoS and T-SoS among boys and girls and athletes and nonathletes. Regardless of athletic status, all associations between physical fitness and bone health in

181

Herniques Neto et al

boys were higher than those in girls. Furthermore, the HG and VJ tests were the best indicators of bone health in adolescents, independent of sport status. Upper and lower body strength may be important indicators of bone health and should be considered for monitoring and promoting the bone health status in adolescent nonathletes and athletes of both sexes.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The authors would like to thank the participants and their teachers who contributed to this study.

#### REFERENCES

- Almeida M, Laurent MR, Dubois V, et al. Estrogens and androgens in skeletal physiology and pathophysiology. *Physiol Bet*. 2017;57:145-187.
   Armeld A, Thinson CA, Beattie PP, Kineeherth MJ, Sharike E, Ousman physiol
- Arnold A, Thigpen CA, Ileattie PP, Kintenberth MJ, Sharloy E. Overuse physical injuries in youth athletes. Sports Health. 2017;9:139-147.
- Aziziyeb R, Amin M, Habib M, et al. The burden of osteoporosis in four Latin American countries: Brazil, Mexico, Colombia, and Argentina. J Med Econ. 2019;22:638-644.
- Baptista P, Fragoso I, Branco J, de Maros AA, Sardinha LB. Reference data for bone speed of sound in Portuguese girls and boys aged 9-13 years. J Clin Dentition. 2011;14:484-491.
- Baplista P, Mil-Homens P, Carita A, Janz K, Sardinha L. Peak vertical jump power as a marker of bone health in children. *Inv J Spons Matl.* 2016;37:653-658.
- Baroncelli GI. Quantitative ultrasound methods to ussess bone mineral status in children: technical characteristics, performance, and clinical application. *Podiatr* Ros. 2006;65:220.
- Buchs B, Skoman D, Theiniz G, Bonjour J-P, Rizzoli R. Critical years and stages of puberty for spiral and femoral bone mass accumulation during adolescence. *J Cân Endocrinol Meath*. 1991;73:555-563.
- Cousto-Bolaños M, Leo Andruske C, de Arnala M, Juarie-Bocha C, Almonacid-Pierro A, Gómez-Campos R. Hand grip strength and maximum peak expiratory flow: determinants of bone mineral density of adolescent students. *BMC Publian*, 2018;08:96.
- de Moraes AM, Goncalves EM, Barbeta VJ, Guerra-Junior G. Cross-sectional study of the association of body composition and physical fitness with bone status in children and adolescents from 11 to 16 years old. *BMC Postian*, 2013;13:117.
- Eime RM, Harvey JT, Charity MJ, Casey MM, van Liffelen jGZ, Payne WR. The contribution of sport participation to overall health enhancing physical activity lovels in Australia: a population-based study. *BMC Public Health*. 2015;15:806.
- Furt JN, Khosla S. Skeletal changes through the lifespan-from growth to senescence. Nat Ber Endocrinol. 2015;11:513-521.
- Golden NH, Abrams SA. Optimizing bone health in children and adolescents. *Pathamscs*. 2014;134:e1229-e1243.
- Gracia-Marco L, Vicenie-Rodriguez C, Casujin JA, Moinar D, Castillo MJ, Moreno IA. Effect of fitness and physical activity on bone mass in adolescents: the HELENA Study. *Bur J Appl Physiol.* 2011;111:2671-2680.

- He QQ, Wong TW, Du L, et al. Physical activity, cardionespiratory fitness, and obesity among Chinese children. Proc Mod. 2011;52:109-113
   Lopes C, Torres D, Oliveira A, et al. National Pood, Nutrition and Physical
- Lopes C, Torres D, Oliveira A, et al. National Food, Nurrition and Physical Activity Survey of the Portuguese General Population. European Food Safety Nathority: 2017.
- Maggioli C, Stagi S. Bone modeling, temodeling, and skeletal health in children and addescents-mineral accrual, assessment and treatment. Ann Publish Inducrinol Matab. 2017;22:1-5.
- Moose SA, McKay HA, Macdonald H, et al. Enhancing a somatic manufity prediction model. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2015;47:1755-1764.
- Pomenanis T, Tillimansi V, Järimäe J, Jörimäe T. The influence of serum ghrelin, ICF axis and testesterone on bone mineral density in boys at different stages of sexual maturity. J Bone Minor Monah. 2017;25:193-197.
- Rehn TA, Wineti RA, Wisleff U, Rognmo O. Increasing physical activity of high intensity to reduce the prevalence of churnic diseases and improve public health. Open Carubinua: Med J. 2013;7:1-8.
- Rizzoli R, Bianchi ML, Garabedian M, McKay HA, Moreno LA. Maximizing bone mineral mass gain during growth for the provention of fractures in the adolescents and the elderly. *Bone*. 2010;46:294–305.
- Rizzone KH, Ackerman KE, Roos KG, Dompier TP, Kerr ZY. The epidemiology of stress fractures in collegiate student athletes, 2006-2005 through 2013-2014 academic years. J Abb Thuin. 2017;5:2966-975.
   Ruiz JR, Canto-Pinero J, Bopuna-Romero V, et al. Held-based filness assessment
- Ruiz JR, Cauto-Pinero J, Espana-Romero V, et al. Pield-based fitness assessment in young people: the ALPHA health-related fitness test battery for children and adolescents. Br J Sports Mul. 2011;45:518-524.
- Stevanen H, Cheng S, Olikainen S, Lusi-Rasi K. Ultrasound velocity and contical bone characteriatics in vivo. *Oneoporos Int.* 2001;12:399-405.
- Sverdsom A, Hernlund II, Ivergård M, et. al; European Review Panel of IOF. Osteoporosis in the European Union: a competidium of country-specific reports *Arch Osseporos.* 2013;8:137.
- Tenforde AS, Nativ A, Ackenman K, Tiarrack MT, Fredericson M. Optimising bone health in the young male athletie. *Br J Sports Mod.* 2017;51:148-149.
   Torres-Costoso A, Gracia-Marco I, Sanchez-Lopez M, et al. Lean mass as a total
- Torres-Costesio A, Gracia-Marco L, Sanchez-Lopez M, et al. Lean mass as a total mediator of the influence of muscular filness on hone health in schoolchildrenmediation analysis. J Spora Sci. 2015;33:817-830.
- Ukogu C, Patterson D, Sarosi A, Colvin AC. Epidemiology of youth sports injury a review of demographic and sports-related risk factors for injury. Ann Joint. 2017;2:79.
- Vicente-Rodriguez G. How does exercise affect hone development during growthe Sports Med. 2006;36:361–369.
- Viachopoulos D, Barker AR, Urugo-Guisado E, Williams GA, Gracia-Marco L. The effect of a high-impact jumping intervention on bone mass, hone stiffness and fitness parameters in adolescent athletes. Arch Oswoporus. 2018;13:128.
- Weaver CM, Gonton CM, Janz KF, et al. The National Osleoporosis Foundation: position statement on peak bore mass development and lifestyle factors: a systematic review and implementation recommendations. Osavoporos Int. 2016;27:1281-1386.
- World Medical Association. World Medical Association Decharation of Helsinki ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. JAMA. 2013;310:2191-2194.
- Zymhal V, Baptista F, Leuchy EM, Janz KF, Levy SM. Mediating effect of muscle on the relationship of physical activity and bone. *Mod Sci Sports Euroc.* 2019;51:202-210.

For article reuse guidelines, please visit SAGE's website at http://www.sagepub.com/journals-permissions.

182

8

Man • Man 202

# **CHAPTER 7**

Mediating role of physical fitness on the associations

# between physical activity and bone health in youth

<sup>4</sup> Duarte Henriques-Neto, João Pedro Magalhães, Pedro Júdice, Megan Hetherington-Rauth, Miguel Peralta, Adilson Marques, Luís B. Sardinha (*Published*): Mediating role of physical fitness on the associations between physical activity and bone health in youth.

#### PHYSICAL ACTIVITY, HEALTH AND EXERCISE



### Mediating role of physical fitness and fat mass on the associations between physical activity and bone health in youth

Duarte Henriques-Neto (<sup>Ba,b</sup>, João Pedro Magalhães<sup>a</sup>, Pedro Júdice<sup>a,c</sup>, Megan Hetherington-Rauth<sup>a</sup>, Miguel Peralta<sup>Ba,d</sup>, Adilson Marques (<sup>Ba,d</sup> and Luís B. Sardinha<sup>a</sup>)

«CIPER, Faculdade De Motricidade Humana, Universidade De Lisboa, Cruz Quebrada, Portugal; <sup>b</sup>Comité Olímpico De Portugal, Lisboa, Portugal; <sup>c</sup>Faculdade De Educação Física E Desporto, Universidade Lusófona De Humanidades E Tecnologias, Lisboa, Portugal; <sup>d</sup>ISAMB, Faculdade De Medicina, Universidade De Lisboa, Lisboa, Portugal

#### ABSTRACT

We aimed to assess if the relationship between VPA and bone health is simultaneously mediated by PF and fat mass in adolescents. Bone health was assessed by quantitative ultrasound (QUS) in 412 participants (221 girls) aged 10–18 years. VPA was assessed by accelerometry and PF was measured using specific protocols from FITescola<sup>®</sup>. Fat mass (%) was assessed using two skinfolds (triceps and calf). Parallel mediation analysis was performed by Hayes' PROCESS (V.3.3-model 4) for SPSS. We observed that in boys, handgrip mediated the associations of VPA with speed of sound on the third distal radius (R-SoS). While, speed at 20 m and handgrip mediated the relationship of VPA with speed of sound on the tibial midshaft (T-SoS). Body fat (%) only acted as a mediator when handgrip integrates the mediation model. For girls, the only mediating variable for the relationship between VPA and R-SoS or T-SoS was the PACER test. Handgrip, speed and fat mass (%) in boys, and cardiorespiratory fitness in girls mediates the relationships between VPA and bone health assessed by QUS. Promoting muscular fitness and cardior-espiratory fitness and decrease of fat mass through VPA in adolescents may be an important strategy to improve bone health.

ARTICLE HISTORY Accepted 22 July 2020

KEYWORDS Muscular fitness; speed; ultrasonography; adolescence

#### Introduction

Osteoporosis remains a major public health concern due to its relation with fragility fractures (Cauley, 2017). Promoting healthy behaviours during adolescence reduces the risk of fractures and optimises peak bone mass, which may lead to a decreased risk of osteoporosis in adulthood (Bielemann et al., 2013).

Adolescence is an essential period for skeletal development (Santos et al., 2017), where various environmental and behavioural factors can either augment or interfere with gains in bone density and structure (Rizzoli et al., 2010). In particular, physical activity (PA) of moderate to vigorous intensity has been associated with better bone mineral density (BMD) and bone mineral content (BMC) (Binkley & Specker, 2004; Muñoz-Hernandez et al., 2018). Based on the mechanostat theory, it is recognized that physical activities, typically those of vigorousintensity, which promote impact (e.g., jumps or direction changes) (Vlachopoulos et al., 2018) and are weight-bearing (Hong & Kim, 2018) with adequate loads, are paramount for developing healthy bones (Goodman et al., 2015).

Physically active adolescents usually have higher levels of physical fitness (PF) (Judice et al., 2017). Moreover, a positive relationship between PF attributes and bone outcomes has been described in adolescents (Baptista et al., 2016; Alghadir et al., 2018). These associations seem to be linked to cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) (Vlachopoulos et al., 2017) and muscular fitness (MF) (Baptista et al., 2016), in which both are strong predictors of bone health during this period of growth and development. On the other hand, fat mass is also an important factor when considering bone health in adolescents, however this relationship is still unclear (Sioen et al., 2016). Fat mass can have both positive and negative effects on BMC and BMD (Sioen et al., 2016; Torres-Costoso et al., 2015). The relationship between fat mass and bone health outcomes has been widely discussed. Variables such as sex, weight status, lean mass, PF level and the measure of bone health used are factors that influence partially or totally the relationship between fat mass and bone health and that can explain the contradicting findings (Gracia-Marco et al., 2011; Sioen et al., 2016).

The relationship of vigorous physical activity (VPA) with fitness and fat mass and VPA with bone outcomes has been extensively studied (Judice et al., 2017; Muñoz-Hernandez et al., 2018). However, to the best of our knowledge, no previous investigation has jointly analysed the associations between VPA, fitness, fat mass and bone outcomes, namely, the speed of sound in the third distal radius (R-SoS) and in the midshaft tibia (T-SoS) in adolescents, nor has any investigation analysed the possible mediating effect of fitness and fatness in the relationship between VPA and R-SoS and T-SoS. Furthermore, knowing if PF and fat mass are mediators of VPA and bone health will help in determining which PF attributes should be promoted in youth in order for them to achieve the maximal bone health potential from VPA. Therefore, the present investigation aimed to assess if the relationship between VPA and R-SoS and T-SoS are parallel mediated by PF and fat mass in

CONTACT Duarte Henriques-Neto 😡 duarteneto@campus.ul.pt 💽 Faculdade De Motricidade Humana, Universidade De Lisboa, Cruz-Quebrada 1499-002, Portugal © 2020 Informa UK Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis Group

adolescents. Due to the logical relationship of VPA with PF and fat mass it is hypothesised that the associations between VPA with R-SoS and T-SoS are partially mediated by PF and fat mass.

#### Material and methods

#### Participants and study design

This cross-sectional investigation included a total sample of 412 adolescents aged 10 to 18 years old (n = 221 girls) with valid data on PF tests (handgrip [HG], PACER, vertical jump, 4x0m shuttle run, and speed at 20 m) and PA measured by accelerometry. Participants were recruited from public schools in the Lisbon district area. The investigation was conducted respecting the Declaration of Helsinki for Human Subjects (WMA, 2008) and was approved by the Ethics Committee of Faculty of Human Kinetics, University of Lisbon (CEFMH-Approved; N.º 19/2018). All participants were informed about the aim of the project, and written consent was obtained from their legal guardians before participation in the investigation.

#### Anthropometrics measurements

All participants were weighted to the nearest 0.01 kg on an electronic scale (Seca, Hamburg, Germany) while wearing minimal clothing and without shoes. Height was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm with a stadiometer (Seca, Hamburg, Germany) (Lohman & Martorell, 1998). BMI was calculated as body mass (kg)/height (Bielemann et al., 2013) (m).

#### Body composition

The triceps and calf skinfolds measurements were conducted by the same anthropometrist to reduce the risk of bias. Two measurements were performed for each location point, and if the two measures differed by more than 2 cm, a third measurement was performed. The average value for the 2 or 3 measurements was recorded. All skinfold measurements were according to the procedures described by Lohman et al (Lohman & Martorell, 1998). Values corresponding to body fatness in adolescents were estimated by specific mathematic equations (Slaughter et al., 1988).

#### Maturity

Height and age, were used to calculate the maturity offset in years using sex-specific equations established by Moore et al. (Moore et al., 2015). Age of peak of height velocity (PHV) was estimated by subtracting maturity offset from the chronologic age.

#### Calcium and vitamin D intake

A semi-quantitative questionnaire specific for Portuguese adolescents (Lopes et al., 2017) was used to assess the intake of a full set of typical Portuguese foods in the previous month (e.g., 1- How many supplements of vitamins, D, and calcium do you usually take per day?; 2- How many milk cups (250 ml) do

#### Accelerometer analysis

Total wear time and VPA were assessed by accelerometry (ActiGraph, GT3x model, Fort Walton Beach, FL). All participants were asked to wear the accelerometer on the right side, near the iliac crest for 7 consecutive days (5 weekdays and 2 weekend day), and were instructed to remove the devices for water activities and during sleep. The accelerometers were activated on the morning of the first day. The devices were activated on the morning of the first day. The devices were activated on raw mode with a 100 Hz frequency using the normal filter as default and posteriorly downloaded into 15-s epochs (Actilife v.6.9.1). Periods of at least 60 consecutive minutes of zero counts were considered as non-wear time. A valid day was considered when there were at least 10 hours (600 minutes) of wear time.

Participants had to present at least three valid days (including one weekend day) to be considered for analysis in this investigation. Activity levels were expressed in terms of counts per minute, and intensity thresholds were defined according to Evenson et al. (Evenson et al., 2008). Accelerometer counts  $\geq$ 100 counts.min<sup>-1</sup> were identified as active time, and participants were in VPA if the accelerometer counted  $\geq$ 4012 counts. min<sup>-1</sup> (Evenson et al., 2008).

#### Type of physical exercise

The different types of physical exercise were categorized as follows: non-osteogenic (i.e. swimming, water polo, equestrian) and osteogenic (i.e. football, handball, volleyball). Those who did not participate regularly in any sport were classified as nonexercisers. This categorization has been used previously in bone health studies in adolescents (Hong & Kim, 2018; Vlachopoulos et al., 2018).

#### Physical fitness

All participants performed a specific warm-up for at least 10 minutes before PF testing, which was coordinated by a member of the research group. PF was assessed using specific tests from the FITescola" fitness battery, which is currently being used in the Portuguese school setting. Progressive aerobic cardiovascular endurance run PACER test, vertical jump test, and the speed at 20 m tests were used to examine CRF, lower body MF, and speed, respectively. A full description of each test can be found elsewhere (Gracia-Marco et al., 2011; Ruiz et al., 2011). Additionally, the upper body MF strength test (HG) was assessed using an analogue adjustable dynamometer (Lafavette Hand Dynamometer - Instrument Company, Lafayette, Indiana, United States of America). Participants were given a previous demonstration and verbal instructions before the individual test. The test was performed with the participant in a standing position with shoulder neutrally rotated in abduction and arms parallel without being in contact with the body. The participants were asked to squeeze the handle for a maximum of 3-5 seconds. Verbal encouragement

was given during the test. Two trials were performed for each limb and the maximum score was recorded in kilograms (kg).

#### Bone health-speed of sound

Bone speed of sound (SoS) was assessed by quantitative ultrasound (QUS) at the radial distal third (R-SoS) and tibial midshaft (T-SoS) of the non-dominant limb by sonometer *Omnisense* 8000s (*Sunlight Omnisense*, BeamMed, Tel Aviv, Israel). The same researcher conducted all measurements, after a daily calibration, and according to specific manufacturer's instructions, further details can be found elsewhere (Baptista et al., 2011). Before performing SoS, the participant's age, height, weight and sex were entered in the program. Therefore, SoS analyses were adjusted for these variables. All SoS analyses were conducted on a different day from PF assessments but on the same week.

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were completed using SPSS (24.0, Chicago, IL, USA). Descriptive analysis included mean and standard deviation for all variables. In the preliminary analysis, an interaction effect between sexes was observed, thus subsequent analysis were stratified by sex. Independent sample t-tests were used to compare continuous variables and chi-square test for categorical variables between sexes. To analyse whether each PF test and fat mass (%) mediated the relationship between VPA time with R-SoS and T-SoS, a parallel mediation model was used, where VPA time was set as the independent variable (X), each PF test (M1) and fat mass (M2) were set as the mediating variables, and each bone variable was set as the dependent variable (Y). Age of PHV, BMI, daily intake of calcium and vitamin D and type of PA were added as covariates. Also, in a parallel mediation model the mediators (M1 and M2) serve as covariates of each other when assessing their effect on bone outcomes (i.e. path b in Figure 1). The parallel mediation model used in the analysis is presented in Figure 1.

Before assessing the mediation effect, path a (i.e. the effect of VPA time on each PF test) and path b (i.e. the effect of each PF and fat mass (%) on bone outcomes) were tested using unstandardized regression coefficients. Posteriorly, we tested the total (path c) and direct (path c' – with PF adjustment) effect



Figure 1. Overall mediation model.

between X (VPA time) and Y (R-SoS and T-SoS) to understand if there was an association of VPA time with bone health outcomes by QUS. Mediation analysis was performed only when both path a and path b were significant. Mediation analysis was performed using the PROCESS SPSS macro (v3.3 – model 4) developed by Preacher and Hayes (Preacher & Hayes, 2004). The PROCESS macro analyses the total and specific indirect effects using bootstrap procedures (resampling of 5000 bootstrap samples was used), which do not require assumptions of normality of the sampling (Hayes, 2017).

#### Results

Descriptive statistics on the characteristics of the participants are presented in Table 1. Significant differences between sexes were observed for weight, height, fat mass (%), maturity offset, age of PHV, VPA, PF tests, and bone outcomes (p < 0.05). Boys had higher values in weight, height, age of PHV, VPA, and PF tests, while girls had higher values in fat mass (%), maturity offset, R-SoS, and T-SoS (p < 0.001).

#### Parallel mediation analysis

Figure 2 depicts the results of the parallel mediations analysis of PF and fat mass in the association between VPA and R-SoS (panel a) or T-SoS (panel b) for boys, VPA was not associated with R-SoS, when adjusted for the covariates (path c). The only PF test that mediated the relationship between VPA and R-SoS, was the HG (path a = 0.12, p = 0.008; path b = 2.62, p = 0.031). Fat mass did not act as a mediator between the relationship between VPA and R-SoS. On the other hand, VPA was associated with T-SoS, when adjusted forthe covariates (path c). However, when considering the PF tests and fat mass (%), this association loss significance (path c'), except for the PACER test model. The speed at 20 m (path a = -0.02, p = 0.046; path b = -86.11, p < 0.001) was a mediator between VPA and T-SoS, while the HG (path a = 0.12, p = 0.008; path b = 4.33, p < 0.001) and fat mass (%) (path a = -0.12, p = 0.005; path b = -2.53, p = 0.004) jointly mediated the association between VPA and T-SoS.

Figure 3 summarizes the results for the parallel mediation analysis of PF and fat mass (%) in the association between VPA and R-SoS (panel a) or T-SoS (panel b) for girls. Similar to boys, VPA was not associated with R-SoS, when adjusted for the covariates (*path c*). The PACER test was the only mediator of the relationship between VPA and R-SoS (*path a* = 0.20, p = 0.026; *path b* = 1.27, p = 0.023). Fat mass did not act as a mediator between the relationship of VPA and R-SoS. Regarding the T-SoS, PACER was also the only mediator for its association with VPA (*path a* = 0.20, p = 0.026; *path b* = 1.39, p = 0.020). VPA was not associated with T-SoS, when adjusted for the covariates (*path c*).

Overall, we observed that in boys, HG mediated the associations of VPA with R-SoS, while speed at 20 m and HG mediated the relationship of VPA with T-SoS. Body fat (%) only acted as a mediator when HG integrates the mediation model. For girls, the only mediating variable for the relationship between VPA and R-SoS or T-SoS was the PACER test.

#### 4 🕒 D. HENRIQUES-NETO ET AL.

#### Table 1. Sample characteristics by sex and age group.

		Mean (SD)		_
Anthropometry	All (n = 412)	Boys (n = 191)	Girls (n = 221)	P value
Age (yrs)	14.59 ± 2.36	14.46 ± 2.38	14.69 ± 2.35	NS
Weight (kg)	52.64 ± 12.48	54.56 ± 13.98	51.24 ± 10.86	0.016
Height (m)	159.89 ± 11.69	162.49 ± 13.74	157.63 ± 9.02	<0.001
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	20.33 ± 3.22	$20.24 \pm 3.30$	20.41 ± 3.15	NS
Fat mass (%)	20.28 ± 8.20	16.52 ± 8.15	23.54 ± 6.73	< 0.001
Maturity offset (yrs)	$1.41 \pm 2.09$	$0.59 \pm 1.98$	$2.13 \pm 1.92$	<0.001
Age of PHV (yrs)	$13.17 \pm 0.88$	13.88 ± 0.56	12.56 ± 0.62	< 0.001
Calcium intake (mg/day)	894.54 ± 456.24	896.60 ± 455.62	892.76 ± 457.80	NS
Type of Physical Activity				
Non-exercisers (%)	30.1	23.6	35.7	NS.
Non-osteogenic (%)	12.6	12.6	12.7	NS
Osteogenic (%)	57.3	63.9	51.6	N5
Physical Activity				
VPA (min/day)	$16.14 \pm 13.10$	20.86 ± 14.65	12.06 ± 9.96	< 0.001
Total wear time (min/day)	853.54 ± 64.44	857.83 ± 67.86	849.84 ± 61.52	NS
Physical Fitness				
Handgrip (kg)	30.58 ± 8.03	33.33 ± 9.71	28.19 ± 5.18	< 0.001
PACER 20 m (laps)	44.43 ± 19.88	53.81 ± 22.32	36.32 ± 12.87	< 0.001
Vertical jump (cm)	34.32 ± 9.46	38.15 ± 10.62	31.00 ± 6.79	< 0.001
Speed at 20 m (s)	3.96 ± 0.42	3.79 ± 0.45	4.11 ± 0.31	< 0.001
Bone Health - Ultrasound				
Third distal radius ultrasound (m/s)	3874.66 ± 145.59	3819.50 ± 146.20	3922.33 ± 127.31	< 0.001
Midshaft tibia ultrasound (m/s)	3767.65 ± 126.86	3727.62 ± 121.32	3802.24 ± 121.50	< 0.001

Differences between sex groups were assessed by the T-test

SD, standard deviation; NŠ, non-significant; BMI, body mass index; PHV, peak height velocity; VPA, vigorous physical activity; PACER, Progressive Aerobic Cardiovascular Endurance Run.

#### Discussion

This investigation aimed to analyse whether the relationship between VPA and R-SoS and T-SoS was parallel mediated by PF and fat mass (%) in adolescents. Our results suggest that speed at 20 m, HG and fat mass (%) in boys and PACER in girls mediated the relationship between VPA and bone health assessed by QUS.

#### VPA, PF, fatness, and bone health in boys

Practicing regular PA, especially at higher intensities, and having healthy PF levels are among the primary modifiable factors capable of influencing body composition and bone tissue health (Joensuu et al., 2018). In our investigation, we observed a positive and significant association between time spent in VPA with T-SoS in boys, but not with R-SoS, that was mediated by speed at 20 m and jointly mediated by HG and fat mass (%). These observations are in line with previous studies, which have found higher VPA levels to be positively associated with several indicators of bone health in adolescents (Boreham & McKay, 2011). Indeed, the impact on bone generated by PA is known to promote bone modelling and remodelling processes to take place, with the overloading provided by higher PA levels promoting increases in bone strength and the underloading occurring in situations of decreased PA resulting in bone loss (Tyrovola & Odont, 2015). The high prevalence of participation in PA that involved lower limbs, may explain the lack of association of VPA with R-SoS.

Higher intensity PA is also known to improve PF levels (Judice et al., 2017), with higher values in different components of PF being associated with higher BMD and BMC (Baptista et al., 2016; Cray et al., 2015; Vlachopoulos et al., 2018). In this investigation, PACER, an PF test indicative of CRF, was positively associated to T-SoS in boys, however, it was not a mediator of the relationship between VPA and bone health. Similar to our findings, several studies have demonstrated some controversial results regarding the associations between CRF and bone health outcomes (Fonseca et al., 2008; Gracia-Marco et al., 2011). It may be hypothesized that boys who practice more aerobic PA with higher volumes of training and repetitive loads, such as in distance running, have lower levels of body mass, including muscle mass (Faustino-da-Silva et al., 2018; Tenforde et al., 2018), and as a result have less bone health benefits than more strength based sports.

Several studies have demonstrated that MF is associated with BMD and BMC (Baptista et al., 2016; Ubago-Guisado et al., 2017; Vlachopoulos et al., 2018). MF is a component of PF, focused on assessing the capacity of skeletal muscle to produce body movement, while it promotes blood flow to organs, among other biologic functions (Goodman et al., 2015; Ortega et al., 2007). In this investigation, speed at 20 m was identified as a mediator to the relationship between VPA and T-SoS, while the HG was identified as a mediator to the relationship between both bone outcomes by QUS. These tests (HG and speed at 20 m) are linked with motor performance and may give useful information regarding the strength and power capacity of the muscle (Vlachopoulos et al., 2018). For instance, grip strength can be a surrogate measure of total body muscular strength and the speed test can be a good indicator of the capacity of muscle fibres to produce power in a short period of time (Ortega et al., 2007).

#### JOURNAL OF SPORTS SCIENCES 🛞 5



Figure 2. Parallel mediation model. The model includes one independent variable (VPA), two mediating variables (physical fitness tests and fat mass (%), one dependent variable (third distal radius ultrasound), and covariates (daily calcium intake, age of PHV, and Type of PA) for the boys.

Additionally, all these PF tests have been previously identified as potential predictors of bone health in adolescence (Baptista et al., 2016; Saint-Maurice et al., 2018; Vicente-Rodriguez et al., 2008). The muscle-bone unit is known to play an important role in the development of bone strength in children and adolescents, with gains in muscle mass and strength preceding increases in bone mass and alterations in bone geometry (Fricke & Schoenau, 2007). Active muscle contractions contribute to the mechanical loading of bone, subjecting the bone to tensile, comprehensive and bending forces (Goodman et al., 2015). Therefore, muscles with higher levels of strength or power have a capacity to generate greater forces on bone and, thus, play a direct role in promoting bone strength (Goodman et al., 2015). Our results are supported by previous studies which demonstrate significant and positive associations for MF with BMD. This means that, in boys, VPA may be associated with R-SoS and T-SoS, in part because of its associations with HG and the speed at 20 m.

#### VPA, PF, fatness, and bone health in girls

Unlike in boys, VPA was not associated with bone health in girls in both the upper and lower limbs. Lower levels of VPA when compared to boys may explain the lack of association of VPA with SoS of the radius and tibia in girls. Notwithstanding, VPA is consistently associated with bone health in the literature (Joensuu et al., 2018; Tan et al., 2014), and thus should be promoted in both girls and boys.

In girls the PACER test, when used as a surrogate measure of CRF, was a mediator in the associations between VPA with R-SoS and T-SoS. Furthermore, PACER was the only mediator for the association between VPA and bone health in girls. As stated before, controversial results regarding the associations between CRF and bone health outcomes have been reported (Fonseca et al., 2008; Gracia-Marco et al., 2011). In our investigation, the PACER seems to be a more relevant indicator of bone health in girls than it is among boys.



Figure 3. Parallel mediation model. The model includes one independent variable (VPA), two mediating variables (physical fitness tests and fat mass [%i]), one dependent variable (third distal radius ultrasound or midshaft tibia ultrasound), and covariates (daily calcium intake, age of PHV, and Type of PA) for the girls.

Unlike in boys, there were no mediating effects of MF on the relationship between VPA and bone health found in girls. This finding is likely due to boys having a significantly higher number of minutes in VPA compared to girls in our sample of adolescents. Given that VPA is positively associated with MF, the higher VPA observed in boys allows them to develop a higher degree of MF to a level capable of mediating part of the associations of VPA with R-SoS and T-SoS. In addition, the muscle-bone interactions are influenced by hormonal factors during puberty. In particular, testosterone is largely responsible for the increased muscle mass and corresponding greater muscle force imparted on the skeleton in boys when compared to girls (Fricke & Schoenau, 2007). In girls, oestrogen lowers the level of strain on the bone needed for a bone remodelling effect to occur (Fricke & Schoenau, 2007). Hence a lower amount of muscle mass and force are needed to produce increases in bone mass in girls compared to boys. MF is likely not as important of a factor as hormonal levels for contributing to bone strength in girls, which may additionally explain why in girls MF was not a significant mediator of the VPA-bone relationship.

#### Strengths and limitations

The present investigation has some limitations. First, the cross-sectional design of the investigation does not make it possible to induce causality. This is an important limitation as it is not possible to determine the direction of the relationships in which variables influence each other, i.e., it is possible that those with less fat mass or higher levels of PF are more likely to engage in VPA. Furthermore, the cross-sectional design dos not allow to differentiate between a mediator

and a confounder, thus it is not possible to statistically assess whether fat mass and PF are confounders or mediators in the relationship between PA and bone health. Notwithstanding, from a conceptual standpoint the indicated directions are the most expectable. Second, other factors known to influence bone, such as muscle mass, sleep, smoking habits, the use of oral contraceptive pills or other hormone therapy, and hormonal levels such as oestradiol, testosterone, growth hormone and other metabolic factors were not assessed. Also, we did not have an objective measure of body composition (muscle mass), which has previously been shown to mediate the associations between PA and bone strength in children (Zymbal et al., 2018). Finally, the fact that we do not have 24h accelerometer data, due to participants removing the devices during water-based activities and sleep, may potentially cause some PA to be missed during these non-wear time periods.

Despite limitations, this investigation has several strengths, one being our assessment of a relatively large sample of children/adolescence. Additionally, we used QUS to assess bone, which is a non-invasive, fast, low-cost method without radiation that has been widely used to assess BMD status in adolescents (Maggioli & Stagi, 2017). The main outcome of QUS, SoS, is highly correlated with BMD by DXA, reflecting a range of bone status characteristics, such an elasticity, structure, microstructure, and cortical thickness, all of which are essential characteristics predictive of overall bone strength (Wang et al., 2014).

#### Conclusion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first investigation addressing the indirect effect (through PF and fat mass) of VPA on R-SoS and T-SoS during adolescence. This investigation suggests that during adolescence VPA is associated with increased bone health, which is mediated by PF, particularly MF (i.e. HG and speed at 20 m) and fat mass in boys, and the PACER in girls. Hence physical activity that enhances muscular fitness should be especially emphasised during adolescent development for boys, while for girls an enphasis in CRF should be given. More studies are needed to clarify if there is any mediating role of skeletal muscle in the relationship between PA and bone outcomes by SoS in girls.

#### Acknowledgments

DHN is supported by a grant from Comité Olimpico de Portugal (doctoral scholarship – COP). Pedro Júdice is supported by a grant (SFRH/BPD/ 115977/2016) from the FCT – Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia. Miguel Peralta is supported by a grant (SFRH/BD/122219/2016) from FCT – Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia. This work was supported by a national grant through the FCT—Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the unit I&D 472 (UID/DTP/00447/2019), Faculty of Human Kinetics of University of Lisbon.

The authors would like to thank the participants and their teachers who contributed to this investigation.

#### **Disclosure statement**

No potential conflict of interest was reported by the authors.

#### ORCID

Duarte Henriques-Neto ((), http://orcid.org/0000-0003-3780-6545 Miguel Peralta ((), http://orcid.org/0000-0001-6072-6012 Adilson Marques ((), http://orcid.org/0000-0001-9850-7771

#### References

- Alghadir, A. H., Gabr, S. A., & Rizk, A. A. (2018). Physical fitness, adiposity, and diets as surrogate measures of bone health in schoolchildren: A biochemical and cross-sectional survey analysis. Journal of Clinical Densitometry, 21(3), 406–419. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocd.2017.12.006
- Baptista, F., Fragoso, I., Branco, J., de Matos, A. A., & Sardinha, L. B. (2011). Reference data for bone speed of sound in portuguese girls and boys aged 9–13 years. *Journal of Clinical Densitometry*, 14(4), 484–491. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jocd.2011.05.019
- Baptista, F., Mil-Homens, P., Carita, A., Janz, K., & Sardinha, L. (2016). Peak vertical jump power as a marker of bone health in children. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 37(8), 653–658. https://doi.org/10.1055/ s-0042-105290
- Bielemann, R. M., Martinez-Mesa, J., & Gigante, D. P. (2013). Physical activity during life course and bone mass: A systematic review of methods and findings from cohort studies with young adults. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders, 14(77). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2474-14-77
- Binkley, T., & Specker, B. (2004). Increased periosteal circumference remains present 12 months after an exercise intervention in preschool children. Bone, 35(6), 1383–1388. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2004.08.012
- Boreham, C. A. G., & McKay, H. A. (2011). Physical activity in childhood and bone health. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 45(11), 877–879. https:// doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2011-090188
- Cauley, J. A. (2017, March). Osteoporosis: Fracture epidemiology update 2016. Current Opinion in Rheumatology, 29(2), 150–156. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/BOR.000000000000365
- Cray, J., Torres-Costoso, A., Gracia-Marco, L., Notario-Pacheco, B., Arias-Palencia, N., & Martinez-Vizcaino, V. (2015). Physical activity and bone health in schoolchildren: The mediating role of fitness and body fat. Plos One. 10(4), e0123797.
- Evenson, K. R., Catellier, D. J., Gill, K., Ondrak, K. S., & McMurray, R. G. (2008, December). Calibration of two objective measures of physical activity for children. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 26(14), 1557–1565. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/02640410802334196
- Faustino-da-Silva, Y., Agostinete, R. R., Werneck, A. O., Maillane-Vanegas, S., Lynch, K. R., Exupério, I. N., Ito, I. H., & Fernandes, R. A. (2018). Track and field practice and bone outcomes among adolescents: A pilot study (ABCD-growth study). *Journal of Bone Metabolism*, 25(1), 35. https://doi. org/10.11005/jbm.2018.25.1.35
- Fonseca, R. M. C., de França, N. M., & Van Praagh, E. (2008). Relationship between indicators of fitness and bone density in adolescent Brazilian children. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 20(1), 40–49. https://doi.org/10.1123/ pes.20.1.40
- Fricke, O., & Schoenau, E. (2007). The 'Functional Muscle-Bone Unit': Probing the relevance of mechanical signals for bone development in children and adolescents. Growth Harmone & IGF Research, 17(1), 1–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ghir.2006.10.004
- Goodman, C. A., Hornberger, T. A., & Robling, A. G. (2015). Bone and skeletal muscle: Key players in mechanotransduction and potential overlapping mechanisms. *Bone, 80*, 24–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2015.04. 014
- Gracia-Marco, L., Vicente-Rodríguez, G., Casajús, J. A., Molnar, D., Castillo, M. J., & Moreno, L. A. (2011). Effect of fitness and physical activity on bone mass in adolescents: The HELENA Study. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 111(11), 2671–2680. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-011-1897-0
- Hayes, A. F. (2017). Partial, conditional, and moderated moderated mediation: Quantification, inference, and interpretation. *Communication Manographs*, 85(1), 4–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/03637751.2017. 1352100
- Hong, A. R., & Kim, S. W. (2018). Effects of resistance exercise on bone health. Endocrinology and Metabolism, 33(4), 435. https://doi.org/10. 3803/EnM.2018.33.4.435

#### 8 🛞 D. HENRIQUES-NETO ET AL.

- Joensuu, L., Syväoja, H., Kallio, J., Kulmala, J., Kujala, U. M., & Tammelin, T. H. (2018). Objectively measured physical activity, body composition and physical fitness: Cross-sectional associations in 9- to 15-year-old children. European Journal of Sport Science, 18(6), 882–892. https://doi. org/10.1080/17461391.2018.1457081
- Judice, P. B., Silva, A. M., Berria, J., Petroski, E. L., Ekelund, U., & Sardinha, L. B. (2017, March). Sedentary patterns, physical activity and health-related physical fitness in youth: A cross-sectional study. The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 14(1), 25. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12966-017-0481-3
- Lohman, T. G. R. A., & Martorell, R. (Eds.). (1998). Anthropometric standardization reference manual. Human Kinetics.
- Lopes, C., Torres, D., Oliveira, A., Severo, M., Guiomar, S., Alarcão, V., Vilela, S., Ramos, E., Rodrigues, S., Oliveira, L., Nicola, P., Mota, J., Teixeira, P., & Soares, S. (2017). National food, nutrition and physical activity survey of the Portuguese general population. *EFSA Supporting Publications*, 14(12), 33. https://doi.org/10.2903/sp.efsa.2017.EN-1341
- Maggioli, C., & Stagi, S. (2017). Bone modeling, remodeling, and skeletal health in children and adolescents: Mineral accrual, assessment and treatment. Annals of Pediatric Endocrinology & Metabolism, 22(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.6065/apem.2017.22.1.1
- Moore, S. A., McKay, H. A., Macdonald, H., Nettlefold, L., Baxter-Jones, A. D. G., Cameron, N., & Brasher, P. M. A. (2015). Enhancing a somatic maturity prediction model. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 47(8), 1755–1764. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000000888
- Muñoz-Hernandez, V., Arenaza, L., Gracia-Marco, L., Medrano, M., Merchan Ramirez, E., D. Martinez Avila, W., Oses, M., R. Ruiz, J., Ortega, B. F. & Labayen, I. (2018). Influence of physical activity on bone mineral content and density in overweight and obese children with low adherence to the mediterranean dietary pattern. Nutrients, 10(8), 1075. https://doi.org/10. 3390/nu10081075
- Ortega, F. B., Ruiz, J. R., Castillo, M. J., & Sjöström, M. (2007). Physical fitness in childhood and adolescence: A powerful marker of health. *International Journal of Obesity*, 32(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj. ijo.0803774
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2004, November). SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers*, 36(4), 717–731. https:// doi.org/10.3758/BF03206553
- Rizzoli, R., Bianchi, M. L., Garabédian, M., McKay, H. A., & Moreno, L. A. (2010). Maximizing bone mineral mass gain during growth for the prevention of fractures in the adolescents and the elderly. *Bone*, 46(2), 294–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2009.10.005
- Ruiz, J. R., Castro-Pinero, J., Espana-Romero, V., Artero, E. G., Ortega, F. B., Cuenca, M. M., Jimenez-Pavon, D., Chillon, P., Girela-Rejon, M. J., Mora, J., Gutiernez, A., Suni, J., Sjostrom, M., & Castillo, M. J. (2011, May). Fieldbased fitness assessment in young people: The ALPHA health-related fitness test battery for children and adolescents. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 45(6), 518–524. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.2010.075341
- Saint-Maurice, P. F., Laurson, K., Welk, G. J., Eisenmann, J., Gracia-Marco, L., Artero, E. G., Ortega, F., Ruiz, J. R., Moreno, L. A., Vicente-Rodriguez, G., & Janz, K. F. (2018). Grip strength cutpoints for youth based on a clinically relevant bone health outcome. Archives of Osteoporosis, 13(1), 92. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11657-018-0502-0
- Santos, L., Elliott-Sale, K. J., & Sale, C. (2017). Exercise and bone health across the lifespan. *Biogerontology*, 18(6), 931–946. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10522-017-9732-6
- Sioen, I., Lust, E., De Henauw, S., Moreno, L. A., & Jiménez-Pavón, D. (2016). Associations between body composition and bone health in children

and adolescents: A systematic review. Calcified Tissue International, 99(6), 557-577. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00223-016-0183-x

- Slaughter, M. H., Lohman, T. G., Boileau, R. A., Horswill, C. A., Stillman, R. J., Van Loan, M. D., & Bemben, D. A. (1988, October). Skinfold equations for estimation of body fatness in children and youth. *Human Biology*, 60(5), 709–723.
- Tan, V. P. S., Macdonald, H. M., Kim, S., Nettlefold, L., Gabel, L., Ashe, M. C., & McKay, H. A. (2014). Influence of physical activity on bone strength in children and adolescents: A systematic review and narrative synthesis. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 29(10), 2161–2181. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jbmr.2254
- Teriforde, A. S., Carlson, J. L., Sainani, K. L., Chang, A. O., Kim, J. H., Golden, N. H., & Fredericson, M. (2018). Sport and triad risk factors influence bone mineral density in collegiate athletes. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 50(12), 2536–2543. https://doi.org/10.1249/ MSS.00000000000001711
- Torres-Costoso, A., Gracia-Marco, L., Sanchez-Lopez, M., Notario-Pacheco, B., Arias-Palencia, N., & Martinez-Vizcaino, V. (2015). Physical activity and bone health in schoolchildren: The mediating role of fitness and body fat. PLoS One, 10(4), e0123797. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0123797
- Tyrovola, J. B., & Odont, X. X. (2015). The "Mechanostat Theory" of frost and the OPG/RANKL/RANK system. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry, 116(12), 2724–2729. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.25265
- Ubago-Guisado, E., Vlachopoulos, D., Ferreira de Moraes, A. C., Torres-Costoso, A., Wilkinson, K., Metcalf, B., Sánchez-Sánchez, J., Gallardo, L., & Gracia-Marco, L. (2017). Lean mass explains the association between muscular fitness and bone outcomes in 13-year-old boys. *Acta Paediatrica*, 106(10), 1658–1665. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa. 13972
- Vicente-Rodriguez, G., Urzanqui, A., Mesana, M. I., Ortega, F. B., Ruiz, J. R., Ezquerra, J., Casajús, J. A., Blay, G., Blay, V. A., Gonzalez-Gross, M., & Moreno, L. A. (2008). Physical fitness effect on bone mass is mediated by the independent association between lean mass and bone mass through adolescence: A cross-sectional study. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism*, 26(3), 288–294. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00774-007-0818-0
- Vlachopoulos, D., Barker, A. R., Ubago-Guisado, E., Williams, C. A., & Gracia-Marco, L. (2018). The effect of a high-impact jumping intervention on bone mass, bone stiffness and fitness parameters in adolescent athletes. *Archives of Osteoporosis*, 13(1), 128. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11657-018-0543-4
- Vlachopoulos, D., Ubago-Guisado, E., Barker, A. R., Metcalf, B. S., Fatouros, I. G., Avloniti, A., Knapp, K. M., Moreno, L. A., Williams, C. A., & Gracia-Marco, L. (2017). Determinants of bone outcomes in adolescent athletes at baseline. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 49(7), 1389–1396. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000001233
- Wang, K. C., Wang, K. C., Amirabadi, A., Cheung, E., Uleryk, E., Moineddin, R., & Doria, A. S. (2014). Evidence-based outcomes on diagnostic accuracy of quantitative ultrasound for assessment of pediatric osteoporosis — A systematic review. Pediatric Radiology, 44(12), 1573–1587. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00247-014-3041-x
- WMA. (2008). Declaration of Helsinki ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. WMJ, 54(1), 22-25. https://www. wma.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/DoH-Oct2008.pdf
- Zymbal, V., Baptista, F., Letuchy, E. M., Janz, K. F., & Levy, S. M. (2018). Mediating effect of muscle on the relationship of physical activity and bone. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 51(1) 202–210. https://doi. org/10.1249/MSS.00000000001759

# **CHAPTER 8**

**General discussion** 

### 8.1 - OVERVIEW

Physical inactivity or insufficient PA levels are identified as one of the five major risks factors for all-causes of deaths worldwide and for this reason, the WHO has defined the promotion of PA as a vital strategy to increase the quality of life and life expectancy (Guthold et al., 2018; WHO, 2015). Childhood and adolescence are crucial periods to instigate present and future healthy lifestyles. The most significant changes both physiologically and socially occur during these periods, consequently, making childhood and adolescence as optimal windows to promote the development of healthy lifestyles, which ultimately can improve quality of life and possibly increase life expectancy (National Research, Institute of Medicine Committee on Adolescent Health Care, Models of Care for Treatment, & Healthy, 2009). It is essential for governments' entities across the world to create and develop strategies and tools to promote PA at early ages (Fraser-Thomas, Côté, & Deakin, 2005; WHO, 2010, 2015). Several investigations have demonstrated youth sport participation to have excellent results on current health status, as well as in later life (Grima & Thalassinos, 2017; Schmidt et al., 2017; Rohan M. Telford et al., 2016).

It is essential to organise an integrated model for improving healthy sport participation, considering all cultural and social variables and the characteristics of the sports, with careful attention to the child or adolescent's individual characteristics (Fraser-Thomas et al., 2005; Rhodri S. Lloyd et al., 2015). School plays a crucial role in this strategy for promoting a healthy sports participation in youth because it is a place where the most significant people in children's and adolescent's life meet has facilities and tools (e.g. indoor/outdoor equipment and PF battery tests) to successfully operationalise this strategy (R. Bailey, 2006; A. F. Seabra et al., 2007).

Researchers, sports professionals, and sports authorities are recommended to determine the potential of talent identification and development systems, to promote health, by also evaluating the positive health of the athlete rather than solely focusing on performance outcomes (Rongen et al., 2018).

Monitoring the different components of PF in youth is safe and can be performed in ecologic contexts (e.g. school) with minimal equipment (Artero et al., 2010; J. R. Ruiz et al., 2010). Assessing the PF is fundamental to the promotion of youth's health and sports participation. PF plays an essential role in monitoring sports performance and training process as well as bone health (Baptista et al., 2016; Bergeron et al., 2015; Gracia-Marco, Vicente-Rodríguez, et al., 2011; F. B. Ortega, J. R. Ruiz, et al., 2008).

Despite advances in the PF assessment on sports performance and health in youth, all this information derives from investigations with different test protocols to assess the same PF attributes (Johan Pion et al., 2014). In the same way, bone health in youth has been assessed using several methods of assessment (Bachrach & Gordon, 2016; Maggioli & Stagi, 2017). There was a significant gap in the literature regarding the standardisation of PF tests on sports performance (i.e. the use of a single PF battery), as well as their relationship with bone health assessed by QUS in the youth considering several PA levels and sports backgrounds. Moreover, from a methodological point of view, the wide variety of PF batteries make interpretation of outcomes difficult and preclude comparisons between athletes with different sports backgrounds or solely between athletes and non-athletes.

Chapter 8

The overall aim of this dissertation was to gain better knowledge of the role of PF tests on sports performance, and bone health on the radius and the tibia, in young athletes and non-athletes. To achieve this aim, four investigations were conducted. Investigation 1 (chapter 4) comprises an analysis of the reliability of FITescola® battery tests in young athletes of different sports backgrounds and competition levels. Investigation 2 (chapter 5) was conducted with a large sample (n=1831) of young athletes (M=401 and F=194) and non-athletes (M=514 and F=722). Based on the results of this investigation 2, we analysed the sensitivity and the sensibility for each PF test to identify potential young athletes, based on sex and chronologic ages.

After studying the reliability of the FITescola® in young athletes and knowing its validity in the general population, we analysed the relationship between different PF tests and the radial and tibial bone health by QUS in young athletes (M=121 and F=68) and non-athletes (M=117 and F=183) (Investigation 3; chapter 6). Since PF tests were associated with R-SoS and T-SoS and acknowledging the associations between PA and bone health, we examined the association between VPA and R-SoS and T-SoS in 413 young, as well as the potential mediating effect of PF on that association (Investigation 4; chapter 7).

In summary, the present dissertation focused on the promotion of healthy sport participation in youth and added to the scientific knowledge by exploring: 1) the reliability of a set of PF tests in young athletes; 2) the ability of the PF tests as potential discriminators of athletes by sex and chronologic age in a large sample of young athletes and non-athletes; 3) the associations of R-SoS and T-SoS with PF in young athletes and non-athletes; and finally 4) the mediation effect of PF on the association of VPA with R-SoS and T-SoS. Extensive and specific discussions of each investigation and main findings were present in the respective chapters. The main purpose of this section was to gather and integrate the contributions of the four investigations, by summarising the main results and reflect on the practical applications, implications, conclusions and future research directions. Limitations of these investigations are also disclosed.

### **8.2 - MAIN RESEARCH FINDINGS**

In order to promote healthy sports participation in youth and the transition to healthy lifestyles in adulthood, a diversified and balanced program based on health, fun and safety is required for youth sports development. These principles are the best pathway to a sustainable sport system, promoting sports performance and healthy sports participation (I. Balyi, Way, R., and Higgs, C., 2013; Bergeron et al., 2015; M. H. Murphy et al., 2016). This process should begin with an integrated and inclusive program based on individual characteristics and specific sports demands to potentiate fun and healthy sports participation (Bergeron et al., 2015). Assessing PF attributes can determine the sports and health profile of youth according to specific goals (Gracia-Marco, Vicente-Rodríguez, et al., 2011; T. Kramer et al., 2017).

PF tests are excellent tools for monitoring sports performance and several health risks factors (Neil Armstrong & McManus, 2010; Garcia-Hermoso et al., 2019; Johnston et al., 2017; Till, Cobley, O'Hara, et al., 2015). When using this tool, biologic factors, such as sex and maturity should be taken into account. These two factors have a direct influence on PF, and thus all analysis were stratified or adjusted for them. Additionally, PA levels, an environmental factor which influences PF, should be promoted in order to improve health and performance-related PF, as the investigations have demonstrated that athletes (which have higher PA levels than non-athletes) have higher PF levels than non-athletes.

There is a lack of standardisation of PF test protocols to assess performance and this promotes misinterpretation of test results and makes it difficult to compare test outcomes (Johan Pion et al., 2014). Therefore, Investigation 1 was conducted to investigate the reliability of a set of health-related PF tests in young athletes from different sports backgrounds and competition levels. Good or excellent reliability (ICC>0.7) for all PF tests in both sexes was verified (only exception for the 20m speed run in girls), which means that this battery may be a useful tool for monitoring sports performance and health status in young non-athletes and athletes. Furthermore, PF assessments can be viewed as an excellent tool to discriminate sporting potential (I. Balyi, Way, R., and Higgs, C., 2013; Boullosa et al., 2019; Chiwaridzo et al., 2019; De Moor et al., 2012; Haycraft et al., 2017; Hoare, 2000). The potential of each PF test used in Portuguese public schools was analysed to discriminate adolescents with athletic potential from the general population while proposing cut-off values for each of these tests. It was demonstrated that at least one PF test per sex and age group could discriminate the athlete condition, showing that it is possible to differentiate athletes from non-athletes using some of these tests.

Sport is a naturally competitive environment, even in youth competitions (Caine et al., 2016; Mountjoy et al., 2008). During certain states of youth maturation, factors such as excessive training volume and intensity and having an unbalanced diet can negatively affect the sports performance as well as the bone health of young athletes (Bergeron et al., 2015). PF is a valuable tool to monitor the training process, sports performance, as well as bone health in youth (Baptista et al., 2016; Gracia-Marco, Vicente-Rodríguez, et al., 2011). Therefore, in Investigation 3, we examined the associations between PF tests with R-SoS and T-SoS for athletes and non-athletes. To our knowledge, no investigation has examined the associations between the PF tests and bone outcomes measured by QUS in non-athletes and athletes. The results showed that most of the physical fitness tests in boys were significantly associated with T-SoS in both athletes and non-athletes.

Chapter 8

On the other hand, fewer associations were found for girls between the physical fitness tests and T-SoS, especially in the athletic population, where handgrip strength, VJ, and 4x10m shuttle run were the only significant tests.

The associations observed between the physical fitness tests and SoS were overall stronger in the boys than the girls. These findings suggest that other factors other than the PF tests may be influencing bone measures in girls (e.g. PA levels, body composition). More investigations should be carried out to understand biologically what is going on during the training process at these ages to ensure there is a balance between sports performance and health.

Given the identified the sex-biased relationship of PF with R-SoS and PF with T-SoS observed in investigation 3, investigation 4 was conducted with the main objective of investigating the parallel mediating effect of several PF attributes and fatness on the relationship of PA with R-SoS and T-SoS.

High-intensities of PA have been associated with bone health during growth (Gracia-Marco, Moreno, et al., 2011; Zymbal, Baptista, Letuchy, Janz, & Levy, 2019). However, there is a lack of knowledge about the effect of some PF attributes on the relationship between PA with peripheral bone health in youth.

In investigation 4, we assessed the PF levels, fat mass (%), R-SoS, T-SoS and PA levels in 412 young. The results of this investigation showed a positive and significant association between time spent in VPA with T-SoS in boys, but not with R-SoS, that was mediated by speed at 20m and jointly mediated by HG and fat mass (%).

The speed at 20 m was identified as a mediator to the relationship between VPA and T-SoS, while the HG was identified as a mediator to the relationship between both bone outcomes by QUS.

For girls, PACER was the only mediator for the association between VPA and bone health (R-SoS and T-SoS) in girls. There is a need to develop more prospective investigations about the relationship between PA (type, volume and intensity), PF, potential confounders (e.g. maturity, hormonal status, body composition at the four compartments) and several outcomes of youth bone health, particularly in girls.

### **8.3 - PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE**

### DIRECTIONS

In this section, the practical findings derived from the studies were summarised to the real-world of young sport-performance and bone health in young athletes and non-athletes.

• Study 1 (chapter 4) provide reliability on a set PF test protocols from FITescola® online platform can be used to monitoring sports performance and health status, independently of level competition, sports background or type of population (athlete or non-athlete). These PF tests protocols permit a standardisation on the assessment of PF attributes in youth on ecologic context. Our new proposed allows FITescola ® battery to be used to assessing sports performance and health status in athletes and non-athletes.

• **Study 2 (chapter 5)** we observed that the PF tests from FITescola® battery could be used physical education teachers, coaches, and government bodies to better identify young athletes from schools or sports entities. Indeed, we observed that PF tests are simple, low cost and easily applied.

• Study 3 (chapter 6) we analysed the relationship between PF attributes with R-SoS and T-SoS for athletes and non-athletes in youth for both sexes. We observed that PF is an indicator for radius and tibia bone health in athletes and non-athletes in youth. We also highlighted the relevance of these results on the monitoring of bone health by physical education teachers and coaches in specific groups. However future research is still required to the agreement between methods of bone diagnosis in young ages for these specifics populations

• **Study 4 (chapter 7)** reinforced that the PF level is an important mediator on the relationship between high-intensity PA levels and bone health on the radius and tibia. Therefore, when designing programs that aim in improving bone health in youth, one must not only consider the intensity of PA, but also the type of exercise. This study showed that MF and speed play a crucial role as a mediating variable of bone health and thus, exercises that improve these attributes of PF should be considered.

## **8.4 - LIMITATIONS**

This PhD dissertation was composed of 4 investigations. Therefore, all investigations are not without some limitations that should be acknowledged. In investigation 1, we tested the reliability of a set of PF test protocols in young athletes aged 10-18 years-old. Even though the sample had the appropriate power for the analysis and was representative in number, it was not representatively distributed according to age and sport. This was due to the lack of information regarding this matter from sports federations at the national level. In investigation 2, the practical utility of the PF tests for identifying athletes was recognized. However, the sample was a heterogeneous distribution of sport backgrounds and competition levels, which may impact the power of discrimination for each PF test and respective cut-off values. Investigation 3 and investigation 4 were limited by their cross-sectional design in which causality cannot be assumed. Secondly, the use of ultrasound to assess bone health of the radius and tibia is limited as it is unable to distinguish between the different types of bone tissues and provide information on bone

geometry and strength. However, 3D-imaging techniques to measure bone at the radius and tibia, such as pQCT, are very expensive and there is limited reference databases using this technology for children during the growing years.

## **8.5 - STRENGTHS**

Despite the limitations cited previously, this dissertation also has some strengths. The major strength was the realiability of a PF battery from FITescola® program to assess sports performance and simultaneously to monitoring the bone health status in youth. This can be used in the school context, providing a platform for promoting sports participation and health in youth. Furthermore, all investigations were performed using a relatively large sample of Portuguese children/adolescence. Another strength included our use of QUS to assess bone, which is a non-invasive, fast, low-cost method without radiation that has been widely used to assess BMD status in adolescents. The main outcome of QUS, SoS, is highly correlated with BMD by DXA, reflecting a range of bone status characteristics, such an elasticity, structure, microstructure, and cortical thickness, all of which are essential characteristics predictive of overall bone strength. Finally, to our knowledge, this was the first investigation that examined how commonly used PF tests relate to QUS bone SoS in this population. Overall, this dissertation showed that it is possible to connect the school and sports systems, creating an ecosystem where healthy sports participation is promoted and monitored within and outside the school setting (Figure 8.1).



206

### **8.6 - CONCLUSIONS**

This dissertation adds relevant information to the literature related to sports performance and bone health in youth, while simultaneously generating essential questions for future investigation. From the methodological perspective, this dissertation reinforced the importance of assessing and monitoring sports performance and bone health in youth. From the investigations included in this dissertation, the following conclusions can be drawn: 1) PF levels are excellent indicators of sports performance and bone health; 2) The FITescola® battery test protocols provide a reliable and standardized way of PF assessment for sports performance and health in youth. Additionally, the PF tests may be applied for use in discriminating potential athletes from the general population by sex and age; 3) PF attributes are associated with R-SoS and T-SoS in youth, however the relative contribution of specific PF attributes on R-SoS and T-SoS depend on sex and athletic status. The strength and power levels appear to be the best indicators of bone health on the radius and tibia; 4) PF, specifically in the areas of muscular strength and power, mediate the relationship of VPA with R-SoS and T-SoS, and plays an essential role in bone health of the radius and tibia in youth, however this role of PF in bone health may only be applicable to boys. Figure 8.2 summarizes the main results of the investigations presented in this dissertation. More PF and bone health investigations in youth are necessary to confirm our findings, specifically longitudinal and interventional investigations, as well as investigations assessing the relationship between PA, PF and the biologic mechanisms of bone tissue in several regions.



Figure 8.2 - Main results of this dissertation

208

## **8.7 - REFERENCES**

- Armstrong, N., & McManus, A. M. (2010). Physiology of Elite Young Male Athletes. 56, 1-22. doi: 10.1159/000320618
- Artero, E. G., España-Romero, V., Castro-Piñero, J., Ortega, F. B., Suni, J., Castillo-Garzon,
  M. J., & Ruiz, J. R. (2010). Reliability of Field-Based Fitness Tests in Youth. *Int J* Sports Med, 32(03), 159-169. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1268488
- Bachrach, L. K., & Gordon, C. M. (2016). Bone Densitometry in Children and Adolescents. *Pediatrics*, 138(4), e20162398-e20162398. doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-2398
- Bailey, R. (2006). Physical Education and Sport in Schools: A Review of Benefits and Outcomes. Journal of School Health, 76(8), 397-401. doi: 10.1111/j.1746-1561.2006.00132.x
- Balyi, I., Way, R., and Higgs, C. (2013). *Long-Term Athlete Development*. Champaign, IL.: Human Kinetics.
- Baptista, F., Mil-Homens, P., Carita, A. I., Janz, K., & Sardinha, L. B. (2016). Peak Vertical Jump Power as a Marker of Bone Health in Children. *Int J Sports Med*, 37(8), 653-658. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-105290
- Bergeron, M. F., Mountjoy, M., Armstrong, N., Chia, M., Côté, J., Emery, C. A., . . . Engebretsen, L. (2015). International Olympic Committee consensus statement on youth athletic development. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 49(13), 843-851. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-094962
- Boullosa, D., Sterkowicz-Przybycień, K., Sterkowicz, S., Biskup, L., Żarów, R., Kryst, Ł., &
  Ozimek, M. (2019). Somatotype, body composition, and physical fitness in artistic gymnasts depending on age and preferred event. *Plos One, 14*(2), e0211533. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0211533

- Caine, D., Walch, T., & Sabato, T. (2016). The elite young athlete: strategies to ensure physical and emotional health. *Open Access Journal of Sports Medicine, Volume 7*, 99-113. doi: 10.2147/oajsm.s96821
- Chiwaridzo, M., Munambah, N., Oorschot, S., Magume, D., Dambi, J. M., Ferguson, G., & Smits-Engelsman, B. C. M. (2019). Coaches' perceptions on qualities defining good adolescent rugby players and are important for player recruitment in talent identification programs: the SCRuM project. *BMC Research Notes*, 12(1). doi: 10.1186/s13104-019-4170-y
- De Moor, M. H. M., Spector, T. D., Cherkas, L. F., Falchi, M., Hottenga, J. J., Boomsma, D. I., & De Geus, E. J. C. (2012). Genome-Wide Linkage Scan for Athlete Status in 700
  British Female DZ Twin Pairs. *Twin Research and Human Genetics*, *10*(6), 812-820. doi: 10.1375/twin.10.6.812
- Fraser-Thomas, J. L., Côté, J., & Deakin, J. (2005). Youth sport programs: an avenue to foster positive youth development. *Physical Education & Sport Pedagogy*, 10(1), 19-40. doi: 10.1080/1740898042000334890
- Garcia-Hermoso, A., Ramirez-Campillo, R., & Izquierdo, M. (2019). Is Muscular Fitness
  Associated with Future Health Benefits in Children and Adolescents? A Systematic
  Review and Meta-Analysis of Longitudinal Studies. *Sports Med*, 49(7), 1079-1094.
  doi: 10.1007/s40279-019-01098-6
- Gracia-Marco, L., Moreno, L. A., Ortega, F. B., Leon, F., Sioen, I., Kafatos, A., . . . Group, H.
  S. (2011). Levels of physical activity that predict optimal bone mass in adolescents: the HELENA study. *Am J Prev Med*, 40(6), 599-607. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2011.03.001
- Gracia-Marco, L., Vicente-Rodríguez, G., Casajús, J. A., Molnar, D., Castillo, M. J., & Moreno, L. A. (2011). Effect of fitness and physical activity on bone mass in adolescents: the HELENA Study. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 111(11), 2671-2680. doi: 10.1007/s00421-011-1897-0

- Grima, S., & Thalassinos, E. (2017). Theoretical Models for Sports Participation: Literature Review. 5, 94-116.
- Guthold, R., Stevens, G. A., Riley, L. M., & Bull, F. C. (2018). Worldwide trends in insufficient physical activity from 2001 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 358 populationbased surveys with 1.9 million participants. *The Lancet Global Health*, 6(10), e1077e1086. doi: 10.1016/s2214-109x(18)30357-7
- Haycraft, J. A. Z., Kovalchik, S., Pyne, D. B., & Robertson, S. (2017). Physical characteristics of players within the Australian Football League participation pathways: a systematic review. *Sports Medicine - Open*, 3(1). doi: 10.1186/s40798-017-0109-9
- Hoare, D. G. (2000). Predicting success in junior elite basketball players the contribution of anthropometic and physiological attributes. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 3(4), 391-405. doi: 10.1016/s1440-2440(00)80006-7
- Johnston, K., Wattie, N., Schorer, J., & Baker, J. (2017). Talent Identification in Sport: A Systematic Review. *Sports Medicine*, 48(1), 97-109. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0803-2
- Kramer, T., Huijgen, B. C., Elferink-Gemser, M. T., & Visscher, C. (2017). Prediction of Tennis Performance in Junior Elite Tennis Players. J Sports Sci Med, 16(1), 14-21.
- Lloyd, R. S., Oliver, J. L., Faigenbaum, A. D., Howard, R., De Ste Croix, M. B. A., Williams,
  C. A., . . . Myer, G. D. (2015). Long-Term Athletic Development- Part 1. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 29(5), 1439-1450. doi: 10.1519/jsc.00000000000756
- Maggioli, C., & Stagi, S. (2017). Bone modeling, remodeling, and skeletal health in children and adolescents: mineral accrual, assessment and treatment. *Ann Pediatr Endocrinol Metab*, 22(1), 1-5. doi: 10.6065/apem.2017.22.1.1
- Marques, A., Loureiro, N., Avelar-Rosa, B., Naia, A., & Matos, M. G. d. (2018). Adolescents' healthy lifestyle. *Jornal de Pediatria*. doi: 10.1016/j.jped.2018.09.002

- Mountjoy, M., Armstrong, N., Bizzini, L., Blimkie, C., Evans, J., Gerrard, D., . . . Van Mechelen, W. (2008). IOC consensus statement: "training the elite child athlete".
  British Journal of Sports Medicine, 42(3), 163-164. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2007.044016
- Murphy, M. H., Rowe, D. A., & Woods, C. B. (2016). Sports Participation in Youth as a Predictor of Physical Activity: A 5-Year Longitudinal Study. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 13(7), 704-711. doi: 10.1123/jpah.2015-0526
- National Research, C., Institute of Medicine Committee on Adolescent Health Care, S.,
  Models of Care for Treatment, P., & Healthy, D. (2009). In R. S. Lawrence, J.
  Appleton Gootman & L. J. Sim (Eds.), *Adolescent Health Services: Missing Opportunities*. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US) Copyright 2009 by
  the National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.
- Ortega, F. B., Ruiz, J. R., Castillo, M. J., & Sjostrom, M. (2008). Physical fitness in childhood and adolescence: a powerful marker of health. *Int J Obes (Lond), 32*(1), 1-11. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803774
- Pion, J., Segers, V., Fransen, J., Debuyck, G., Deprez, D., Haerens, L., . . . Lenoir, M. (2014). Generic anthropometric and performance characteristics among elite adolescent boys in nine different sports. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 15(5), 357-366. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2014.944875
- Ruiz, J. R., Castro-Pinero, J., Espana-Romero, V., Artero, E. G., Ortega, F. B., Cuenca, M. M., . . . Castillo, M. J. (2010). Field-based fitness assessment in young people: the ALPHA health-related fitness test battery for children and adolescents. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 45(6), 518-524. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2010.075341
- Schmidt, S. C. E., Tittlbach, S., Bös, K., & Woll, A. (2017). Different Types of Physical Activity and Fitness and Health in Adults: An 18-Year Longitudinal Study. *BioMed Research International*, 2017, 1-10. doi: 10.1155/2017/1785217
- Seabra, A. F., Mendonca, D. M., Thomis, M. A., Malina, R. M., & Maia, J. A. (2007). Sports participation among Portuguese youth 10 to 18 years. J Phys Act Health, 4(4), 370-380.
- Telford, R. M., Telford, R. D., Cochrane, T., Cunningham, R. B., Olive, L. S., & Davey, R. (2016). The influence of sport club participation on physical activity, fitness and body fat during childhood and adolescence: The LOOK Longitudinal Study. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 19*(5), 400-406. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2015.04.008
- Till, K., Cobley, S., O'Hara, J., Morley, D., Chapman, C., & Cooke, C. (2015). Retrospective analysis of anthropometric and fitness characteristics associated with long-term career progression in Rugby League. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 18(3), 310-314. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2014.05.003
- Tucker, R., & Collins, M. (2012). What makes champions? A review of the relative contribution of genes and training to sporting success. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 46(8), 555-561. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2011-090548
- WHO. (2010). WHO and the International Olympic Committee Sign Agreement to Improve Healthy Lifestyles., from

https://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2010/ioc\_20100721/en/

- WHO. (2015). Physical Activity strategy for the WHO European Region 2016-2025. Vilnus:
  World Helath Organization Retrieved from <a href="http://www.euro.who.int/data/assets/pdf">http://www.euro.who.int/data/assets/pdf</a> file/0010/282961/65wd09e PhysicalActi
  vityStrategy\_150474.pdf.
- Zymbal, V., Baptista, F., Letuchy, E. M., Janz, K. F., & Levy, S. M. (2019). Mediating Effect of Muscle on the Relationship of Physical Activity and Bone. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 51(1), 202-210. doi: 10.1249/mss.000000000001759